
 

Waverley Borough Council 

Council Offices, The Burys,  
Godalming, Surrey 
GU7 1HR 
www.waverley.gov.uk 
 

 

  

 
 

 
 
To: 

 
All Members of the LICENSING AND 

REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
(Other Members for Information) 
 

When calling please ask for:  

Kimberly Soane, Democratic Services Officer 

Policy and Governance   

E-mail: kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk  

Direct line: 01483 523258 

Calls may be recorded for training or monitoring 

Date: 29 October 2021 

 
Membership of the Licensing and Regulatory Committee 

 

Cllr Robert Knowles (Chairman) 
Cllr Michael Goodridge (Vice 
Chairman) 

Cllr Roger Blishen 
Cllr Martin D'Arcy 

Cllr Jerome Davidson 
Cllr Patricia Ellis 
 

Cllr Jerry Hyman 
Cllr Peter Isherwood 
Cllr Anna James 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 
Cllr Ruth Reed 

Cllr John Ward 
 

 
Substitutes 

Cllr Steve Cosser 
Cllr Jenny Else 
 

Cllr Joan Heagin 
Cllr Michaela Martin 
 

Members who are unable to attend this meeting must submit apologies by the end 
of Monday, 1 November 2021 to enable a substitute to be arranged. 

 
Dear Councillors 
 

A meeting of the LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE will be held as follows:  
 

DATE: MONDAY, 8 NOVEMBER 2021 

TIME: 10.00 AM 

PLACE: COUNCIL CHAMBER, COUNCIL OFFICES, THE BURYS, 

GODALMING 

 
The Agenda for the meeting is set out below. 

 
The meeting can be viewed remotely via the Council’s YouTube channel or 

www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast.  
 
Yours sincerely  

 
ROBIN TAYLOR 

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/webcast


 

 

Head of Policy and Governance 
 

Most of our publications can be provided in alternative formats.  For an audio 
version, large print, text only or a translated copy of this publication, please 

contact committees@waverley.gov.uk or call 01483 523351 
 

NOTE FOR MEMBERS 
 

Members are reminded that contact officers are shown at the end of each report and 

members are welcome to raise questions etc in advance of the meeting with the 
appropriate officer. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1.   MINUTES  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 To receive the minutes of the meeting held on 14 June and published on the 

Council’s website. 
 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS   
 

 To receive apologies for absence and to report any substitutions 

 
3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 
 To receive from members declarations of interest in relation to any items 

included on the agenda for this meeting, in accordance with the Waverley 

Code of Local Government Conduct. 
 

4.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC   
 

 The Chairman to respond to any questions received from members of the 

public in accordance with Procedure Rule 10.   
 

The deadline for submission of written questions for this meeting is Monday 1 
November 2021. 
 

5.   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS   
 

 The Chairman to respond to any questions received from Members in 
accordance with Procedure Rule 11.  
 

The deadline for submission of written questions for this meeting is Monday 1 
November 2021. 

 
6.   ACTION AUTHORISED   

 

 To receive any action taken by the Executive Director after consultation with 
the Chairman and Vice-Chairman since the last meeting. 

 
LICENSING ACT 2003 ITEMS 

mailto:committees@waverley.gov.uk


 

 

 
7.   LICENSING GENERAL PURPOSE  (Pages 9 - 18) 

 

 To note the minutes of the Licencing General Purpose Committee held on 14 
June 2021, 9 September 2021 and 6 October 2021. 

 
8.   LICENCING SUB GROUPS A, B, C  (Pages 19 - 30) 

 

 To note the minutes of the Licensing Sub Groups A, B &C 
 

A – 2 September 2021 
B – 1 June 2021 and 30 September 2021 
C – 13 September 2021 and 13 October 2021 

 
OTHER LICENSING ITEMS 

 
9.   REVIEW OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL'S POLICY FOR THE 

LICENSING OF SEX ESTABLISHMENTS- FEEDBACK FROM 

CONSULTATION  (Pages 31 - 122) 
 

 At the last meeting the Committee were asked to note the current 
Policy for the Licensing of Sex Establishments which was first 
introduced in 2012 and reviewed in January 2017. The Policy is 
reviewed every 5 years and was therefore proposed to once again go 
out for consultation. 
  
The Committee considered the document and made some suggested 
amendments. 
  
The Committee noted and ENDORSED the approach to carry out a 
consultation on the Policy for the Licensing of Sex Establishments 
with a proposal for a new Policy to be in place by January 2022 for a 
further 5 year period. 

 

This report is to report on the feedback received from the Consultation 
before going to Council on 14

th
 December. 

 
10.   REVIEW OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL'S STATEMENT OF 

GAMBLING POLICY - FEEDBACK FROM CONSULTATION  (Pages 123 - 

184) 
 

 At the last meeting the Committee were asked to note the current 
Statement of Gambling Policy, which was put in place in January 
2019. The Policy is reviewed every 3 years and was therefore 
proposed to once again go out for consultation. 
  
The Committee considered the document and made some suggested 
amendments. 



 

 

  
The Committee noted and ENDORSED the approach to carry out a 
consultation on the Statement of Gambling Policy with a proposal for a 
new Policy to be in place by January 2022 for a further 3 year period. 
 

This report is to report on the feedback received from the Consultation 
before going to Council on 14

th
 December. 

 
11.   EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC   

 

 To consider the following recommendation on the motion of the Chairman:- 
 

Recommendation 
 
That pursuant to Procedure Rule 20 and in accordance with Section 100B(5) of 

the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be excluded from the 
meeting during consideration of the following items on the grounds that it is 

likely, in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the 
proceedings, that if members of the public were present during the items, there 
would be disclosure to them of exempt information (as defined by Section 100l 

of the Act) of the description specified in the appropriate paragraph(s) of the 
revised Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act (to be identified, as necessary, at the 
meeting). 

 
12.   LEGAL ADVICE   

 
 To consider any legal advice relating to any items in the agenda. 

 
 

    
  For further information or assistance, please telephone  

Kimberly Soane, Democratic Services Officer, on 01483 523258 or by 
email at kimberly.soane@waverley.gov.uk 

 

    
 



Licensing and Regulatory Committee 1 

14.06.21 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE  -  14 JUNE 2021 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE COUNCIL MEETING – 6 JULY 2021 

 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 
 

Present 
 

Cllr Robert Knowles (Chairman) 

Cllr Michael Goodridge (Vice Chairman) 
Cllr Roger Blishen 

Cllr Martin D'Arcy 
Cllr Jerome Davidson 
 

Cllr Patricia Ellis 

Cllr Jerry Hyman 
Cllr Anna James 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 
Cllr Ruth Reed 
 

Cllr Steve Cosser (Substitute) 
 

Cllr John Ward (Substitute) 
 

Apologies  

Cllr Peter Isherwood and Cllr Michaela Martin 
 

Also Present 

 

 
LIC42/20  MINUTES (Agenda item 1.) 

 

The minutes of th meeting held on 1st March 202, and published on the council’s 
website, were agreed as a correct record. 

 
LIC43/20  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS (Agenda item 2.) 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted by Cllr Peter Isherwood and Cllr Michaela 
Martin had stepped down from the Committee due to other commitments. 

 
Cllrs Steve Cosser and John Ward attended as substitutes. 
 

LIC44/20  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda item 3.) 
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted for this meeting. 
 

LIC45/20  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC (Agenda item 4.) 

 
No questions had been submitted by members of the public for this meeting. 

 
LIC46/20  QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS (Agenda item 5.) 

 

No questions had been submitted by members for this meeting. 
 

LIC47/20  APPOINTMENT OF THE LICENSING ACT 2003 SUB-COMMITTEES FOR 
2021/22 (Agenda item 6.) 

 

The Committee agreed the memberships for the three Licensing Act 2003 Sub-
committees as: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1.



Licensing and Regulatory Committee 2 

14.06.21 

 
 

 
Sub-Committee A: 

Cllr Jerome Davidson 
Cllr Patricia Ellis 
Cllr John Ward 

 
Sub-Committee B: 

 Cllr Michael Goodridge 
 Cllr Roger Blishen 
 Cllr Anna James 

 
Sub-Committee C: 

 Cllr Robert Knowles 
Cllr Ruth Reed 
Cllr Martin D’Arcy 

 
LIC48/20  APPOINTMENT OF LICENSING (GENERAL PURPOSES) SUB-COMMITTEE FOR 

2021/22 (Agenda item 7.) 
 

The Committee approved the membership of the licensing (General Purpose) Sub 

Committee as: 
 

Cllr Robert Knowles 
Cllr Martin D’Arcy 
Cllr Peter Isherwood 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 
Cllr Ruth Reed 

Cllr Jerome Davidson (Sub) 
Cllr Michael Goodridge (Sub) 
Cllr John Ward (Sub) 

 
LIC49/20  REVIEW OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL'S POLICY FOR THE LICENSING 

OF SEX ESTABLISHMENTS - CONSULTATION (Agenda item 8.) 
 

The Committee were asked to note the current Policy for the Licensing of Sex 

Establishments which was first introduced in 2012 and reviewed in January 2017. 
The Policy is reviewed every 5 years and was therefore proposed to once again go 

out for consultation. 
 
The Committee considered the document and made some suggested amendments. 

 
The Committee noted and ENDORSED the approach to carry out a consultation on 

the Policy for the Licensing of Sex Establishments with a proposal for a new Policy 
to be in place by January 2022 for a further 5 year period.  
 

LIC50/20  REVIEW OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL'S STATEMENT OF GAMBLING 
POLICY - CONSULTATION (Agenda item 9.) 

 
The Committee were asked to note the current Statement of Gambling Policy, 
which was put in place in January 2019. The Policy is reviewed every 3 years and 

was therefore proposed to once again go out for consultation. 
 

Page 6



Licensing and Regulatory Committee 3 

14.06.21 
 

The Committee considered the document and made some suggested amendments. 

 
The Committee noted and ENDORSED the approach to carry out a consultation on 

the Statement of Gambling Policy with a proposal for a new Policy to be in place by 
January 2022 for a further 3 year period.  
 

 
The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 10.20 am 

 

 
 
 

Chairman 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 1 

14.06.21 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING (GENERAL PURPOSES) SUB-COMMITTEE  -  14 JUNE 

2021 
 

SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING – 13 

SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 
 

Present 

 

Cllr Robert Knowles (Chairman) 

Cllr Martin D'Arcy 
 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 

Cllr Ruth Reed 
 

Cllr Michael Goodridge (Substitute) 

 

 

 
Apologies  

Cllr Peter Isherwood 
 
 

 
79.  CONFIRMATION OF CHAIRMAN FOR THE 2021-22 MUNICIPAL YEAR (Agenda 

item 1.)   
 

Councillor Robert Knowles was agreed as the Chairman of the Licensing (General 

Purpose) Sub Committee for 2021-2022. 
 

80.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS (Agenda item 2.)   
 

Councillor Peter Isherwood submitted apologies for the meeting and Cllr Michael 

Goodridge attended as substitute. 
 

81.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda item 3.)   
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted for this meeting. 

 
82.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE/PRIVATE HIRE LICENCE (Agenda item 4.)   

 
The Sub-Committee considered a report regarding a review of a Hackney Carriage/ Private 
Hire Vehicle License. The applicant was in attendance and clarified the circumstances laid 
out in the report which the Committee had been asked to consider.  
 
The Sub-Committee considered the report and evidence provided as well as taking into 
account the applicants verbal representation. The Council’s licensing solicitor had been 
asked to advise the Sub-Committee during their deliberations on the wording of their 
decision.  

 
RESOLVED that the driver: 

 would be given 10 points on his Waverley Driving licence with a warning that 

should he accrue any more points he would be back in front of the 

Committee and would most likely lose his licence. 

 be strongly advised to keep records of all pre-bookings in the future. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 7.



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 2 

14.06.21 

 
 

 Be ordered to carry out refresher training with Waverley officers on the 
processes to be carried out for pre-bookings and collecting clients (especially 

at airports). 
 

83.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (Agenda item 5.)   
 

Legal advice was sought during deliberations. 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 10.30 am and concluded at 11.26 am 
 

 

 
 

Chairman 

 

Page 10



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 1 

09.09.21 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING (GENERAL PURPOSES) SUB-COMMITTEE  -  9 

SEPTEMBER 2021 
 

SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING - 

<DATE> 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 
 

Present 

 

Cllr Robert Knowles (Chairman) 

Cllr Martin D'Arcy 
 

Cllr Ruth Reed 

 

Cllr Jerome Davidson (Substitute) 

 

Cllr Michael Goodridge 

(Substitute) 
 

Apologies  

Cllr Peter Isherwood 
 

Also Present 

 

 
84.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS (Agenda item 1.)   

 

Cllr Peter Isherwood had given apologies and Cllr Jerome Davidson was attending 
in his absence. 

 
An administrative error had meant Cllr Maxine Gale was listed on the agenda as a 
committee member but this was incorrect and Cllr Michael Goodridge should have 

been listed instead. 
 

85.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda item 2.)   
 

There were no declarations of interest for this meeting. 

 
86.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (Agenda item 3.)   

 
Pursuant to Procedure Rule 20 and in accordance with Section 100A(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, the press and public were excluded from the meeting during 

consideration of the following items on the grounds that it is likely, in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if 

members of the public were present during the items, there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt information (as defined by Section 100I of the Act) of the 
description specified in paragraph 1 of the revised Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Act 

in respect of the following item: 
 

Information relating to any individual (paragraph 1) 
 

87.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER'S LICENCE FOLLOWING EXCESS 

SPEED ALLEGATION (Agenda item 4.)   
 

Page 11

ANNEXE 1



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 2 

09.09.21 

 
 

The Committee considered the report, and at the hearing viewed the recording of 
the incident provided by Surrey Police Officer and the driver. 

 
The driver had been provided with a copy of the recording in advance of the hearing 

which he had collected from the Council offices, and which was shown to the 
Committee at the start of the hearing. 
 

The Committee felt that the recording from the unmarked Police vehicle showed 
that he was travelling at speed in excess of the legal limit, and the Officer’s 

evidence was accepted in that it could not be determined exactly what speed his 
vehicle was travelling at.  
 

The Committee noted that the Officer present had 21 years of service in policing 
and when questioned, explained that speedometers are generally thought to have a 

10 % degree of accuracy. The Officer also provided calculations for the equivalent 
speeds in miles per hour (from that in kilometres per hour which was shown on the 
recording). 

 
The Committee noted the driver’s explanation to the Officer and to the Committee 

was that he had no intention to travel at excess speed and was surprised that he 
had been stopped by the Officer. During the Committee hearing he reiterated his 
belief that he had been travelling at only 70 miles per hour and suggested that his 

car would not be able to travel at speeds alleged by the Officer, as there were 
mechanical issues, and he had been delayed in his attendance by vehicle 

problems. The driver also indicated that he determines the speed in which he is 
travelling by looking at road signs, and making use of the cruise control – and was 
adamant when questioned that he was only travelling at 70 miles per hour on the 

relevant date.  
 

It was noted from the evidence of the Officer that he did not have a passenger in 
the vehicle at the time and when spoken to by the Officer, and within the police 
statement at the time of the incident he cooperated fully and appeared to express 

remorse for his actions, which clearly conflicted with the evidence which he 
provided to the Committee. 

 
The Committee took account of the fact that the driver had no complaints recorded 
against him in so far as the Licensing service is aware, but was very concerned, as 

was the evidence of the Police Officer, that he did not recognise that he was 
travelling at significant speed, in the region of 100 miles per hour.  

 
In addition, the Licensing Officer confirmed that he had a clean DVLA driving 
licence with no penalty points recorded, and this appeared to be an isolated 

incident.  
 

The Committee felt that the Police Officer was a credible witness and took account 
of their extensive professional experience and this together with the recording from 
the Police vehicle made it very clear to the Committee that The driver was travelling 

at excess speed and estimated at in the region of 100 miles per hour in an area 
where 70 miles per hour was the legal limit, which was of great concern. In line with 

Waverley’s statement of policy, the Committee noted that the driver had initially 
accepted responsibility but stated when questioned, and at the hearing that he did 
not believe that he was travelling outside the speed limit. As a result, the Committee 

Page 12



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 3 

09.09.21 
 

felt that he had not been taking his professional responsibility as a licensed driver 

seriously, and represented a significant risk to other members of the travelling 
public which was an aggravating feature of the incident.   

 
The Committee felt that given the seriousness of the incident, it was appropriate to 
impose a three month suspension of his Waverley taxi licence as sanction, and 

determined that this should have immediate effect and was necessary in the 
interests of public safety.  

 
This meant that he will not be able to drive a licensed vehicle for hire or reward until 
9 December 2021. The Committee considered whether it may be possible to 

impose a lesser sanction, but in light of the clear evidence from the Police and his 
position, and the seriousness of the incident, the Committee felt that other sanctions 

would not be appropriate in the circumstances of the case and suspension was just 
and appropriate.  
 

The Committee felt that suspension rather than revocation of his licence would be 
an appropriate sanction and necessary to protect the public – to ensure that a good 

safe and reliable service can be provided to the public by its licensed drivers. In 
addition, he was awarded 6 penalty points under the Waverley driving penalty point 
scheme, which will remain on his Waverley licence for a period of three years. 

 
The driver immediately provided his Waverley taxi licence identification badge to the 

Licensing officer as soon as the decision was announced. 
 
 

88.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER'S LICENCE FOLLOWING 
ALLEGATION OF DRIVING IN A MANNER CONTRARY TO THE ROAD TRAFFIC 

ACT- USING A MOBILE PHONE WHILST DRIVING (Agenda item 5.)   
 

This hearing was postponed until the 6th October as the driver was unaware of the 

hearing. 
 

89.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER'S LICENCE FOLLOWING SERVICE 
OF A DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION NOTICE (DVPN) AND IMPOSITION 
OF A DOMESTIC VIOLENCE PROTECTION ORDER (DVPO) (Agenda item 6.)   

 
The Committee considered the report, and at the hearing heard further from the 

driver. He explained that his wife had hoped to attend in support, but this had not 
been possible due to domestic events and were content to proceed. 
 

In relation to the Domestic Violence Protection Notice and the connected domestic 
violence protection order (DVPO), the Licensing Manager had been able to make 

enquiries with the Police to indicate that no further action had been taken in relation 
to the initial matter which came to police attention. 
 

The driver denied assaulting his wife as alleged and the Committee accepted that 
he had cooperated with the Police in relation to the process of the DVPN and 

attended Court and did not contest the DVPO order being made, and did not have 
legal advice at Court. The driver explained the difficult family circumstances 
including in relation to his wife’s health and the impact of this upon his family and 

the relationship, and that it had been a difficult time as a result for a number of 
months.  

Page 13



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 4 

09.09.21 

 
 

 
During the Committee hearing, the driver outlined that he had been contacted by 

the Police and his wife whilst the DVPO was in place but that he had abided by the 
order and complied with this throughout, staying initially at a hotel and then later 
with friends until the order expired.  

 
He also explained that he had recently acquired a British passport and was a dual 

passport holder, and this had been impacted by covid-19 and felt demonstrated his 
good character – and presented this to the Licensing Officer by way of evidence in 
support of his position. 

 
The Committee considered carefully his record of complaints made and questioned 

him about this during the hearing and he was candid during the hearing indicating 
that he had disagreements with other drivers but had discussed and resolved those. 
The Committee felt that overall he was a credible and open witness and noted his 

explanations. 
 

The Licensing Officer confirmed that he had a clean DVLA driving licence with no 
penalty points recorded, and although there was some concern about the number of 
complaints recorded against him, it was noted that he had not received any 

Waverley penalty points since his licence as originally granted in 2015.  The driver 
also apologised to the Committee for taking up time and indicated that he took his 

role seriously and hoped not to appear before the Committee again in future.  
 
The Committee noted the position and the challenging circumstances which he and 

his family had encountered and his explanation of events and felt sympathy for the 
situation but decided it was not appropriate to take any action in relation to the fact 

that you had received a DVPN and DVPO. In the circumstances the Committee was 
satisfied that he remain a ‘fit and proper’ or safe and suitable person to hold a 
Waverley taxi driver licence.  The Committee took the opportunity to remind him to 

consider his position carefully in light of the background of complaints brought to 
their attention and his future conduct. 

 
90.  LEGAL ADVICE (Agenda item 7.)  

 

 
The meeting commenced at 2.00 pm and concluded at 4.29 pm 

 

 
 
 

Chairman 

 

Page 14



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 1 

06.10.21 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING (GENERAL PURPOSES) SUB-COMMITTEE  -  6 

OCTOBER 2021 
 

SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING - 

<DATE> 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 
 

Present 

 

Cllr Robert Knowles (Chairman) 

Cllr Martin D'Arcy 
 

Cllr Ruth Reed 

 

Cllr Jerome Davidson (Substitute) 

 

  

 
Apologies  

Cllr Michael Goodridge and Cllr Peter Isherwood 
 

 

91.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS (Agenda item 1.)   
 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Michael Goodridge and Peter 
Isherwood.  Cllr Jerome Davidson attended as substitute. 
 

92.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Agenda item 2.)   
 

There were no declarations of interest submitted for this meeting. 
 

93.  EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC (Agenda item 3.)  

 
94.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER'S LICENCE (DEFERRED FROM 9 

SEPTEMBER 2021) (Agenda item 4.)   
 

The Committee considered the report, and at the hearing heard further from the 

driver.  
 

In relation to the use of a mobile telephone whilst driving, the Committee noted the 
background to the events and the drivers explanation and mitigation.   
 

The driver accepted use of the mobile telephone (by texting) but felt that the vehicle 
would have been stationary, and due to the code of conduct in place would have 

been unable to pull over to deal with matters in front of the passengers or to speak 
in another language in their presence. It was noted that the driver had cooperated 
with Licensing Officers when spoken to in relation to the matter and again when 

they appeared before the Committee expressing remorse, and had not been given 
training about what to do in an emergency situation – and that you only otherwise 

had taken voicecalls on rare occasions by handsfree device when contacted by 
your operator.  
 

They explained the impact that the Surrey County Council decision has had on their 
finances and family circumstances, and were advised this was not a matter which 

Page 15

ANNEXE 2



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 2 

06.10.21 

 
 

the Committee was entitled to take into account in reaching their decision. During 
the committee hearing, the driver was clear in their understanding and acceptance 

that they had broken the law, and failed to comply with the standards expected of a 
licensed driver.  
 

The Committee considered carefully the drivers record of complaints made and 
noted (as indicated by the Licensing Officer) that their DVLA record and Waverley 

penalty points records were clear, and that this appeared to be an isolated incident. 
Rather than a pattern of conduct.  
 

The Committee recognised the particularly serious nature of the matter (in their 
view texting being especially dangerous and a significant distraction) and that this 

occurred whilst transporting children to school. 
 
In line with Waverley’s policy, reference was made to the fact that more serious 

driving offences such as careless driving will give doubts to an individual’s suitability 
to be a licensed driving professional. The Committee did not consider that the driver 

had demonstrated the behaviours of a safe road user – and this could have 
impacted upon the passengers, and other road users.  
 

The Committee expressed particular concern about the use of text rather than 
hands free voicecall, but understood and accepted the explanation and mitigating 

family circumstances and was grateful for the open and honest approach 
throughout. 
 

The Committee felt that on balance they could be considered as a fit and proper 
person. However, confirmed that members of the public expect to have confidence 

in the safety and suitability of their driver  and considered a lesser option but felt 
that in light of the serious nature of the incident, the driver should be awarded 12 
Waverley penalty points and be subject to a period of suspension of three months, 

which is effective immediately on the grounds of public safety. The driver was asked 
to note that driving a licensed vehicle whilst unlicensed is an offence.  

 
95.  REVIEW OF HACKNEY CARRIAGE DRIVER'S LICENCE (Agenda item 5.)   

 

The Committee considered the report and supporting documents, including the 
detailed letter and at the hearing heard further from the driver.  
 
In relation to the matters of driving for hire and reward in an unlicensed vehicle 
without a valid licence, the Committee noted the background to events and the 

drivers explanation and personal circumstances including mitigation in full. In 
addition, reference was made to the position regarding an Operator Licence and 

that the driver had regularised this before the Committee meeting, by accepting 
advice from the Licensing Manager and submitting a relevant application.  
 

The Committee heard how the impact that Covid-19 and the resulting restrictions 
has had on their business situation and the impact of this with regards to their 

health, namely that they remain under the care of a GP in relation to anxiety and 
depression. In the interview with Licensing Officers, it was noted that they had not 
cooperated fully but accepted responsibility and very shortly thereafter sent a 

lengthy letter expressing remorse and setting out the position. During the committee 

Page 16



Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee 3 

06.10.21 
 

hearing, the driver was very open in their understanding and acceptance that they 

had failed to comply with the standards expected of a licensed driver.  
 

The Committee considered carefully their good record overall and noted (as 
indicated by the Licensing Officer) that their DVLA record and Waverley penalty 
points records were clear  to date. It was accepted that the journeys appeared to be 

out of character and a misjudgement at a time when the driver was subject to 
significant financial and other issues. The Committee commended him for his 

honest and open approach, particularly when discussing sensitive health matters. 
 
The Committee considered thecase on its own merits, and in line with the policy 

noted that in exceptional circumstances it was possible to depart from the policy. 
However, the overriding objective was to ensure that drivers are fit and proper 

individuals and who do not represent a risk to members of the travelling public. 
 
In line with Waverley’s policy, reference was made to the fact that regulatory 

offences will give doubts to an individual’s suitability to be a licensed driving 
professional. The Committee however recognised that they understood fully the 

possible impacts of their conduct and this could have impacted upon their 
passengers, and other road users.  
 

The Committee expressed concern that he had disregarded the policy and 
procedures but accepted his apology, explanation and mitigating circumstances and 

was grateful for his open and honest approach throughout. The Committee noted 
the small number of journeys (four) mentioned and felt able to take account of 
exceptional circumstances including covid-19 and those set out in the letter of 

mitigation to depart from the guidance at page 59 paragraph 6.12 of the policy 
regarding ‘licensing and other regulatory offences’. 

 
The Committee felt that he could be considered as a ’fit and proper’ person and 
agreed that it was appropriate and proportionate taking into account his cooperation 

and mitigation, to award 12 Waverley penalty points.  
 

 
The meeting commenced at Time Not Specified and concluded at Time Not 
Specified 

 

 

 
 

Chairman 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing Sub-Committee A 1 

02.09.21 
 

 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE A  -  2 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING – 8 

NOVEMBER 2021 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 

 
Present 

 

Cllr Jerome Davidson 
Cllr Patricia Ellis 

 

Cllr John Ward 
 

 
 

42.  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (Agenda item 1.)   
 

Cllr Jerome Davidson was elected as chairman for the purpose of this meeting. 
 

43.  DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS (Agenda item 2.)   

 
There were no disclosure of interests submitted for this application. 

 
44.  LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE- 

HAMILTON'S TEA HOUSE, 17 DOWNING STREET, FARNHAM,SURREY GU9 

7PB. (Agenda item 3.)   
 

The Licensing officer outlined the application for a new premises licence and 
advised that one relevant representation had been received from ‘other persons’.. 
 

The Sub-Committee carefully considered the application taking into account the 
representation received, statutory guidance and the Council’s Statement of 

Licensing Policy August 2018 to July 2023. 
 
The Committee noted the papers submitted and comments made by the objector 

who was understood to live in the general neighbourhood of the premises, as well 
as the applicant and responsible authorities.  

 
The Sub-Committee APPROVED  the application as they felt the objections 

submitted were speculative and that the application proposed would not interfere 

with the licensing objectives. 
 

45.  LEGAL ADVICE (Agenda item 4.)  
 
 
The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 10.44 am 
 

 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8.



Licensing Sub-Committee A 2 

02.09.21 

 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 20



Licensing Sub-Committee B 1 

01.06.21 
 

 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE B  -  1 JUNE 2021 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING – 14 

JUNE 2021 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 

 
Present 

 

Cllr Roger Blishen 
Cllr Robert Knowles 

 

Cllr Ruth Reed 
 

 
 

28.  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (Agenda item 1.)   
 

Cllr Robert Knowles was nominated and agreed to act as Chairman for this 
meeting. 
 

29.  STREET TRADING CONSENT ON THREE SITES - VAPORETTO (Agenda item 
2.)   

 
The Committee agreed to consider all three applications together and then retire to 
make their decision. 

 
The applicant attended the meeting in person and gave the Committee a 

background to his business and an explanation around the issues that have been 
raised by the objectors and the measures he has put in place to address them. 
 

The Committee then questioned the applicant about the issues raised and actions 
carried out, the objectors attending via Zoom were then asked to make their case 

and Elizabeth Bance, Environmental Health Officer was asked to make comment. 
 
The applicant was invited to give a closing statement and the Committee retired to 

consider their decision at 11.06 am. 
 

The Committee returned to deliver their decisions on the three applications at 11.39 
am. 
 

29.1   LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A STREET TRADING CONSENT - 
MILFORD HEATH ROAD, MILFORD  (Agenda item 2.1)  
 
The Committee agreed to GRANT the application for a Street Trading Consent 

subject to the 20 x Standard Consent Conditions set out in Annexe B of the agenda 

item, the Pool of Conditions set out in Annexe C and the addition of 2 appendices to 
condition 11: 

 

 That adequate signage be displayed advising customers to take their litter 
home or to dispose of it in the receptacle provided. 

 

Page 21

ANNEXE 1



Licensing Sub-Committee B 2 

01.06.21 

 
 
 

 

 That if it is not possible for the applicant to remove and properly dispose of 
all waste at the end of each day’s trading that arrangements must be made 

with the appropriate local authority for collection of said waste and the 
appropriate fee paid. 

 

29.2   LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A STREET TRADING CONSENT - 
CHERRY TREE ROAD, MILFORD  (Agenda item 2.2)  
 
The Committee REFUSED the application on grounds of public nuisance, 

objections raised and issues that had been previously encountered with inadequate 

parking provision and access for the refuse vehicles and emergency vehicles.  This 
is in accordance with section 2.3 (2.3.1 to 2.3.3) of the Street Trading Policy April 

2021 which states: 
 
2.3 In considering any application for the grant or renewal of a street trading 

consent the following issues will be taken into account before determination: 
 

2.3.1 Public order 
 
 Whether the street trading activity or activities represented, or are likely to 

represent, a substantial risk to public order. 
 

2.3.2 Public nuisance 
 
Whether the street trading activity or activities represent, or are likely to 

represent, a substantial risk of nuisance to the public from noise or 
misbehaviour. Particular regard to this will be had in respect of consents in 

predominantly residential areas and due regard will be had to the character 
of the neighbourhood. 

 

2.3.3. Public safety 
 

Whether the location of the street trading activity or activities represent, or 
are likely to represent, a substantial risk to the public from the point of view of 
obstruction, fire hazards, unhygienic conditions, danger that may occur when 

a trader is accessing the site, and overcrowding the site/area. 
Overcrowding includes the capacity of the street trading area having the 

potential maximum attendance on the site by the public, and the consequent 
risk of over congestion impacting adjacent roads to the site.  

 

 
 

29.3   LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A STREET TRADING CONSENT - 
THE STREET, FRENSHAM  (Agenda item 2.3)  
 

The Committee REFUSED the application for a street trading consent on the 

grounds of environmental impact on the ANOB, the restricted parking provision and 

effect to adjoining highway as evidenced by the Parish Council whilst the applicant 
has been trading there.  This is in accordance with section 2.3 (2.3.3) of the Street 
Trading Policy April 2021 which states: 

Page 22



Licensing Sub-Committee B 3 

01.06.21 
 

 

 

2.3 In considering any application for the grant or renewal of a street trading 
consent the following issues will be taken into account before determination: 

 
2.3.3. Public safety 
 

Whether the location of the street trading activity or activities represent, or 
are likely to represent, a substantial risk to the public from the point of view of 

obstruction, fire hazards, unhygienic conditions, danger that may occur when 
a trader is accessing the site, and overcrowding the site/area. 
Overcrowding includes the capacity of the street trading area having the 

potential maximum attendance on the site by the public, and the consequent 
risk of over congestion impacting adjacent roads to the site.  

 
 
 

 
30.  LEGAL ADVICE (Agenda item 3.)   

 
The Committee considered all legal advice relating to the applications in the 
agenda. 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.44 am 
 

 

 
 

Chairman 

 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing Sub-Committee B 1 

30.09.21 
 

 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE B  -  30 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING – 8 

NOVEMBER 2021 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 

 
Present 

 

Cllr Michael Goodridge 
Cllr Roger Blishen 

 

Cllr Anna James 
 

Also Present 

 

Holly Appleton, Environmental Health Officer 
Gillian Carson -Jones, Litigation, Licensing and Regulatory Lawyer 

  
 

31.  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (Agenda item 1.)   

 
Cllr Michael Goodridge was elected Chairman for the purposes of this meeting. 

 
32.  TO AGREE THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING ON 1 JUNE 2021 (Agenda item 2.)   

 

The minutes of the 1 June were agreed as a correct record. 
 

33.  LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A STREET TRADING LICENCE - 
MAMMA LOURDES PIZZA VAN, RECREATION GROUND CAR PARK, 
COXCOMBE LANE, CHIDDINGFOLD (Agenda item 3.)   

 
The Committee considered carefully the street trading policy, committee report, 

application form together with supporting evidence and the objection received. In 
addition, the Committee noted the additional comments and helpful information 
provided by the applicant at the hearing. 
 
With regards to the concern raised by a local resident in regards to possible noise, 

smell, traffic and footfall, availability of existing outlets and concerns that this was 
not in keeping with the village, the Committee made reference to the street trading 
policy considerations. It was noted that a single objection had been received, and 

that there had been other comments of general support and no issues raised by 
other consultees as required by the policy. 

 
The Committee was satisfied that the applicant had understood the standard 
consent conditions (including in relation to litter) and found no evidence of a 

substantial risk of nuisance. Further the Committee noted the nature of the parking 
area (recreational ground car park) and that the closest resident did not object to 

the application which had been made. With regards to the need of the area, it was 
noted that the established food businesses in the locality did not offer pizza whether 
as a dine in option or takeaway and as such this was a novel food offering for 

residents. The Committee also noted that the application to trade for consent was 

Page 25

ANNEXE 2



Licensing Sub-Committee B 2 

30.09.21 

 
 
 

 

limited to once a week on Wednesday between the hours of 1600 and 2000 hours 
and considered that the application as made would have minimal effect upon the 

public. 
 
The Committee therefore agreed to GRANT street trading consent for a period of a 

year with standard conditions (as applied for) and felt that no further conditions 
were necessary or proportionate in the circumstances.  

 
34.  LEGAL ADVICE (Agenda item 4.)   

 

The committee considered any legal advice relating to this application. 
 

 
The meeting commenced at Time Not Specified and concluded at Time Not 
Specified 

 

 
 
 

Chairman 

 
 

Page 26



Licensing Sub-Committee C 1 

13.09.21 
 

 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
MINUTES OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE C  -  13 SEPTEMBER 2021 

 
SUBMITTED TO THE LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE MEETING - 

<DATE> 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 

 
Present 

 

Cllr Robert Knowles 
Cllr Martin D'Arcy 

 

Cllr Jacquie Keen 
 

Apologies  

Cllr Ruth Reed 

 
Also Present 

 
 

1.  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (Agenda item 1.)   

 
Cllr Robert Knowles was elected Chairman for the purpose of this meeting.  

 
2.  LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A VARIATION OF PREMISES 

LICENCE - THE HOP BLOSSOM, LONG GARDEN WALK, FARNHAM, SURREY 

GU9 7HX (Agenda item 2.)   
 

The Committee considered carefully the papers, representations received and 
comments made during the hearing as well as the Statement of Licensing Policy in 
relation to the proposed variation.  
 
During the hearing, guidance was sought from the Licensing Manager about the 

suitability of the proposed variation with regards to enforcement of the condition 
suggested. It was noted that the applicant had no objection to their application 
being considered in light of his comments for the purposes of clarification and future 

enforceability. This being the suggestion that no drinks could be taken 
outside/drinking should be allowed after a certain designated time, rather than 

mention as in the current conditions to a time limit after which drinks could not be 
taken outside as well as a distinct time after which no drinks could be consumed 
outside. 

 
The Committee noted in particular that no representations had been received from 

members of the public including nearby residents, or environmental health with 
regards to possible noise nuisance concerns. In addition, the Committee heard of 
the steps and arrangements already in place at the establishment, including signs 

reminding customers to act in a neighbourly and considerate way, the incident log 
which was completed on a daily basis and presented to the Committee, and the fact 

that nearby residents have the contact details of the DPS. The Committee also took 
account of the style and characteristics of the premises in their deliberations. 
Members also noted in particular the nature and size of the limited seating area 

Page 27

ANNEXE 3



Licensing Sub-Committee C 2 

13.09.21 

 
 
 

 

outside – and the fact that this area was covered by cctv which could also be used 
to monitor activities at the establishment.  

 
Consideration was given to the representations received on the basis of potential 
issues relating to public nuisance (noise) , however, it was felt that those reflected 

concerns rather than evidence of any particular issues which needed to be 
addressed and or which engaged the licensing objectives.  

 
In those circumstances, the Committee felt that that no further steps or conditions 
were necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives and the application was 

granted to allow a variation to condition 1 in the amended terms sought so that this 
now reflects  

 
No glasses or bottles shall be taken outside of the premises after 2200 hours and 
the DPS or a suitably trained member of staff shall ensure that no one is drinking 

outside after this time.  
 

3.  LEGAL ADVICE (Agenda item 3.)  

 
 
The meeting commenced at 12.00 pm and concluded at 12.21 pm 
 

 

 
 

Chairman 

 
 

Page 28



Licensing Sub-Committee C 

13.10.21 

 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE C  -  13 OCTOBER 2021 
 

(To be read in conjunction with the Agenda for the Meeting) 

 
Present 

 

Cllr Ruth Reed 
Cllr Martin D'Arcy 

 

Cllr Michael Goodridge 
 

Apologies  

  
Cllr Robert Knowles 

 

 
4.  ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN (Agenda item 1.)   

 
Cllr Michael Goodridge was elected Chairman for the purpose of the meeting. 
 

5.  LICENSING ACT 2003 - APPLICATION FOR A NEW PREMISES LICENCE - 
KILNSIDE FARM SHOP, KILNSIDE FARM, MOOR PARK LANE, FARNHAM, 

SURREY, GU10 1NS (Agenda item 2.)   
 

The Committee considered carefully the papers, representations received and 

comments made during the hearing as well as the Licensing Act 2003 and the 
Statement of Licensing Policy in relation to the new application.  
 
The Committee was not able to consider matters of planning and or property. 
 

The Committee heard from the applicant who outlined arrangements in relation to 
storage of alcohol and that there was cctv at the site. The scale of the operations at 

the site were also set out and as in the application the establishment did not intend 
to open for the off-sale of alcohol outside the existing hours when meat and other 
farm grown products were made available. It was noted that parking was to be 

made available at the site within the courtyard area. 
 

The Committee noted in particular that no representations had been received from 
responsible authorities, and that products were already available at the premises by 
appointment.   

 
Consideration was given to the representations received on the basis of potential 

issues relating to public nuisance and safety. This included concerns regarding 
potential noise, increase in traffic and concerns of incremental activities. However, it 
was felt that those reflected concerns rather than firm evidence of any particular 

issues which needed to be addressed and or which engaged the licensing 
objectives.  

 
In those circumstances, the Committee felt that that no further steps or conditions 
were necessary in order to promote the licensing objectives and the application was 

granted for off sales between the hours of 10 and 6pm daily. 

Page 29

ANNEXE 4



Licensing Sub-Committee C 

13.10.21 

 
 

 
 
The meeting commenced at 10.00 am and concluded at 11.20 am 
 

 

 
 

Chairman 

 
 

Page 30



Waverley Borough Council 

 
LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE  

 
08 NOVEMBER 2021 

 

___________________________________________________________________ 
Title: 

 

PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON REVIEW OF THE COUNCIL’S POLICY FOR  
THE LICENSING OF SEXUAL ENTERTAINMENT VENUES 

[Wards Affected: All] 

 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Nick Palmer, Portfolio Holder for Operational & 

Enforcement 

 
Head of Service: Richard Homewood 

Head of Environmental & Regulatory Services 
 
Key decision: No 

Access:  Public 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 

 
1.0 Purpose and Summary: 

 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to consider the outcome of the consultation on 

the draft Policy for the Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues for 

Waverley, against which applications for licences under Schedule 3 of the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by 

section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 and recommend the revised 
Policy for the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues to the Council at its 
meeting on 14 December 2021 to approve.  

 

 

 
2.0 Introduction 

 
2.1. Sex Establishment premises are regulated and licensed under Schedule 3 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, as amended by 
section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009. 

 
2.2 The current policy was adopted on 21 February 2012 and came into effect on 

1 May 2012 after public consultation and agreement by the Licensing and 

Regulatory Committee. The review period for the policy is at least every 5 
years. 

  

Page 31

Agenda Item 9.



2.3 The policy has been reviewed by officers after being published for a 12-week 
public consultation, which commenced 19 July 2021 and ended 11 October 

2021.  
 
Policy for Sexual Entertainment Venues - public consultation 

 
2.4 The Council’s Policy for the Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues was 

first adopted by the Council in February 2012.  It was last reviewed and 
updated in 2016 with the last updated policy coming into effect on 01 January 

2017.   
 
2.5 A draft revised Policy for Sexual Entertainment Venues, incorporating the 

changes/amendments made by officers from the existing Policy for Sexual 
Entertainment Venues is attached at Annexe1.  The tracked changes are 

shown in colour type. (Please note the differing colours do not reflect anything 
specific other than an amendment/change) 

 

2.6 The consultation has been conducted through a written process to all 
Responsible Authorities, Citizens Advice Centres, Chambers of Commerce, 

Town and Parish Councils and via the Council’s website.  
 

2.7 The timetable for the review of the current policy and implementation of the 

new policy is as follows:  
 

 Commence review, write to consultees, and place consultation 
information on the website on 19 July 2021 

 Consultation period ends 11 October 2021 (12 weeks) - followed by:  

 Licensing and Regulatory Committee                        08 November 2021 

 Council     14 December 2021 

 Published on Council’s website  3 January 2022 

 Policy comes into effect            31 January 2022 

 
2.8 There are currently no Sexual Entertainment Venues in Waverley and no 

applications have been received since the policy was first adopted on 21 
February 2012.  Although the existing Policy has not been called upon since it 
was adopted, officers believe it is suitable and will work well if required. 

 
2.9 There has been 1 response from the consultation from Cranleigh Parish 

Council, please see below with officer response in red. 
 

  Good Morning 

 
Sex Establishment Policy. 

  
Thank you for asking Cranleigh Parish Council to comment on the 
above Policy.  The Council would like to make the following comments: 

  

Page 32



  

 Although there is no legal requirement for the WBC to adopt this policy, 

the Parish Council is in agreement that it is very important to do so. 
 

 Page 11.  The Parish Council is quite surprised that a licence for a 
sexual entertainment venue is not required where relevant 

entertainment has not been provided on more than eleven occasions in 
any 12 months. In our opinion, any venue which offers sexual 
entertainment, no matter how often, should require a licence. This is 

the legislation 
 

 Clause 8.4, please include Town and Parish Councils as relevant 
bodies to be consulted. 

 

 8.4.1. already states;  
 

Other relevant authorities may be; 
 
             a/ Fire Authority 

             b/ Trading Standards 
             c/ Health & Safety at Work 

            d/ Local Planning Authority 
             e/ Local Authority – Environmental Health 
             f/ Protection of Children from Harm 

             g/ Licensing Authority (other than relevant licensing authority) in whose  
             area part of the premises is situated.  

 
In addition consultation will, where practicable, be undertaken with 
local residents associations, parish councils, local ward members and 

in some cases neighbouring properties/residents. 
 

 
A copy of the emailed comment is attached at Annexe 2. 

 

 
3.0  Conclusion 

 
3.1 The Committee is asked to consider the responses to the consultation and 

identify whether any further amendments to the policy are required. The Policy 

is ultimately set by the Council as part of the Policy Framework and the 
activity under the Policy is the remit of this Committee and its Licensing Act 

Sub-Committees. The Committee is asked to consider officers amendments 
and the comments made to the review and of the Policy for the Licensing of 
Sexual Entertainment Venues and make its recommendations to Council for 

amending the Policy.  
 
5.0.  Recommendation 

 
5.1. The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that  

 

Page 33



5.1.1 The draft revised Policy for the Licensing of Sexual Entertainment 
venues and Principles be approved subject to any amendments agreed at the 

meeting;  
 

5.1.2 To recommend the revised Policy for the Licensing of Sexual 
Entertainment venues and Principles to Council at its meeting on 14 
December 2021 to approve.  

 
6.0 Reason for the recommendation(s) 

 
6.1 Whilst there is no legal requirement for the Council to adopt a policy in relation 

to the application of the legislation of Sexual Entertainment Venues, it is seen 

as good practice to publish a policy setting out how the Council will determine 
applications for sex establishments in its area.. The aim of a Sexual 

Entertainment Venue policy is to provide guidance for the prospective 
applicants, persons who may wish to object to or support an application and 
members of the Council’s Licensing and Regulatory Committee when making 

a decision in respect of an application. 
 

6.2      Whilst each application will be considered on its individual merits, this policy is 
intended to give prospective applicants an early indication of whether their 
specific application is likely to be successful and the material facts that will be 

taken into consideration when determining the application. No policy will ever 
be considered absolute and there may be occasions where the Licensing and 

Regulatory Committee may depart from the policy having regard to the unique 
characteristics of any one particular application. 
 

6.3  In accordance with Waverley’s Policy for the licensing of Sexual 
Entertainment   Venues, the policy states that it will be reviewed every five 

years or at such shorter periods as is felt necessary. 
6.4  Having considered the findings of the engagement process the Licensing 

Committee is invited to approve the draft revised Policy for the licensing of 

Sexual Entertainment Venues and Principles provided. This approval would 
be subject to any amendments approved at this meeting.  

 
6.5  The Committee is invited to recommend the revised licensing Policy to the 

Council at its meeting on 14 December 2021 to approve. If approved, the 

Policy will stay in force for 5 years. However, should the Licensing Authority 
consider it necessary, the Policy can be reviewed at any point during this 5 

year period.  
 
7.0. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan(s) 

 
7.1 The Policy for the licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues and Principles 

under the Schedule 3 of the Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act, 
as amended by section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 whilst not being 
a statutory duty of the Council helps to deliver the Council’s strategic 

outcomes in promoting a thriving local economy, supporting business and 
employment; 

 encouraging small businesses;  

Page 34



and promoting the health and wellbeing of our communities, helping to ensure 
that Sexual Entertainment Venues are safe and controlled. 

   
8.0 Implications of decision(s) 

 
8.1 Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT) 

  

 There are no immediate resource implications in this report; resources 
required to fulfil the Council’s duties in respect of the licensing process are 

met from the existing budget. 
 
8.2 Risk management 

 
The Policy for the Licensing of Sexual Entertainment Venues is in place to 

ensure public safety when using these services and to ensure the appropriate 
balances and mitigations are in place to minimise risk to public safety whilst 
enabling businesses to trade effectively, efficiently and legally. 

  
8.3 Legal 

 
There is no statutory requirement to have a licensing policy for sex 
establishments. However, it is considered best practice and a modern 

effective policy document will ensure that the trade and public alike will have a 
document which fully explains the elements of the regulatory process. The 

revised Policy will guide applicants, licensees and those responsible for 
licensing and should provide a clear transparent and consistent basis for 
decision making. This is turn should reduce the risks of decisions being 

challenged in the Courts.  
   
8.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion 

 
The Policy sets out the framework within which decisions are made that effect 

crime and disorder and the protection of children and other vulnerable people 
from being harmed or exploited. There are no direct equality, diversity or 

inclusion implications in this report. Equality impact assessments are carried 
out when necessary across the Council to ensure service delivery meets the 
requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty under the Equality Act 2010.  

 
8.5 Climate emergency declaration 

 
 There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within 

this report in terms of meeting the Council’s climate change obligations. 

 
8.6 Consultation and engagement 

 
 The Policy for the Licensing Sexual Entertainment Venues, as set out above, 

has been subject to consultation with the public before being finalised.  

 
8.7 Other options considered 

 

Page 35



 Other options considered are commented on throughout the report.  
 
8.8 Governance journey 

 

 Trade and public consultation with final recommendations to Licensing and 
Regulatory Committee. 

 

 
Annexes: 

 
Annexe 1 – A draft revised Policy for the Licensing Sexual Entertainment Venues, 

incorporating the changes/amendments made by officers from the existing 

Policy. 
Annexe 2 - A copy of the response from the consultation from Cranleigh Parish 

Council   
 
________________________________________ 

Background Papers 
 

________________________________________ 
CONTACT OFFICER: 
Name  Paul Hughes:  

Position: Licensing & Environmental Enforcement Manager 
Telephone: 0148 3523189 

Email:  paul.hughes@waverley.gov.uk 
 
Agreed and signed off by: 

Legal Services: date 
Head of Finance: date 

Strategic Director: date 
Portfolio Holder: date 

 
 
 

Page 36



1 

 

Waverley Borough Council 
 

Policy Statement for the 
Licensing of 

Sex Establishments 
 

 
 

Schedule 3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982), as amended 
by Section 27 Policing and Crime Act 2009 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Adopted on 21 February 2012 
Last Reviewed 2016 2021 to have effect 01 Jan 202217 till 01 Jan 20272 

Style Definition: TOC 1: Tab stops:  0.85 cm, Left +  17.13

cm, Right,Leader: …

Page 37

ANNEXE 1



2 

 

Index 
 
1   Introduction .................................................................................................................. 4 

2   General Policy Matters ................................................................................................. 4 

2.1 Overarching Objectives ................................................................................................ 4 

2.2 Adoption Process ......................................................................................................... 4 

2.3 Policy reviews ............................................................................................................... 5 

2.4 Sharing of Information .................................................................................................. 5 

2.5 Policy Application ......................................................................................................... 6 

2.6 Enforcement ................................................................................................................. 6 

2.7 Legal Interpretation....................................................................................................... 6 

2.8 Other Legislation .......................................................................................................... 6 

2.9 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 ....................................................................................... 7 

2.10 Equality Act 2010.......................................................................................................... 7 

3  Appropriate Number...................................................................................................... 7 

4  Video Sales ................................................................................................................... 7 

5  Sex establishment definition ......................................................................................... 8 

5.1 Sex shop ...................................................................................................................... 8 

5.2 Sex cinemas ................................................................................................................. 9 

5.3 Sexual Entertainment Venue ........................................................................................ 9 

6   Exemptions .................................................................................................................. 9 

7   Waivers ...................................................................................................................... 10 

8   Applications ................................................................................................................ 10 

8.1  Submission of an Application ..................................................................................... 10 

8.2  Application fees ..................................................................................................... 1110 

8.3  Advertising Applications ........................................................................................ 1110 

8.3.1  Newspaper advertisement .................................................................................... 1110 

8.3.2  Local advertising ....................................................................................................... 11 

8.3.3  Council website ......................................................................................................... 11 

8.4   Consultations ............................................................................................................ 11 

8.4.1   Copies to the Police ............................................................................................. 1211 

8.4.2   Police observations. ................................................................................................. 12 

8.5   Objections ................................................................................................................. 12 

8.6   Sub-Committee Hearings ......................................................................................... 12 

8.7   Adjournments of hearings ..................................................................................... 1413 

8.8   Criteria for determining an application .................................................................. 1413 

8.8.1   Fitness of the Applicant ............................................................................................ 14 

8.8.2   Licence Holder ......................................................................................................... 14 

8.8.3   Number of sex establishments ............................................................................. 1514 

8.8.4   Locality and Premises Policy ................................................................................ 1514 

8.9    Standard Conditions ................................................................................................ 16 

8.10    Duration of licences ................................................................................................. 16 

8.11    Grounds for Refusal ............................................................................................. 1716 

8.12    Statements of Reasons for decisions .................................................................. 1716 

9     Appeals ................................................................................................................ 1716 

10 Variation of Licences ................................................................................................... 17 

11 Renewals and Transfers .......................................................................................... 1817 

12 Cancellation of Licences .......................................................................................... 1817 

13 Revocation of Licences ............................................................................................ 1817 

14 Offences ...................................................................................................................... 18 

Page 38



3 

 

15 Amendments to the Policy ....................................................................................... 1918 

16 Appendix One - Application Form for New, renewal, transfer or variation 
of a Licence .................................................................................................................... 2019 

17 Appendix Two – Newspaper advertisement ............................................................ 2524 

18 Appendix Three – Public Notice of Application ........................................................ 2625 

19 Appendix Four – Scheme of Delegation of Powers ................................................. 2827 

20 Appendix Five – Standard Conditions ...................................................................... 3029 

20.1    Sex shops ............................................................................................................ 3029 

20.2    Sex cinemas ........................................................................................................ 3231 

20.3    Sexual entertainment venues .............................................................................. 3534 

21 Appendix Six - Grounds for Granting or Refusing an Application ............................ 3936 

Page 39



4 

 

 

1 Introduction 
 
Section 2 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 
enables a local authority to adopt the provisions of Schedule 3 of the Act.  
These provisions relate to the control, by way of licensing, of sex 
establishments. 
 
This legislation was amended, with effect from 1st April 2010, by the 
provisions of Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 to include sex 
encounter establishments. 
 
Sex establishment now means a 

• sex shop 

• sex cinema or 

• sex encounter establishment 
 
Waverley Borough Council adopted Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act for the 
licensing of sex shops and sex cinemas to apply from the 01 June 1983, and 
adopted the new provisions relating to sexual entertainment venues (section 
27) on 21 February 2012. 
 
The Council appointed 01 May 2012 as the date on which the provisions 
relating to sexual entertainment venues came into effect. 
 
This document sets out both guidance on the legislation and the Council’s 
policies which will be taken into account when dealing with matters under this 
legislation. 
 
 
2 General Policy Matters 
 
2.1 Overarching Objectives 
 
Whilst there is no legal requirement for the Council to adopt a policy in relation 
to the application of this legislation it is considered beneficial for the Council to 
do so. 
 
2.2 Adoption Process 
 

Date Action Closing Date For 
Comments 

29 September 
2011 

Sex Establishment consultation 
process placed before the Licensing 
Committee 

 

04 October 2011 Start of Consultation 15 November 2011 

15 November 
2011 

End of Consultation  

15 December 
2011 

Report to licensing Committee on 
Consultation 

Officers requested for 
further info and to return 

Page 40



5 

 

 
 

16 February 2012 

16 February 2011 Further report to committee. 
 

Adopted - Yes 
Policy accepted 

21 February  
2012February 
2012 

Full Council to consider report and 
formally adopt Policy 

Policy formally adopted 

16 March 2012 1st  Public notice of adoption  

23 March 2012 2nd  Public notice of adoption  

01 May 2012 Date for Policy cameto come into 
force. 

 

Most Recent Review 

14 June 202113 
Sept 2016 

5 year Review started Licensing 
Committee re Consultation (Face 
Item) 

 

19 July 202107 
Oct 2016 

Consultation (126 weeks) 11 Oct 202118 Nov 
2016 

08 Nov 202124 
Nov 2016 

Report to licensing Committee on 
Consultation 

 

14 Dec 20212016 Full Council to consider report  

31 Jan 2022 Date policy to come into force  

 
 
 
.  
 
The consultation was placed on the Council’s website, sent to all the Relevant 
Authorities, Parish/Town councils, Waverley Borough Councillors, Faith 
Forum 
 
- Full Council considered and formally adopted Policy 
 
Waverley advertised that it was consulting on the policy in the Surrey 
Advertiser on Friday 07 October 2016.with a final date for written comments of 
18 November 2016 (6 weeks). 
 
 
 
2.3 Policy reviews 
 
This policy will be reviewed every five years or at such shorter periods as is 
felt necessary. 
 
2.4 Sharing of Information 
 
The Council will share with other enforcement bodies, information supplied by 
applicants, or acquired in the course of exercising licensing functions, where it 
is lawful to do so. In particular, personal information will only be disclosed in 
accordance with the Data Protection Act 20181998. This may include 
requests from the Audit Commission or other regulatory agencies where this 

Page 41



6 

 

is necessary for the detection or prevention of crime or required by law or in 
connection with legal proceedings. Where applicable, it will be under the 
relevant Information Sharing Protocol. 
 
 
 
2.5 Policy Application 
 
This document contains the policies adopted by Waverley Borough Council 
for the permits and licences.  These policies will normally be applied in every 
case but where there are exceptional or unusual circumstances then these 
policies and conditions may be departed from.  Any departure from these 
policies will only be as approved by the Head of Environmental and 
Regulatory Democratic and Legal Services. 
 
2.6 Enforcement 
 
Failure to comply with legislative requirements is an offence.  In determining 
what enforcement action to pursue in respect of offences, regard will be had 
to the individual circumstances, the Council’s policies with regard to 
enforcement and other national guidance, such as the Crown Prosecutor’s 
Code of Practice. 
 
2.7 Legal Interpretation 
 
This document contains advice regarding the legal interpretation as to what 
constitutes a sex establishment and other matters such as when a licence 
may be required, and how applications may be made. However, this 
document should not be considered to be an authoritative statement of the 
law. The statute law is more authoritative but ultimately, interpretation of the 
law is a matter for the Courts. 
 
2.8 Other Legislation 
 
Planning, Building Control and alcohol licensing regimes are separate 
licensing processes. An application for a sex establishment licence cannot be 
a re-run of a planning application or of an application under the Licensing Act 
2003 as different considerations will apply. However, the granting of a licence 
which involves a material alteration to a building would not relieve the 
applicant of the need to apply for planning permission or building control 
consent, a premises licence or any other licence or consent. 
 
The Licensing Act makes requirements for a Premises Licence, in general 
terms, where alcohol is sold or supplied, where films are shown or where 
entertainment, including live entertainment, is provided and a licensed sex 
establishment does not exempt an organiser from also having any necessary 
licences under the Licensing Act 2003 (as amended). 
 
There are circumstances when another licence or consent, such as a planning 
consent, will impose conditions different to those imposed by a licence for a 

Page 42



7 

 

sex establishment.  Where this happens whichever regime has the more 
restrictive conditions on a particular aspect is the requirement that must be 
complied with.  For exampleexample, where a planning consent and a sex 
establishment impose different opening times then whichever are the more 
restrictive opening time are those which must be followed. 
 
2.9 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 
Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act imposes a duty on the Council to 
exercise its functions with due regard to the prevention of crime and disorder, 
including antisocial behaviour, the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other 
substances.  In considering applications regard will be had as to whether the 
premises may contribute to any of these aspects. 
 
2.10 Equality Act 2010 
 
Section 149 of the Equality Act obliges Councils to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; to advance 
equality of opportunity between sexes and to foster good relations between 
the sexes.  In applying this policy this authority will seek to: 
protect performers from harassment and any threat to their dignity by 
requiring proper supervision and facilities, 
ensure that women are as welcome in licensed premises as men are, 
ensure that the fears of women using the vicinity of the premises are 
considered in decisions as to the location of licensed premises. 
 
 
3 Appropriate Number 
 
The legislation allows for a local authority to determine the number of sex 
establishments which it considers appropriate for that locality.  Waverley 
Borough Council has not determined any localitieslocalities, nor have they 
adopted an appropriate number for any such localities. 
 
4 Video Sales 
 
18R videos may only be sold from a licensed sex shop.  The fact that the 
sales of such videos may constitute a very small part of the shop sales and 
that the shop would otherwise not constitute a sex shop is not relevant.  Such 
videos may not be supplied by way of mail or telephone order. 
 

Page 43



8 

 

 
5 Sex establishment definition 
 
The definition of a sex establishment includes a sex shop, a sex cinema, or a 
sexual entertainment venue. 
 
5.1 Sex shop 
 
A sex shop is defined as meaning any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall used 
for a business which consists to a significant degree of selling, hiring, 
exchanging, lending, displaying or demonstrating: 

• sex articles, 

• other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of 
stimulating or encouraging sexual activity, or 

• acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity. 
 
No single factor is decisive when considering whether a shop sells sex articles 
to a significant degree.  In deciding what constitutes a sex shop, each case 
will be judged on the individual factsfacts, but the following criteria may be 
taken into account when determining the question of “significant degree”. 
 

• The absolute number of items offered for sale i.e. numbers of different 
sex articles offered for sale compared to the number of different non 
sex articles offered for sale.  In this context where the number of sex 
articles exceeds 20% of total number of items for sale this would be 
considered to be significant.  Where sex articles are sold in multiple 
packs then the multipack will be considered as one item. 

• The absolute number of items sold i.e. numbers of different sex articles 
sold compared to the number of different non sex articles sold.  In this 
context where the number of sex articles exceeds 20% of total number 
of items sold this would be considered to be significant.  Where sex 
articles are sold in multiple packs then the multipack will be considered 
as one item. 

• The character of the remainder of the business. 

• The floor area occupied by displays of sex articles as opposed to the 
floor area occupied by non sex articles.  In this context floor area 
means the display and adjacent walkways.  Where a floor area 
occupied by displays of sex articles exceeds 20% of the area occupied 
by displays of non sex articles then this would be considered 
significant. 

• Whether sex articles can be seen by members of the public without 
them having to enter the shop either because the articles are in a 
window display or can be seen through the shop doors. 

• Gross sales, in financial terms, of sex articles as compared with non 
sex articles.  In this context where the sales of sex articles exceeds 
20% of the total sales then this would be considered to be significant. 

 
Where a large premises is used by a number of stallholders, some of whom 
sell sex articles, then the use of the large premises as a whole will be 
considered. 

Page 44



9 

 

 
5.2 Sex cinemas 
 
This means, principally and in summary, any premises vehicle, vessel or stall 
used to a significant degree for the exhibition of moving pictures which 
portray, deal with or relate to, or are intended to stimulate sexual activity or 
acts of force or restraint associated with sexual activity.  This does not include 
a dwelling to which the public are not admitted thus excluding videos etc 
played by a person in their own home. 
 
5.3 Sexual Entertainment Venue 
 
In summary, this means any premises where relevant entertainment is 
provided before a live audience for the financial gain of the organiser or the 
performer and which is a live performance, or live display of nudity, which can 
be reasonably assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of 
sexually stimulating the audience. 
 
Display of nudity means; 

• In the case of a woman, exposure of her nipples, pubic area, genitals, 
or anus 

• In the case of a man exposure of his pubic area genitals or anus. 
 

“Audience” includes an audience of one. 
“Premises” includes any vessel vehicle or stall. 
 
Sexual entertainment venues are likely to include any premises, vehicle, 
vessel or stall which provides lap dancing, pole dancing, table dancing, strip 
shows, peep shows, or live sex show. 
 
 
6 Exemptions 
 
The sale, supply or demonstration of articles which are manufactured for use 
primarily for the purposes of birth control, or which primarily relate to birth 
control, do not fall within the definition of a sex article.  In this context where 
an article has been designed to act both for the purposes of birth control and 
to act as a stimulant then the article will be taken to fall within this exemption. 
 
A licence for a sexual entertainment venue is not required where:  

• relevant entertainment has not been provided on more than eleven 
occasions in any twelve month period and  

• on no occasion did the entertainment last more than 24 hours and  

• on no occasion was relevant entertainment provided within one month 
of the of any previous such entertainment 

 
By virtue of Section 11A of the Licensing Act 2003 the provision of relevant 
entertainment at a premises where a licence as a sexual entertainment venue 
is required, regardless of whether the requirement has been waived, is not 

Page 45



10 

 

regarded as the provision of regulated entertainment under the provisions of 
the Licensing Act 2003. 
 
 
7 Waivers 
 
Under the provisions of Paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 of the Act, the Council 
may waive the requirement to hold a licence in any case where it is 
considered that to require a licence would be unreasonable or inappropriate. 
The power to waive licensing requirements is not a substitute for licensing and 
applicants will be expected to demonstrate exceptional circumstances in 
justifying why the licensing requirement should be waived in their case.  
 
 Waivers may be for such period as the Council think fit but may be 
terminated at any time 28 days after notice of termination is given.  The power 
to grant such waivers has been delegated to the Head of Environmental and 
Regulatory Services Democratic and Legal Services in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee.  In considering applications for waivers 
the general approach will be  
 
Waivers must be sought in respect of a temporary event 
Waivers will not be granted for events that include relevant entertainment 
recognising that a statutory exemption already exists for infrequent sexual 
entertainment 
Licensable activities that would normally have required a licence must 
principally be ancillary and kept to an absolute minimum to other activities not 
licensable under the provisions of the 1982 Act. 
Waivers will only be considered on merits in exceptional circumstances.  
 
A waiver might be appropriate where the premises are to be in place for a 
limited period, e.g. an exhibition where sales are made, and where controls 
are in place which would be similar to those imposed by a licence. 
 
 
8 Applications 
 
8.1 Submission of an Application 
 
An application for a sex establishment licence must be made in writing on the 
application form included at Appendix One, must be accompanied by the 
relevant fee and by a plan of the premises proposed to be licensed at a scale 
of not greater than 1:100 with the area to be licensed outlined in red, together 
with a location plan drawn at a scale of not less than 1:1250 and showing all  
means on ingress and egress and parts used in common with any other 
building.  
 
 If the payment is invalid the application will be considered invalid.  
Applications may be lodged electronically but the application will not be 
considered as being validly lodged until such time as the fee has also been 

Page 46



11 

 

paid. For all queriesqueries, please contact the licensing team on 01483 
523219 or by email licensing@waverley.gov.uk 
 
 
8.2 Application fees 
 
An application for the grant, renewal, variation, transfer or change of licence 
details of a licence shall be accompanied by the appropriate fee. (Please 
contact the licensing department for details of current fees)  
 
Where an application is refused, or is withdrawn before being determined, the 
application fee will be retained although a refund of that element relating to 
enforcement of a licence may be made.  
 
8.3 Advertising Applications 
 

8.3.1 Newspaper advertisement 
The application must be advertised by the applicant using the form contained 
at Appendix 2.  Such advertisements must be made by publishing the 
advertisement in a local newspaper (a local paper which has been agreed 
with the Licensing Department) circulating in the Waverley area.  The 
advertisement shall be published not later than seven days after the date of 
the application to the Council. 
 

8.3.2 Local advertising 
The applicant shall also place notices on or near the premises to which the 
application relates and where they can conveniently be read by the public 
from the exterior of the premises using the form of notice contained at 
Appendix 3 and where the premises cover an area of more than 50 square 
metres, a further identical notice must be displayed every 50 metres along the 
external perimeter abutting any highwayusing the form of notice contained at 
Appendix 3.  Such notices shall be a minimum of A4 in size with the text 
printed as a minimum of 14 point.  The notice shall be printed in black on 
yellow paper.  These notices shall be displayed for a minimum of 21 days 
beginning with the date that the application is made to the Council.  Where a 
notice is removed or vandalised it shall be replaced by the applicant, forthwith.  
If a notice is posted, then removed and not replaced by the applicant and is 
absent for a substantial part of the 21 days then the application may be 
deemed to be invalid and the applicant may be required to start the 
advertising period again. 
 

8.3.3 Council website 
Applicants should be aware that the Council will advertise the receipt of an 
application on our website.  Similarly details of licences issued by the Council 
will also be placed on the Council’s website. 
 
8.4 Consultations 
 

Page 47



12 

 

8.4.1 Copies to the Police 
A copy of any application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence shall 
be sent to the Chief Officer of Police for the local area within 7 days of the 
application being made to the Council.  Where the application is made 
electronically this will be done by the Council, where the application is 
submitted by any other means the responsibility for giving copies of the 
application to the Chief Officer of Police is that of the applicant. 
 
On receipt of your application consultation will be carried out with the Police, 
and the Council may pass applications to other relevant authorities and take 
their views into account . 
 
Other relevant authorities may be; 
 
 a/ Fire Authority 
 b/ Trading Standards 
 c/ Health & Safety at Work 
 d/ Local Planning Authority 
 e/ Local Authority – Environmental Health 
 f/ Protection of Children from Harm 
 g/ Licensing Authority (other than relevant licensing authority) in whose  
 area part of the premises is situated.  
 
In addition consultation will, where practicable, be undertaken with local 
residents associations, parish councils, local ward members and in some 
cases neighbouring properties/residents. 
 
 
 

8.4.2 Police observations. 
In considering any application for the grant, renewal or transfer of any licence 
the Council will take into account any observations made to it by the Police or 
other relevant authority or persons it has consulted with. 
 
8.5 Objections 
 
Any person objecting to an application for the grant, renewal, or transfer of a 
licence shall give notice in writing of their objection to the Licensing 
Department of the Council stating in general terms the grounds of their 
objection not later than 28 days after the date of the application.  Where the 
Council receive such an objection they shall inform the applicant of the 
general terms of the objection before considering the application.  The Council 
will not, without the consent of the objector, reveal the name or address of the 
objector when they notify the applicant. In considering any application for the 
grant, renewal or transfer of any licence the Council will take into account any 
objections received by the Council. 
 
8.6 Sub-Committee Hearings 
 

Page 48



13 

 

All applications will be placed before a Sub Committee of three Councillors 
chosen from members of the Licensing Committee, regardless of whether any 
objections or observations have been received.  Councillors, in whose ward 
the premises are, or will be, located, shall not sit on any Sub Committee 
hearing the application. 
 
The Council shall afford an applicant for the grant, renewal, transfer or 
variation of a licence an opportunity to be heard by the Licensing Sub 
Committee before refusing such an application. 
 
Any valid objector, or the Police, shall be permitted to be heard at any hearing 
and they may be represented at the hearing so long as they shall have either 
notified the Council in writing as to who their nominated representative is or 
else nominates them in person at the hearing.  Only objectors who have 
lodged an objection in writing with the Council within 28 days of the 
application having been made to the Council shall be considered to be a valid 
objector.  If objectors do not wish to speak before the Sub Committee then 
their written objections shall be taken into consideration. 
 
The hearing shall consist of a conversation between the applicant and the 
Sub Committee, and the objectors and the Sub Committee and no 
examination or cross examination between the applicant, or their 
representatives, and the objector, or their representatives, shall be permitted. 
 
An agenda for the meeting of the Sub Committee will be prepared which will 
include the salient points of the application, objections to the application and 
any observations received from the Police. 
 
The order of hearing for such a Sub-committee hearing will be: 

• Introduction of the parties present; 

• Outline by the Licensing Officer of the application under 
consideration; 

• Sub-committee Members to ask questions of the Licensing Officer; 

• Applicant to address the Sub-committee regarding the application; 

• Licensing Officer to ask questions of the applicant; 

• Sub-committee Members to ask questions of the applicant; 

• Objectors, if any, to the application to make representations regarding 
the application; 

• Licensing Officer to ask questions of the objectors, if any; 

• Sub Committee to ask questions of the objectors, if any; 

• Objectors to make closing statement 

• Licensing Officer to make closing statement; 

• Applicant to make closing statement; 

• Sub-committee will withdraw to consider their decision; and 

• Sub-committee will announce their decision together with reasons for 
their decision 

 
Where there are a number of objectors then the Chairman of the Sub 
Committee may, at his discretion, limit the amount of time that each objector 

Page 49



14 

 

wishing to be heard will have in which to make his representation.  Similarly 
the Chairman of the Sub Committee may also limit the amount of time which 
the applicant will have in which to present their application. 
 
8.7 Adjournments of hearings 
 
Where an application is made to the Council for an adjournment of a hearing 
then an adjournment will generally be granted where not granting the 
adjournment would deny the applicant or objectors a fair hearing.  Where the 
reason for the adjournment was reasonably foreseeable or alternative 
arrangements could be made to allow the hearing to proceed an adjournment 
is unlikely.  Each application for an adjournment will be judged on its 
individual merits. 
 
8.8 Criteria for determining an application 
 
The Council will not take into account whether the granting of a licence may 
cause offence.  To do so is not legal. 
 
The Council will take into account those conditions which would require it to 
refuse a licence, as set out in Appendix Six. 
 
The Council will take into account the following criteria since they are the only 
grounds specified in the Act for refusal of a licence application. 
 

8.8.1 Fitness of the Applicant 
The grounds of refusal detailed under Paragraph 12 (3)(a) attached at 
Appendix 6 include that the applicant is unsuitable by reason of having been 
convicted of an offence or for any other reason. 
 
An applicant must, therefore, be a fit and proper person to hold a licence.  In 
determining an applicant’s suitability for a new licence, or a transfer of an 
existing licence, the Sub-Committee will take into account: 

• The relevant knowledge and experience of the applicant 

• Information resulting from the operation of any existing or previous 
licence(s) held by the applicant in this or any other Council area 

• Any report about the applicant or the conduct of licensed premises 
received from statutory objectors. 

 
Whilst every application will be considered on its merits, the Council is unlikely 
to grant an application from any person, or for the benefit of any person, with 
criminal convictions, cautions, etc. 
 
 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.  In considering applications 
convictions which are relevant to the licensing of the premises and which are 
serious in nature may be taken into account. 
 

8.8.2 Licence Holder 
If the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred whether the 
business would be managed or carried on for the benefit of a person other 

Page 50



15 

 

than the applicant.  If this is the case the Council will consider whether that 
person would themselves be refused the grant, renewal or transfer of the 
licence if they had made the application themselves. 
 

8.8.3 Number of sex establishments 
The Council may determine that for a particular locality that there is an 
“appropriate number” for the number of sex establishments and may refuse 
an application if this were to mean that the appropriate number was equalled 
or exceeded.  The Council has not set an appropriate number of sex 
establishments either for the whole Borough or for any part of the Borough. 
 

8.8.4 Locality and Premises Policy 
The Council will consider whether the grant or renewal of a licence would be 
inappropriate having regard to the following topics. 
 

8.8.4.1 Character of the locality 
The Council will consider the premises use and its impact on the character of 
the locality. 
 
The Council will, in particular, take the following matters into account: 
a) type of activity i.e. sex shop, sex cinema or sex encounter venue, 
b) duration of proposed licence, 
c) proposed hours of operation, 
d) layout and condition of the premises. 
 

8.8.4.2 Premises in the vicinity 
The Council will consider the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put.  
Where the licensed premises are within a larger complex e.g. shopping centre 
or multi-use building, this will include the nature of other activities carried on 
within the complex or building. 
 
Whilst every application is considered on its merits the Council will not 
normally grant an application where the premises, vehicle, vessel, or stall is 
located within: 

• areas that are exclusively, or predominantly, residential in character; or 

• the vicinity of residential properties or 

• premises, areas or access routes to such areas which are designed for 
or attract children or families, such as school, play areas, parks, 
children’s centres, youth clubs, nurseries or leisure facilities, or similar 
establishments or 

•   200 meters of a school or any other premises used by children or 
vulnerable adults or 

• a publicly accessible open space that is regularly frequented by 
children or vulnerable adults or 

•   200 meters of a place of worship or 

• Any facilities used for cultural or leisure activities (e.g. museums, art 
galleries, libraries) or 

• educational establishments or 

• community facilities and public buildings or 

Page 51



16 

 

• any area which is a focus for tourist activity or 

• areas with a history of and/or a current level of recorded crime or social 
difficulties that give the police cause for concern; or 

•  

• areas that are likely to be adversely affected due to the cumulative 
impact of sex establishments or 

•  200 meters of an existing sex establishment. 
 

8.8.4.3 Premises Layout 
The Council will consider the layout, character or condition of the premises, 
vehicle, vessel, or stall in respect of which the application is made.  This may 
include: 

• condition of the premises 

• proposed external appearance including signs, advertising, window 
layout and design 

• visibility of the internal areas from outside, including window and door 
blinds, and lobbied areas for access and egress to any public area or 
street 

• seating and stage layout 

• booths or cubicles within the premises 

• provision of sanitary accommodation 

• provision for facilities for performers including dressing rooms, sanitary 
accommodation, and separate staff entrances 

• access from or to other unlicensed parts of the building where the 
premises do not form a detached building 

• ease of access for the disabled. 
 

8.8.4.4 Relevant locality 
In this context locality does not mean the Borough as a whole. Locality will 
start with the proposed location in the context of its surrounding area.  The 
Council will not define the locality using strict boundaries on a map nor by 
placing the premises at the centre of an imaginary circle. 
 
 
8.9 Standard Conditions 
 
If a licence application is granted then the licence will be subject to standard 
terms and conditions as set out in Appendix 5 unless either: 

• the applicant has applied for these to be varied or omitted and such an 
application has been granted by the Sub-Committee determining the 
application or 

• the Sub-Committee have themselves decided to vary or omit any of the 
standard conditions. 

 
 
8.10 Duration of licences 
 
All licences granted shall remain in force for a period of one year or such 
shorter period as the Sub Committee think fit. 

Page 52



17 

 

 
8.11 Grounds for Refusal 
 
Details of the grounds under which the Council may refuse a licence are set 
out in Appendix 6. 
 
8.12 Statements of Reasons for decisions 
 
Where an application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence 
is refused or granted with conditions or varied conditions, the Council will 
provide a statement in writing of the reasons for their decision within 7 days of 
the completion of the Sub Committee hearing. 
 
 
9 Appeals 
 
Subject to the detailed provisions contained within the Act, the following 
persons may usually make an appeal against the decision of a Licensing Sub 
Committee 

• an applicant for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence whose 
application is refused, 

• an applicant for the variation of a licence whose application is refused, 

• the holder of a licence who is aggrieved by any condition of the licence, 

• the holder of a licence whose licence is revoked. 
 
Appeals must be lodged within 21 days of the date on which the holder of the 
licence or the applicant is notified of the decision of the Licensing Sub 
Committee.  Appeals must be lodged with the Guildford Magistrates Court, 
Mary Road, Guildford, Surrey GU1 4AS, 01483 405300.  
 
10 Variation of Licences 
 
A licence holder may apply to the council for a variation of their licence at any 
time for any variation of the terms, conditions or restrictions on or subject to 
which the licence is held.  Such applications will be heard by a Licensing Sub 
Committee of the Council following the same hearing procedure as if it were a 
new application.  An application for a variation to a licence is not required to 
be advertised by the applicant but applicants should be aware that such 
applications will be placed upon the Council’s website.  Whilst the Sub 
Committee will receive a report from Council officers concerning the 
application it is not legally possible for the Police or members of the public to 
object to such applications. 
 
The process for applying for a variation is the same as that for applying for an 
initial grant except that a plan of the premises is not required unless the 
application involves structural alterations to the premises. 
 
Application forms are available from licensing@waverley.gov.uk  
 

Page 53

mailto:licensing@waverley.gov.uk


18 

 

11 Renewals and Transfers  
 
Where an application is made for the renewal of a licence which is received 
by the Council before the date of expiry of the existing licence then the 
existing licence will remain in effect until either the withdrawal of the 
application or its determination by the Council. 
 
The process of applying for the renewal of the licence is the same as applying 
for an initial grant except that a plan is not required. 
 
The authority will not accept applications for the renewal of the SEV licence 
more than 3 months in advance of the renewal date.  
 
The authority will determine renewal applications on individual merits taking 
into account the facts of the application and any objections received. Opposed 
applications will be referred to the authority’s licensing committee for 
determination 
 
Where a licence has been granted to any person then the Council may, if they 
think fit, transfer that licence to any other person on the application of that 
other person at any time. The  process of applying for a transfer is the same 
as that applying for an initial grant except that a plan of the premises is not 
required.  
 
Applications for the renewal or transfer of licences for premises must be 
advertised both in local newspapers and on or near the premises. 
 
 
 
12 Cancellation of Licences 
 
The Council must cancel a licence for a sexual entertainment venue if asked 
to do so by the holder of the licence. 
 
 
13 Revocation of Licences 
 
The Council may, after giving the holder of a licence an opportunity of 
appearing before, and being heard by, a Licensing Sub Committee revoke the 
licence.  The grounds for revocation are as set out in Paragraph 17 of 
Schedule 3 of the Act.  Where a licence is revoked the Council will send, 
within seven days of their notifying the licence holder of the revocation, a 
statement of the reasons for the revocation. 
 
 
 
14 Offences 
 
Offences under Paragraphs 20, 21 and 23 of Schedule 3 of the Act are 
punishable on conviction by a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

Page 54



19 

 

 
These offences include: 

• Permitting premises to be used without a licence 

• Employment by a licensee of anyone disqualified from holding a 
licence 

• Contravening the conditions of a licence 

• Knowingly making a false statement in connection with an application 
for the grant renewal or transfer of a licence 

• Allowing someone under the age of 18 to enter a licensed premises 

• Employing someone under the age of 18 in the business of the 
establishment. 

 
 
15 Amendments to the Policy 
 
The Head of Democratic and Legal ServicesEnvironmental and Regulatory 
Services, in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, shall 
have the power to make minor amendments to this policy.

Page 55



20 

 

 
16 Appendix One - Application Form for New, renewal, transfer or 

variation of a Licence 
 

  

 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, 

Section 2 and Schedule 3 
 

Application for a new, or renewal of, or transfer of, or variation of a 
Sex Establishment Licence 

 
You are reminded that if you make a false statement in connection with 
this application which you know to be false in any material respect or 

which you do not believe to be true you will be guilty of an offence and 
liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

 
(Please use BLOCK CAPITALS and black ink only) 

Applicant’s Full 
Name: 

 

Have you ever been 
known by any other 
names?  
If Yes, state previous 
names 

YES/NO 

Address: 
 
 
Postcode: 

 

Telephone:  

Date of Birth  

 
or if the application is by a corporate body or unincorporated body: 

Company’s Full 
Name: 

 

Address of 
Registered Office or 
Principal Office: 
 
 
Postcode: 

 

Telephone:  

 

Page 56



21 

 

Names and private addresses of the Directors or other persons responsible 
for its management: 

Name Address 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

 

I Hereby make application for 1.the waiver of a requirement for a licence / 
2.the grant / 3.renewal / 4. transfer / 5. variation of conditions of a licence, for 
the use of the premises; (delete as appropriate) 

Known As; 

 
 
 

Vehicle / vessel / stall to be situated at (full address):  

 
 
 

As a sex establishment (being a sex shop / sex cinema / sexual entertainment 
venue) as defined in Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982.  If for variation, indicate proposals on a separate sheet 

 
Please state whether any of the following have been convicted of a criminal 
offence or received an official caution and if so please supply details on a 
separate sheet 
 

Yourself Yes  No  

The Company Yes  No  

Any of the Company’s Directors Yes  No  

Any other person responsible for the management of 
the business the subject of this application 

Yes  No  

 

Have you within a period of 12 months immediately 
preceding the date of this application, been refused 
the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, 
vehicle, vessel or stall the subject of this application? 

Yes  No  

 

Page 57



22 

 

Have any goods owned by yourself or by the 
Company ever been the subject of a forfeiture order 
made pursuant to the Obscene Publications Act 
1959? 

Yes  No  

 

Does the applicant intend to operate the sex 
establishment in conjuctionconjunction with any other 
licence? 
If so ,so, provide details below. 

Yes  No  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

FOR NEW APPLICATIONS ONLY 

State proposals for preventing nuisance to residents and businesses in the 
vicinity; 
 
 
 
 
 

State proposals for promoting public safety; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State proposals for preventing crime and disorder; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

State proposals for protecting children from harm; 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Page 58



23 

 

Proposed operating days Opening from  Closing times 

Monday   

Tuesday   

Wednesday   

Thursday   

Friday   

Saturday   

Sunday   

 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues only 

Do you have a code of practise for 
performersperformers? 
(If yes  attachyes attach a copy to the application) 
 

Yes 
 

 No  

Do you have written rules (displayed) for customers 
(If yes  attachyes attach a copy to the application) 
 

Yes  No  

Do you have a policy for the Welfare of 
PerformersPerformers? 
(If yes  attachyes attach a copy to the application) 
 

Yes  No  

 
 
Please state any further information you wish Waverley Borough Council  
toCouncil to take into account. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
I / we hereby undertake: 
 
1. To publish an advertisement in the local newspaper (a local paper 

which has been agreed with the Licensing Department) circulating in 
the area of the premises in the form prescribed by the Council giving 
public notice of this application not later than 7 days after the date 
hereof and to supply you with a copy within 14 days. 

 

Page 59



24 

 

2. To display a notice in the form prescribed by the Council on or near the 
premises the subject of this application and in a place where the notice 
can conveniently be read by the public, for 21 days beginning with the 
date of this application.  A copy of the notice is attached hereto. 

 
3. To send a copy of this application to the Chief Officer of Surrey Police, 

(P.O. Box 101, GU1 9PE )PE),  
 
I / we hereby certify that the fee of £ ……………….. required by the Council is 
enclosed.  We will accept payment by credit/debit card (by phone or in 
person) or cheque payable to “Waverley Borough Council”. 
 
I / we hereby agree to the Council making enquiries of the Police concerning 
this application.  
 
I / we have checked these replies and confirm that they are true and accurate. 
 
In respect of a new application I enclose a plan of the premises at a scale not 
less than 1:50, with the area to be licensed outlined in red, and a location plan 
drawn at a scale of not greater than 1:1250. 
 
The Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use the 
information you provide in this form for the prevention and detection of fraud. 
It may also share this information with other bodies responsible for auditing or 
administering public funds for these purposes. 
 
 
 
Signed: …………………………………………………..   Date: 
…………………………. 
 
Name (please print)…………………………………….. 
 
 
 

 

g
:eh

p
g

\std
d
o
c
\p

u
b
lic

\S
ex

 E
stab

lish
m

en
t L

icen
ce

 

Page 60



25 

 

17 Appendix Two – Newspaper advertisement 
 

The following should be used as the form of advertisement of an application in 
a local newspaper (a local paper which has been agreed with the Licensing 
Department) circulating in the Waverley area. Please omit text in square 
brackets and the square brackets, as appropriate. 
 

 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR A SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE  
 

Take notice that on [insert date application was made to the Council] an 
application was made to Waverley Borough Council under the provisions of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 for a licence to 
use the premises whose address is: [insert address of premises] as a [sex 
shop][sex cinema][sexual entertainment venue]. 
 
Any person wishing to make objections against the application should write to 
Waverley Borough Council, stating in general terms the grounds of the 
objection.  This must be received by the Council within 28 days from the date 
of the application, as given above.  Objections received after this date will not 
be considered. 
 
Objections should be addressed to:  Licensing Department, Waverley 
Borough Council, Council Offices, The Bury’s, Godalming, Surrey GU7 1HR 
 
Please see the Waverley Borough Council website at www.waverley.gov.uk 
for details of their policies on sex establishment licensing and objections to 
applications. 
 

Page 61

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


26 

 

18 Appendix Three – Public Notice of Application 
 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR  
A SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE  

 
Take notice that on 
(insert date application was made to the Council) 
_______________________________ 
an application was made to Waverley Borough Council under 
the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 for the grant* / renewal* / transfer* of a 
licence to use the premises, whose address is: 
(insert address of premises) 

 
 

 
_____________________________________________________
____ 
  
as a sex shop*,  sex cinema*,  sexual entertainment venue.*  
 
Any person wishing to make objections against the 
application should write to Waverley Borough Council, stating 
in general terms the grounds of the objection.  This must be 
received by the Council within 28 days from the date of the 
application, as given above.  Objections received after this 
will not be considered. 
 
Objections should be addressed to:  
 
Licensing Department,  
Waverley Borough Council, 
Council Offices,  
The Bury’s, Godalming,  
Surrey GU7 1HR  
 
Please see the Waverley Borough Council website at 
www.waverley.gov.uk for details of their policies on sex 
establishment licensing and objections to applications. 
 
Signed: _____________________________ 
 

Page 62

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


27 

 

Name of applicant (please print) 
__________________________________ 
 
* On behalf of 
__________________________________________________ 
  
* Delete where appropriate 

Page 63



28 

 

19 Appendix Four – Scheme of Delegation of Powers 
 

The adoption of powers to deal with the provisions of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous) Provisions Act 1982 were the subject of a report to the Licensing 

Committee of the Council on 22 March 1983 . The recommendations of that 

Committee were subsequently adopted by the Council at its meeting on 12 April 

1983. Since then responsibilities for the Head of Democratic and Legal Services have 

been transferred to the Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services. 

 

As a consequence the Council have delegated powers to deal with the provisions of 

the Act as follows. 

 

To the Licensing Committee: 
1.  to undertake the functions relating to the licensing of sex establishments under 

the provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

2.  to make and amend regulations prescribing standard terms, conditions and 

 restrictions applicable to licences for sex establishments; and 

3.  to make and amend policies relating to the licensing of sex establishments. 

 

To the Licensing Sub-Committee: 
1.  to grant or refuse applications for the grant, renewal, or transfer of licences for 

 sex establishments; 

2.  to grant or refuse applications for variations of licences or to make such 

 variation as they think fit; 

3.  to attach such terms, conditions, and restrictions to licences as is seen 

 necessary and appropriate; 

4.  to grant adjournments of hearings; 

5.  to give to an applicant for, or holders of, licences, statements in writing of 

their  decisions; and 

6.  to revoke licences. 

 

Head of Democratic and Legal Services: 
1.  to enforce the provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

2.  to appoint Officers of the Council to enforce the provisions of Part II and 

 Schedule 3 of the Act; 

3.  to exercise the powers of entry, and to authorise Officers to exercise the 

 powers of entry, conferred by paragraph 25 of Schedule 3 of the Act; 

4.  to apply for and to authorise Officers to apply for warrants to enter premises 

 under paragraph 25 of Schedule 3 of the Act; 

5.  to determine whether any premises, vessel, vehicle or stall constitutes a sex 

 establishment under the provisions of the legislation; 

6.  in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to waive the 

requirement for a licence in any case where it is considered that to require a 

licence would be unreasonable or inappropriate, to determine what period such 

a waiver shall apply for, and to terminate such waivers in accordance with 

paragraph 7(7) of Schedule 3; 

7.  to determine what particulars may be required in connection with an 

 application; 

Page 64



29 

 

8.  to determine the form which notices given under paragraphs 10 (11) and 10 

 (12) of Schedule 3 of the Act shall take; 

9.  to determine whether objections given to the authority are valid or not; 

10.  to give notice to applicants of objections received; 

11.  to have regard to observations submitted to the authority by the Police; 

12.  to transfer licences; 

13.  to refer to a Licensing Sub-Committee any licence where Officers consider 

 that the licence should be revoked; 

14.  in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to refuse any 

 application for the grant or renewal of a licence where the requirements of 

 paragraph 12 (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) or 3(c) of Schedule 3 of the Act have not been 

 met; 

15.  to cancel licences following the written request of the licence holder; 

16.  to determine the reasonable fee to be charged for supplying copies of 

 standard terms, conditions and restrictions applicable to licences for sex 

 establishments adopted by the Council; 

17.  to send copies of licences granted to the chief officer of Police for the area; 

18.  to consider applications for and to extend or further extend the period for 

 which a licence shall remain in force after the death of a licence holder; 

19.  to determine fees for the grant, renewal, or transfer of licences in consultation 

 with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee; 

20.  to enforce and prosecute offences under the provisions of Schedule 3 of the 

 Act; and 

21.  to defend appeals taken against the Council under paragraph 27 of Schedule 

 3 of the Act. 

 

 
 

Page 65



30 

 

20 Appendix Five – Standard Conditions 
 

21 Sex shops - Standard Conditions to replace any already adopted 
 

 

Standard Conditions which shall apply to sex shops. 

 

GENERAL 

 
1. The premises hereby licensed shall be used only for the purposes of a sex shop 

as defined by Schedule 3 paragraph 4(1) of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and shall not be used either wholly or in 

part for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever during the period in respect 

of which this licence is granted. 

2. The premises shall be open to members of the public during the hours of 

Monday to Friday, 10.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m.; Saturday 9.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m.; 

Sunday, 11.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.  

3. Where the Licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any 

change of director, company secretary or other person responsible for the 

management of the body is to be notified in writing to the Council within 14 

days of such change and such written details as the Council may require in 

respect of any new director, secretary or manager, are to be furnished within 

14 days of a request in writing from the Council. 

4. The Licensee or some responsible person nominated by him in writing for the 

purpose of managing the licensed premises in his absence and whose details 

have been supplied to and approved in writing by the Council, shall be in 

charge of and upon the premises during the whole time they are open to the 

public. 

Registers shall be kept on the premises showing the name and address of any 

person who is responsible for managing the sex establishment in the 

temporary absence of the person nominated pursuant to Licence condition 5. 

The Licensee shall ensure that during the hours the sex shop is open to the 

public, every employee wears an identifying badge, of a type approved by the 

Council, indicating their name and that they are an employee. 

5. The following written matter shall be clearly visible from outside the sex 

establishment:- 

(i) The trading name of the premises as specified in the licence. 

(ii) The hours of opening to the public. 

(iii) The street number. 

(iv) In each entrance or doorway to the licensed premises in a prominent 

position so as to be readily visible to any person approaching the 

premises with a view to entering therein but without their having so to 

enter a notice headed: 

Page 66



31 

 

“WARNING” and stating “PERSONS PASSING BEYOND THIS POINT 

WILL FIND MATERIAL ON DISPLAY WHICH THEY MAY CONSIDER 

INDECENT. NO ADMITTANCE TO PERSONS UNDER 18 YEARS OF 

AGE”. 

6. There shall be displayed above the entrance or main entrance to the premises 

hereby licensed a notice in permanent form in letters not less than 2 cm high 

(approximately ¾ ") stating 'LICENSED SEX SHOP - LICENSEE [insert 

name of licensee]. 

7. The Licensee shall ensure that the public are not admitted to any parts of the 

premises other than those which have been approved by the Council save in 

the case of an emergency. 

8. Neither the Licensee nor any employee (or any person) shall seek to obtain 

custom for the sex shop by means of a personal solicitation outside the 

premises or in the vicinity of the premises. 

PREMISES 

 

9. No part of the interior of the premises where sex articles are displayed shall be 

visible to passers-by at any time. The obscuration, screening or other 

arrangements shall be to the satisfaction of and approved by the Council. 

10. Alterations or additions either internal or external, whether permanent or 

temporary to the structure, lighting or layout of the premises, shall not be 

made except with the prior approval of the Council. 

11. All parts of the premises shall be kept in a clean and wholesome condition to 

the complete satisfaction of the Council. 

12. Lighting in all parts of the premises shall be to a level approved by the 

Council and shall be in operation continuously during the hours when the sex 

shop is open to the public. 

13. (i) The windows of the licensed premises fronting the pavement shall not 

be obscured other than with the consent of the Council, but shall have 

suspended behind them, in a position approved by the Council, such 

opaque blinds or screens or such other arrangements as approved by 

the Council. 

(ii) Any such precautions as may be necessary shall be taken to maintain 

the screening of the shop windows during any cleaning operations. 

(iii) Nothing shall be displayed in the windows of the shop other than items 

of lingerie and dresses. 

(iv) No display or advertisement visible from the outside of the premises 

shall include a depiction or description of a sex article. 

14. Displays, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, 

device, representation, drawing, writing, or any other matter or thing (whether 

Page 67



32 

 

illuminated or not) shall not be exhibited so as to be visible from the outside of 

the premises except:- 

(i) Any notice of a size and in the form approved by the Council which is 

required to be displayed so as to be visible from outside the premises 

by law, or by any condition of a Licence granted by the Council. 

(ii) Such display, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, 

notice, device, representation, drawing, writing or any matter or thing 

as shall have been approved by the Council. 

15. Doors and openings which lead to parts of the premises to which the public are 

not permitted to have access, shall have notices placed over them marked 

“Private – no access to the public”. 

FILMS AND VIDEOS 

 

20. (i)   No film or video shall be exhibited, sold or supplied unless it has been 

passed by the British Board of Film Classification or such other 

authority performing a similar scrutinising function as may be notified 

to the licensee by the Council and bears a certificate to that effect and 

is a reproduction authorised by the owner of the copyright of the film 

or video so certified. 

(ii) The screen of the television should be no more than 12 inches and placed 

in such a position so as not to be visible to the public outside the 

premises. 

(iii) The screen shall be placed in such a position to the satisfaction of the 

Council. 

(iv) Only videos of clips of other videos for advertising purposes shall be 

shown and no individual clip shall be shown for longer than three 

minutes. 

(v) No film or video will be shown in its entirety. 

(vi) All trailers shown are to be approved by the British Board of Film 

Classification. 

(vii) A warning notice will be placed adjacent to the screen stating “For staff 

use only” or “No customers allowed to operate”. 

 

 

21.1 Sex cinemas - Standard Conditions to replace any already adopted 

 

Standard Conditions which shall apply to sex cinemas. 

 

1. The premises hereby licensed shall be used only for the purposes of a sex 

cinema as defined by Schedule 3 paragraph 3 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and shall not be used either wholly or in 

part for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever during the period in respect 

of which this licence is granted. 

2. The premises shall be open to members of the public during the hours of 

Monday to Friday, 10.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m.; Saturday 9.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m.; 

Sunday, 11.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.  

Page 68



33 

 

3. Where the Licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any 

change of director, company secretary or other person responsible for the 

management of the body is to be notified in writing to the Council within 14 

days of such change and such written details as the Council may require in 

respect of any new director, secretary or manager, are to be furnished within 

14 days of a request in writing from the Council. 

4. The Licensee or some responsible person nominated by him in writing for the 

purpose of managing the licensed premises in his absence and whose details 

have been supplied to and approved in writing by the Council, shall be in 

charge of and upon the premises during the whole time they are open to the 

public. 

Registers shall be kept on the premises showing the name and address of any 

person who is responsible for managing the sex cinema in the temporary 

absence of the person nominated pursuant to Licence condition 5. 

The Licensee shall ensure that during the hours the sex cinema is open to the 

public, every employee wears an identifying badge, of a type approved by the 

Council, indicating their name and that they are an employee. 

5. The following written matter shall be clearly visible from outside the sex 

establishment:- 

(v) The trading name of the premises as specified in the licence. 

(vi) The hours of opening to the public. 

(vii) The street number. 

(viii) In each entrance or doorway to the licensed premises in a prominent 

position so as to be readily visible to any person approaching the 

premises with a view to entering therein but without their having so to 

enter a notice headed: 

“WARNING” and stating “PERSONS PASSING BEYOND THIS POINT 

WILL FIND MATERIAL ON DISPLAY WHICH THEY MAY CONSIDER 

INDECENT. NO ADMITTANCE TO PERSONS UNDER 18 YEARS OF 

AGE”. 

6. There shall be displayed above the entrance or main entrance to the premises 

hereby licensed a notice in permanent form in letters not less than 2 cm high 

(approximately ¾ ") stating 'LICENSED SEX CINEMA - LICENSEE [insert 

name of licensee]. 

7. The Licensee shall ensure that the public are not admitted to any parts of the 

premises other than those which have been approved by the Council save in 

the case of an emergency. 

8. Neither the Licensee nor any employee (or any person) shall seek to obtain 

custom for the sex cinema by means of a personal solicitation outside the 

premises or in the vicinity of the premises. 

PREMISES 

Page 69



34 

 

 

9. No part of the interior of the premises where advertisements or stills from 

films are displayed shall be visible to passers-by at any time. The obscuration, 

screening or other arrangements shall be to the satisfaction of and approved by 

the Council. 

10. Alterations or additions either internal or external, whether permanent or 

temporary to the structure, lighting or layout of the premises, shall not be 

made except with the prior approval of the Council. 

11. All parts of the premises shall be kept in a clean and wholesome condition to 

the complete satisfaction of the Council. 

12. Lighting in all parts of the premises shall be to a level approved by the 

Council and shall be in operation continuously during the hours when the sex 

cinema is open to the public. 

13. (i) The windows of the licensed premises fronting the pavement shall not 

be obscured other than with the consent of the Council, but shall have 

suspended behind them, in a position approved by the Council, such 

opaque blinds or screens or such other arrangements as approved by 

the Council. 

(v) Any such precautions as may be necessary shall be taken to maintain 

the screening of the shop windows during any cleaning operations. 

(vi) Nothing shall be displayed in the windows of the shop other than items 

of lingerie and dresses. 

(vii) No display or advertisement visible from the outside of the premises 

shall include a depiction or description of a film or any images derived 

from a film. 

14. Displays, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, 

device, representation, drawing, writing, or any other matter or thing (whether 

illuminated or not) shall not be exhibited so as to be visible from the outside of 

the premises except:- 

(iii) Any notice of a size and in the form approved by the Council which is 

required to be displayed so as to be visible from outside the premises 

by law, or by any condition of a Licence granted by the Council. 

(iv) Such display, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, 

notice, device, representation, drawing, writing or any matter or thing 

as shall have been approved by the Council. 

15. Doors and openings which lead to parts of the premises to which the public are 

not permitted to have access, shall have notices placed over them marked 

“Private – no access to the public”. 

 

Page 70



35 

 

21.2 Sexual entertainment venues 
 

Conditions relating to sexual entertainment venues 
 

1. Total nudity (the exposing of genitals, anus, or pubic area) shall only be 

permitted on stage and at no other place in the premises. 

 

2. No sex act shall take place as part of the entertainment. 

 

3. The area proposed for striptease (involving complete nudity) shall:- 

a) be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street. 

b) be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the 

audience. 

 

4. The area proposed for lap dancing, table side dancing (involving partial 

nudity) shall be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the 

street. 

 

5. There shall be no physical contact between persons appearing on stage and the 

audience. 

 

6. The entertainment shall be given only by performers/entertainers and the 

audience shall not be permitted to participate. 

 

7. Persons appearing on stage shall have direct access to the dressing room 

without passing through or in close proximity to the audience. 

 

8. Lap dancers/table side dancers shall immediately dress at the conclusion of 

each performance. 

 

9. The licensee, performer and any person concerned in the organisation or 

management of the entertainment shall not encourage, or permit 

encouragement of the audience to throw money at or otherwise give gratuities 

to the performers (except as permitted by condition 11 below). 

 

10. Entertainment provided by topless dancers to customers seated at tables may 

only take part in those parts of the premises approved by the Council. No 

audience participation shall be permitted. 

 

11. There shall be no physical contact between customers and the dancers except 

for the placing of money or tokens into the hands of the dancer at the 

beginning or conclusion of the performance. Whilst the dancers are 

performing there shall be a minimum distance of one metre between the 

dancer and the seated customers.  Notices to this effect shall clearly be 

displayed at each table and at the entrance to the premises. 

 

12. Should a customer attempt to touch a dancer, the dancer must withdraw and 

report the matter to her / his manager / supervisor. 

 

Page 71



36 

 

13. Topless dancers shall at all times wear a G-string or similar piece of clothing 

that covers the pubic area, genitals and anus. 

 

14. The Licensee shall immediately investigate any report of contact, misconduct 

or provocation by a customer or dancer. 

 

15. No telephone numbers, addresses or information leading to any further 

meeting may be passed from customer to dancer or vice versa. 

 

16. No dancer may perform if they are drunk. 

 

17. No member of the public shall be admitted or allowed to remain in the dance 

area if they appear to be drunk. 

 

18. All members of the public shall remain seated in the dance area other than 

when they arrive, depart, visit the lavatory or go to the bar. 

 

19. Members of the public shall not be permitted to congregate in the bar area for 

any purpose except to order or collect drinks from the bar. 

 

20. Signs must be displayed at the entrance to the dance area stating:-  “Any 

customer attempting to make physical contact with a dancer will be asked to 

leave”.  Signs must be sufficient in size, legible and positioned so as to be read 

by all customers entering the dance area. 

 

21. No dancer shall perform any sexually explicit or lewd act. 

 

22. Whilst dancing takes place not less than [insert agreed number]2 Door 

Supervisors licensed by the Security Industry Agency shall be employed in the 

part of the premises used for dancing at a minimum of 1:50 customers on the 

premises unless alternative arrangements are approved by the Council. Door 

supervisors shall carry out regular monitoring of all areas of the premises to 

which the public have access and shall intervene promptly if necessary to  

ensureto ensure compliance with licence conditions by customers and 

performers. Door supervisors shall regularly monitor the area immediately 

outside the premises for a distance of 30 metres in all directions and take steps 

to deal with (by alerting the Police if necessary) any unsavoury activity that 

may be attracted to the vicinity due to the nature of the business. When 

performers leave the premisespremises, they are to be escorted to their cars or 

taxi by a door supervisor or member of staff. 

 

23. CCTV shall be installed to cover all areas where dancing will take place. All 

cameras shall continually record whilst the premises are open to the public and 

the video recordings shall be kept available for a minimum of 28 days and 

shall provide a record of the time and date stamping on the recording. 

Recordings shall be made available to an authorised officer of the Council or a 

Police Officer together with facilities for viewing.  The recordings for the 

preceding two days shall be made available immediately on request. 

Recordings outside this period shall be made available on 24 hours notice. 

CCTV shall be maintained in good working order and kept under suitable 

Page 72



37 

 

security to prevent unauthorised access. Access shall be restricted tot eh the 

licence holder and no more than two designated persons authorised by the 

licence holder as deputy in writing. No cctv is to be copied, given away or 

sold (except as required by the  Policethe Police/Authority for 

investigation/enforcement purposes. Notices shall be displayed informing 

customers of the presence of CCTV) 

 

 

POOL CONDITIONS FOR CONSIDERATION ON A CASE-BY-CASE 

BASIS  

 

Premises 

 

 

24. The premises shall only   permit adult entertainment between the hours of 20:00 

and 04:00 hours the following morning as determined by the licensing committee. 

25. Only activities which have previously been agreed in writing by the Authority 

shall take place.  

26. The agreed activities shall take place only in  designatedin designated areas 

approved by the Authority. 

27. Rules shall be produced by  theby the licensee for customers indicating conduct 

that its deemed acceptable. These rules shall be prominently displayed at all tables 

and  atand at other appropriate locations within the club. 

28. A clear notice shall be displayed inside the entrance to the premises in the 

following terms : striptease  stylestriptease style entertainment takes place on these   

premises. No persons under 18 shall be permitted in the premises.  

29. The performance must not  benot be visible from the street and any person who 

can be observed from the outside of the premises must be  properly and decently 

dressed. 

30. When the premises are open for relevant entertainment, no person under the age of 

18 shall be permitted to be on the premises, Anyone appearing to be under  theunder 

the age of 25 years shall be asked to produce valid  photographic identification. If this 

is not produced the individual shall be refused access. 

 

Management and licensee 

 

31. Where the licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body any change of 

director company secretary or other person responsible for the management of the 

body is to be notified in writing to the Authority within 14 days of such change. 

32. The premises shall maintain a refusals log whereby any occasion a person is 

refused entry shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an 

authorised officer of the Authority.  

 

Conditions regarding performers 

 

33. The audience must at all times remain fully clothed.  

 

34. Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years and the licence holder or 

nominated deputy authorised in writing shall satisfy him/herself that this is the case, 

by requesting valid photographic ID, if necessarynecessary, prior to the performance. 

Page 73



38 

 

 

35. A signing in register shall be kept at the premises that records the time the 

performer starts and finishes at the premises. This shall be made available for 

immediate inspection by a Police Officer or authorised officers of the Authority. 

 

36. During any performance there must be no physical contact between the performer 

and any member of the viewing public.   

 

37. No performances shall include any sexual act with other performers. 

38. No performances shall include any sexual act with objects. 

 

39. There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless the 

Authority has agreed in writing that the area may be used for performances of sexual 

entertainment. 

40. At the completion of the Relevant Entertainment the performers shall dress 

themselves immediately and leave the designated performance area. Performers not 

engaged in performing shall not remain in any area in a state of undress. 

41. Performers are not to solicit, exchange addresses, telephone numbers or social 

media contact details with customers, liaise with customers of the premises, or incite 

customers to purchase alcoholic drinks. 

42. An appropriate room shall be set aside to provide a changing and rest area for 

performers. Access to this room shall be restricted to performers only, whilst the 

performers are on the premises and shall be marked on the plan of the premises. 

43. Any bodily contact between entertainers or performers or any movement that 

indicates sexual activity or simulated sex between entertainers or performers is strictly 

forbidden. 

44. Entertainers or performers not performing must not be in a licensed area in a state 

of undress. 

45. There shall be prominently and legibly displayed a comprehensive tariff of all 

charges and prices in respect of relevant entertainment, including any charge for the 

company of any person working at the premises, which shall be placed in such a 

position that it can at all times be easily and conveniently read by persons inside the 

premises. 

46. Literature and contact details of organisations that provide advice and counselling 

on matters relating to: 

(a) Modern slavery, 

(b) Domestic abuse, 

(c) Coercive control, 

(d) Rape and sexual assault, 

shall be made available to performers free of charge in their changing area. 

  

Page 74



39 

 

 

 

22 Appendix Six - Grounds for Granting or Refusing an Application 
 

1. Case-law has determined that the Licensing Sub Committee may not 
refuse a sex establishment licence solely on the ground that the 
establishment may cause offence. (R v Coventry City Council ex parte 
Quitelynn Ltd (1985)).  

 
2. The local authority must refuse an application for a licence on any of the 

grounds listed in paragraph 12 of Schedule 3 to the Act.  A licence shall 
not be granted to:  

a) To a person under the age of 18;  
b) To a person who is for the time being disqualified because they are 

a licence holder whose licence has been revoked within the 
previous 12 months;  

c) To a person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in the 
United Kingdom or who was not so resident throughout the period 
of six months immediately preceding the date when the application 
was made; 

d) To a body corporate which is not incorporated in the United 
Kingdom; or  

e) To a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately 
preceding the date when the application was made, been refused 
the grant or renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel or 
stall in respect of which the application is made, unless the refusal 
has been reversed on appeal. 

 
3. The local authority may refuse to grant an application for a licence where 

any of the matters mentioned in paragraph 12 (2) and (3) of Schedule 3 of 
the Act apply.  An application for the grant or renewal of a licence may be 
refused on any of the grounds listed below or on several of those grounds.  
An application for the transfer of a licence may be refused on either or both 
of the grounds listed in a) or b) below.  An application for a variation may 
be refused but the Act does not specify on what grounds. 

a) The applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having 
been convicted of any offence or for any other reason.  

b) That if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the 
business to which it relates would be managed by or carried on for 
the benefit of a person other than the applicant, who would be 
refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made 
the application himself.  

c) That the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the 
time the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number 
which the authority considers is appropriate for that locality.  

d) That the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, 
having regard to the:  

i. character of the relevant locality; or  
ii. use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or  

Page 75



40 

 

iii. layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel 
or stall in respect of which the application is made. 

 
Relevant locality means: 

a) in relation to the premises, the locality where they are situated; and 
b) in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is desired to 

use it as a sex establishment. 
 
 

Page 76



1 
 

Waverley Borough Council 
 

Policy Statement for the 

Licensing of 

Sex Establishments 

 
 

 
Schedule 3 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions Act 1982), as amended by 

Section 27 Policing and Crime Act 2009 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 
 

Adopted on 21 February 2012 
Last Reviewed 2021 to have effect 01 Jan 2022 till 01 Jan 2027 

Page 77

ANNEXE 2



2 
 

Index 

 

1   Introduction................................................................................................................................ 4 
2   General Policy Matters ............................................................................................................ 4 

2.1 Overarching Objectives............................................................................................................ 4 
2.2 Adoption Process ...................................................................................................................... 5 
2.3 Policy reviews ............................................................................................................................ 6 

2.4 Sharing of Information .............................................................................................................. 6 
2.5 Policy Application ...................................................................................................................... 6 

2.6 Enforcement .............................................................................................................................. 6 
2.7 Legal Interpretation................................................................................................................... 6 
2.8 Other Legislation ....................................................................................................................... 6 

2.9 Crime and Disorder Act 1998.................................................................................................. 7 
2.10 Equality Act 2010 ...................................................................................................................... 7 

3  Appropriate Number.................................................................................................................. 7 
4  Video Sales ................................................................................................................................ 8 
5  Sex establishment definition .................................................................................................... 8 

5.1 Sex shop .................................................................................................................................... 8 
5.2 Sex cinemas .............................................................................................................................. 9 

5.3 Sexual Entertainment Venue .................................................................................................. 9 
6   Exemptions.............................................................................................................................. 10 
7   Waivers .................................................................................................................................... 10 

8   Applications ............................................................................................................................. 11 
8.1  Submission of an Application............................................................................................... 11 

8.2  Application fees ...................................................................................................................... 11 
8.3  Advertising Applications........................................................................................................ 11 
8.3.1  Newspaper advertisement ................................................................................................... 11 

8.3.2  Local advertising.................................................................................................................... 11 
8.3.3  Council website...................................................................................................................... 12 

8.4   Consultations ......................................................................................................................... 12 
8.4.1   Copies to the Police ............................................................................................................. 12 
8.4.2   Police observations. ............................................................................................................. 12 

8.5   Objections .............................................................................................................................. 13 
8.6   Sub-Committee Hearings .................................................................................................... 13 

8.7   Adjournments of hearings.................................................................................................... 14 
8.8   Criteria for determining an application............................................................................... 14 
8.8.1   Fitness of the Applicant ....................................................................................................... 14 

8.8.2   Licence Holder ...................................................................................................................... 15 
8.8.3   Number of sex establishments ........................................................................................... 15 

8.8.4   Locality and Premises Policy .............................................................................................. 15 
8.9    Standard Conditions ............................................................................................................ 17 
8.10    Duration of licences ............................................................................................................. 17 

8.11    Grounds for Refusal ............................................................................................................ 17 
8.12    Statements of Reasons for decisions ............................................................................... 17 

9     Appeals .................................................................................................................................. 17 
10 Variation of Licences ........................................................................................................... 18 
11 Renewals and Transfers ..................................................................................................... 18 

12 Cancellation of Licences ..................................................................................................... 19 
13 Revocation of Licences ....................................................................................................... 19 

14 Offences................................................................................................................................. 19 

Page 78

file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308416
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308417
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308418
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308419
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308420
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308421
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308422
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308423
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308424
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308425
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308426
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308427
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308428
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308429
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308430
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308431
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308432
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308433
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308434
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308435
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308436
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308437
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308438
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308439
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308440
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308441
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308442
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308443
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308444
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308445
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308446
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308447
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308448
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308449
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308450
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308451
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308452
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308453
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308454
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308455
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308456
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308457
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308458
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308459
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308460
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308461
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308462
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308463


3 
 

15 Amendments to the Policy .................................................................................................. 20 
16 Appendix One - Application Form for New, renewal, transfer or variation of a 

Licence ................................................................................................................................... 21 
17 Appendix Two – Newspaper advertisement .................................................................... 28 

18 Appendix Three – Public Notice of Application ............................................................... 29 
19 Appendix Four – Scheme of Delegation of Powers ........................................................ 31 
20 Appendix Five – Standard Conditions............................................................................... 33 

20.1    Sex shops ............................................................................................................................. 33 
20.2    Sex cinemas ......................................................................................................................... 35 

20.3    Sexual entertainment venues ............................................................................................ 38 
21 Appendix Six - Grounds for Granting or Refusing an Application ................................ 43 
  

Page 79

file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308464
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308465
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308465
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308466
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308467
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308468
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308469
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308470
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308471
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308472
file:///C:/Users/phughe/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/L04SUWQZ/Sex%20Establishments%20Policy%202022%20for%20LR%20Nov%202021%20(002).doc%23_Toc295308473


4 
 

1 Introduction 

 

Section 2 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 enables a 

local authority to adopt the provisions of Schedule 3 of the Act.  These provisions 

relate to the control, by way of licensing, of sex establishments. 

 

This legislation was amended, with effect from 1st April 2010, by the provisions of 

Section 27 of the Policing and Crime Act 2009 to include sex encounter 

establishments. 

 

Sex establishment now means a 

 sex shop 

 sex cinema or 

 sex encounter establishment 
 

Waverley Borough Council adopted Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act for the licensing of 

sex shops and sex cinemas to apply from the 01 June 1983, and adopted the new 

provisions relating to sexual entertainment venues (section 27) on 21 February 2012. 

 

The Council appointed 01 May 2012 as the date on which the provisions relating to 

sexual entertainment venues came into effect. 

 

This document sets out both guidance on the legislation and the Council’s policies 

which will be taken into account when dealing with matters under this legislation. 

 
 
2 General Policy Matters 
 

2.1 Overarching Objectives 

 

Whilst there is no legal requirement for the Council to adopt a policy in relation to the 

application of this legislation it is considered beneficial for the Council to do so. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 80



5 
 

2.2 Adoption Process 
 

Date Action Closing Date For 

Comments 

29 September 

2011 

Sex Establishment consultation 

process placed before the Licensing 

Committee 

 

04 October 2011 Start of Consultation 15 November 2011 

15 November 

2011 

End of Consultation  

15 December 

2011 

Report to licensing Committee on 

Consultation 

Officers requested for 

further info and to return 

16 February 2012 

16 February 2011 Further report to committee. 

 

Adopted - Yes 

Policy accepted 

21 February 2012 Full Council to consider report and 

formally adopt Policy 

Policy formally adopted 

16 March 2012 1st Public notice of adoption  

23 March 2012 2nd Public notice of adoption  

01 May 2012 Date Policy to came into force.  

Most Recent Review 

14 June 2021 Licensing Committee re 

Consultation (Face Item) 

 

19 July 2021 Consultation (12 weeks) 11 Oct 2021 

08 Nov 2021 Report to licensing Committee on 

Consultation 

 

14 Dec 2021 Full Council to consider report  

31 Jan 2022 Date Policy to come into force.  

 

The consultation was placed on the Council’s website, sent to all the Relevant 

Authorities, Parish/Town councils, Waverley Borough Councillors, Faith Forum 

Full Council considered and formally adopted Policy 

Waverley advertised that it was consulting on the policy in the Surrey Advertiser on 

Friday 07 October 2016.with a final date for written comments of 18 November 2016 

(6 weeks). 

Page 81



6 
 

2.3 Policy reviews 
 

This policy will be reviewed every five years or at such shorter periods as is felt 

necessary. 

 
2.4 Sharing of Information 
 

The Council will share with other enforcement bodies, information supplied by 

applicants, or acquired in the course of exercising licensing functions, where it is 
lawful to do so. In particular, personal information will only be disclosed in 

accordance with the Data Protection Act 2018. This may include requests from the 
Audit Commission or other regulatory agencies where this is necessary for the 
detection or prevention of crime or required by law or in connection with legal 

proceedings. Where applicable, it will be under the relevant Information Sharing 
Protocol. 
 
2.5 Policy Application 
 

This document contains the policies adopted by Waverley Borough Council for the 

permits and licences.  These policies will normally be applied in every case but 
where there are exceptional or unusual circumstances then these policies and 
conditions may be departed from.  Any departure from these policies will only be as 

approved by the Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services. 
 
2.6 Enforcement 
 

Failure to comply with legislative requirements is an offence.  In determining what 
enforcement action to pursue in respect of offences, regard will be had to the 

individual circumstances, the Council’s policies with regard to enforcement and other 
national guidance, such as the Crown Prosecutor’s Code of Practice. 
 
2.7 Legal Interpretation 
 

This document contains advice regarding the legal interpretation as to what 
constitutes a sex establishment and other matters such as when a licence may be 

required, and how applications may be made. However, this document should not be 
considered to be an authoritative statement of the law. The statute law is more 

authoritative but ultimately, interpretation of the law is a matter for the Courts. 
 
 
2.8 Other Legislation 
 

Planning, Building Control and alcohol licensing regimes are separate licensing 

processes. An application for a sex establishment licence cannot be a re-run of a 
planning application or of an application under the Licensing Act 2003 as different 
considerations will apply. However, the granting of a licence which involves a 

Page 82



7 
 

material alteration to a building would not relieve the applicant of the need to apply 
for planning permission or building control consent, a premises licence or any other 

licence or consent. 
 

The Licensing Act makes requirements for a Premises Licence, in general terms, 
where alcohol is sold or supplied, where films are shown or where entertainment, 

including live entertainment, is provided and a licensed sex establishment does not 
exempt an organiser from also having any necessary licences under the Licensing 
Act 2003 (as amended). 

 

There are circumstances when another licence or consent, such as a planning 

consent, will impose conditions different to those imposed by a licence for a sex 
establishment.  Where this happens whichever regime has the more restrictive 
conditions on a particular aspect is the requirement that must be complied with.  For 

example, where a planning consent and a sex establishment impose different 
opening times then whichever are the more restrictive opening time are those which 

must be followed. 
 
2.9 Crime and Disorder Act 1998 
 

Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act imposes a duty on the Council to exercise 

its functions with due regard to the prevention of crime and disorder, including 

antisocial behaviour, the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances.  In 

considering applications regard will be had as to whether the premises may 

contribute to any of these aspects. 

2.10 Equality Act 2010 

 

Section 149 of the Equality Act obliges Councils to have due regard to the need to 
eliminate discrimination, harassment, and victimisation; to advance equality of 
opportunity between sexes and to foster good relations between the sexes.  In 

applying this policy this authority will seek to: 
protect performers from harassment and any threat to their dignity by requiring 

proper supervision and facilities, 
ensure that women are as welcome in licensed premises as men are, 
ensure that the fears of women using the vicinity of the premises are considered in 

decisions as to the location of licensed premises. 
 

 
3 Appropriate Number 

 

The legislation allows for a local authority to determine the number of sex 
establishments which it considers appropriate for that locality.  Waverley Borough 

Council has not determined any localities, nor have they adopted an appropriate 
number for any such localities. 

 

Page 83



8 
 

4 Video Sales 

 

18R videos may only be sold from a licensed sex shop.  The fact that the sales of 
such videos may constitute a very small part of the shop sales and that the shop 

would otherwise not constitute a sex shop is not relevant.  Such videos may not be 
supplied by way of mail or telephone order. 

 

5 Sex establishment definition 

 

The definition of a sex establishment includes a sex shop, a sex cinema, or a sexual 

entertainment venue. 

 

5.1 Sex shop 

 

A sex shop is defined as meaning any premises, vehicle, vessel or stall used for a 

business which consists to a significant degree of selling, hiring, exchanging, 

lending, displaying or demonstrating: 

 sex articles, 

 other things intended for use in connection with, or for the purpose of 

stimulating or encouraging sexual activity, or 

 acts of force or restraint which are associated with sexual activity. 

 

No single factor is decisive when considering whether a shop sells sex articles to a 

significant degree.  In deciding what constitutes a sex shop, each case will be judged 

on the individual facts, but the following criteria may be taken into account when 

determining the question of “significant degree”. 

 

 The absolute number of items offered for sale i.e. numbers of different sex 
articles offered for sale compared to the number of different non sex articles 

offered for sale.  In this context where the number of sex articles exceeds 
20% of total number of items for sale this would be considered to be 

significant.  Where sex articles are sold in multiple packs then the multipack 
will be considered as one item. 

 The absolute number of items sold i.e. numbers of different sex articles sold 

compared to the number of different non sex articles sold.  In this context 
where the number of sex articles exceeds 20% of total number of items sold 

this would be considered to be significant.  Where sex articles are sold in 
multiple packs then the multipack will be considered as one item. 

 The character of the remainder of the business. 

 The floor area occupied by displays of sex articles as opposed to the floor 
area occupied by non sex articles.  In this context floor area means the 

display and adjacent walkways.  Where a floor area occupied by displays of 

Page 84



9 
 

sex articles exceeds 20% of the area occupied by displays of non sex articles 
then this would be considered significant. 

 Whether sex articles can be seen by members of the public without them 
having to enter the shop either because the articles are in a window display or 

can be seen through the shop doors. 

 Gross sales, in financial terms, of sex articles as compared with non sex 

articles.  In this context where the sales of sex articles exceeds 20% of the 
total sales then this would be considered to be significant. 

 

Where a large premises is used by a number of stallholders, some of whom sell sex 

articles, then the use of the large premises as a whole will be considered. 

 

5.2 Sex cinemas 

 

This means, principally and in summary, any premises vehicle, vessel or stall used 

to a significant degree for the exhibition of moving pictures which portray, deal with 

or relate to, or are intended to stimulate sexual activity or acts of force or restraint 

associated with sexual activity.  This does not include a dwelling to which the public 

are not admitted thus excluding videos etc played by a person in their own home. 

 

5.3 Sexual Entertainment Venue 

 

In summary, this means any premises where relevant entertainment is provided 

before a live audience for the financial gain of the organiser or the performer and 

which is a live performance, or live display of nudity, which can be reasonably 

assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating 

the audience. 

 

Display of nudity means; 

 In the case of a woman, exposure of her nipples, pubic area, genitals, or anus 

 In the case of a man exposure of his pubic area genitals or anus. 
 

“Audience” includes an audience of one. 

“Premises” includes any vessel vehicle or stall. 

 

Sexual entertainment venues are likely to include any premises, vehicle, vessel or 

stall which provides lap dancing, pole dancing, table dancing, strip shows, peep 

shows, or live sex show. 

 

Page 85



10 
 

6 Exemptions 

 

The sale, supply or demonstration of articles which are manufactured for use 

primarily for the purposes of birth control, or which primarily relate to birth control, do 

not fall within the definition of a sex article.  In this context where an article has been 

designed to act both for the purposes of birth control and to act as a stimulant then 

the article will be taken to fall within this exemption. 

 

A licence for a sexual entertainment venue is not required where:  

 relevant entertainment has not been provided on more than eleven occasions 
in any twelve month period and  

 on no occasion did the entertainment last more than 24 hours and  

 on no occasion was relevant entertainment provided within one month of the 

of any previous such entertainment 
 

By virtue of Section 11A of the Licensing Act 2003 the provision of relevant 

entertainment at a premises where a licence as a sexual entertainment venue is 

required, regardless of whether the requirement has been waived, is not regarded as 

the provision of regulated entertainment under the provisions of the Licensing Act 

2003. 

7 Waivers 

Under the provisions of Paragraph 7 of Schedule 3 of the Act, the Council may waive 

the requirement to hold a licence in any case where it is considered that to require a 

licence would be unreasonable or inappropriate. The power to waive licensing 

requirements is not a substitute for licensing and applicants will be expected to 

demonstrate exceptional circumstances in justifying why the licensing requirement 

should be waived in their case.  

Waivers may be for such period as the Council think fit but may be terminated at any 

time 28 days after notice of termination is given.  The power to grant such waivers 

has been delegated to the Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services in 

consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee.  In considering 

applications for waivers the general approach will be; 

Waivers must be sought in respect of a temporary event.  

Waivers will not be granted for events that include relevant entertainment 

recognising that a statutory exemption already exists for infrequent sexual 

entertainment. 

Licensable activities that would normally have required a licence must principally be 

ancillary and kept to an absolute minimum to other activities not licensable under the 

provisions of the 1982 Act. 

Waivers will only be considered on merits in exceptional circumstances.  

Page 86



11 
 

8 Applications 

 

8.1 Submission of an Application 
 

An application for a sex establishment licence must be made in writing on the 

application form included at Appendix One, must be accompanied by the relevant 

fee and by a plan of the premises proposed to be licensed at a scale of not greater 

than 1:100 with the area to be licensed outlined in red, together with a location plan 

drawn at a scale of not less than 1:1250 and showing all  means on ingress and 

egress and parts used in common with any other building.  

 

If the payment is invalid the application will be considered invalid.  Applications may 

be lodged electronically but the application will not be considered as being validly 

lodged until such time as the fee has also been paid. For all queries, please contact 

the licensing team on 01483 523219 or by email licensing@waverley.gov.uk 

 

8.2 Application fees 

 

An application for the grant, renewal, variation, transfer or change of licence details 

of a licence shall be accompanied by the appropriate fee. (Please contact the 

licensing department for details of current fees)  

 

Where an application is refused, or is withdrawn before being determined, the 

application fee will be retained although a refund of that element relating to 

enforcement of a licence may be made.  

 

8.3 Advertising Applications 

 

8.3.1 Newspaper advertisement 

The application must be advertised by the applicant using the form contained at 

Appendix 2.  Such advertisements must be made by publishing the advertisement in 

a local newspaper (a local paper which has been agreed with the Licensing 

Department) circulating in the Waverley area.  The advertisement shall be published 

not later than seven days after the date of the application to the Council. 

8.3.2 Local advertising 
The applicant shall also place notices on or near the premises to which the 

application relates and where they can conveniently be read by the public from the 

exterior of the premises using the form of notice contained at Appendix 3 and where 

the premises cover an area of more than 50 square metres, a further identical notice 

must be displayed every 50 metres along the external perimeter abutting any 

Page 87



12 
 

highway.  Such notices shall be a minimum of A4 in size with the text printed as a 

minimum of 14 point.  The notice shall be printed in black on yellow paper.  These 

notices shall be displayed for a minimum of 21 days beginning with the date that the 

application is made to the Council.  Where a notice is removed or vandalised it shall 

be replaced by the applicant, forthwith.  If a notice is posted, then removed and not 

replaced by the applicant and is absent for a substantial part of the 21 days then the 

application may be deemed to be invalid and the applicant may be required to start 

the advertising period again. 

8.3.3 Council website 
Applicants should be aware that the Council will advertise the receipt of an 

application on our website.  Similarly details of licences issued by the Council will 

also be placed on the Council’s website. 

 
8.4 Consultations 

 

8.4.1 Copies to the Police 

A copy of any application for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence shall be sent 
to the Chief Officer of Police for the local area within 7 days of the application being 

made to the Council.  Where the application is made electronically this will be done 
by the Council, where the application is submitted by any other means the 
responsibility for giving copies of the application to the Chief Officer of Police is that 

of the applicant. 
 

On receipt of your application consultation will be carried out with the Police, and the 
Council may pass applications to other relevant authorities and take their views into 
account. 

 
Other relevant authorities may be; 

 
 a/ Fire Authority 
 b/ Trading Standards 

 c/ Health & Safety at Work 
 d/ Local Planning Authority 

 e/ Local Authority – Environmental Health 
 f/ Protection of Children from Harm 
 g/ Licensing Authority (other than relevant licensing authority) in whose  

 area part of the premises is situated.  
 

In addition, consultation will, where practicable, be undertaken with local residents 
associations, parish councils, local ward members and in some cases neighbouring 
properties/residents. 

 
8.4.2 Police observations. 

In considering any application for the grant, renewal or transfer of any licence the 
Council will take into account any observations made to it by the Police or other 
relevant authority or persons it has consulted with. 

 

Page 88



13 
 

8.5 Objections 

 

Any person objecting to an application for the grant, renewal, or transfer of a licence 

shall give notice in writing of their objection to the Licensing Department of the 

Council stating in general terms the grounds of their objection not later than 28 days 

after the date of the application.  Where the Council receive such an objection they 

shall inform the applicant of the general terms of the objection before considering the 

application.  The Council will not, without the consent of the objector, reveal the 

name or address of the objector when they notify the applicant. In considering any 

application for the grant, renewal or transfer of any licence the Council will take into 

account any objections received by the Council. 

 

8.6 Sub-Committee Hearings 

 

All applications will be placed before a Sub Committee of three Councillors chosen 

from members of the Licensing Committee, regardless of whether any objections or 

observations have been received.  Councillors, in whose ward the premises are, or 

will be, located, shall not sit on any Sub Committee hearing the application. 

The Council shall afford an applicant for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a 

licence an opportunity to be heard by the Licensing Sub Committee before refusing 

such an application. 

Any valid objector, or the Police, shall be permitted to be heard at any hearing and 

they may be represented at the hearing so long as they shall have either notified the 

Council in writing as to who their nominated representative is or else nominates them 

in person at the hearing.  Only objectors who have lodged an objection in writing with 

the Council within 28 days of the application having been made to the Council shall 

be considered to be a valid objector.  If objectors do not wish to speak before the 

Sub Committee then their written objections shall be taken into consideration. 

The hearing shall consist of a conversation between the applicant and the Sub 

Committee, and the objectors and the Sub Committee and no examination or cross 

examination between the applicant, or their representatives, and the objector, or their 

representatives, shall be permitted. 

An agenda for the meeting of the Sub Committee will be prepared which will include 

the salient points of the application, objections to the application and any 

observations received from the Police. 

The order of hearing for such a Sub-committee hearing will be: 
 

 Introduction of the parties present; 

 Outline by the Licensing Officer of the application under consideration; 

 Sub-committee Members to ask questions of the Licensing Officer; 

 Applicant to address the Sub-committee regarding the application; 

 Licensing Officer to ask questions of the applicant; 

Page 89



14 
 

 Sub-committee Members to ask questions of the applicant; 

 Objectors, if any, to the application to make representations regarding the 

application; 

 Licensing Officer to ask questions of the objectors, if any; 

 Sub Committee to ask questions of the objectors, if any; 

 Objectors to make closing statement 

 Licensing Officer to make closing statement; 

 Applicant to make closing statement; 

 Sub-committee will withdraw to consider their decision; and 

 Sub-committee will announce their decision together with reasons for their 

decision 
 
Where there are a number of objectors then the Chairman of the Sub Committee 

may, at his discretion, limit the amount of time that each objector wishing to be heard 
will have in which to make his representation.  Similarly the Chairman of the Sub 

Committee may also limit the amount of time which the applicant will have in which 
to present their application. 
 

8.7 Adjournments of hearings 

 

Where an application is made to the Council for an adjournment of a hearing then an 

adjournment will generally be granted where not granting the adjournment would 

deny the applicant or objectors a fair hearing.  Where the reason for the adjournment 

was reasonably foreseeable or alternative arrangements could be made to allow the 

hearing to proceed an adjournment is unlikely.  Each application for an adjournment 

will be judged on its individual merits. 

8.8 Criteria for determining an application 

 

The Council will not take into account whether the granting of a licence may cause 

offence.  To do so is not legal. 

The Council will take into account those conditions which would require it to refuse a 

licence, as set out in Appendix Six. 

The Council will take into account the following criteria since they are the only 

grounds specified in the Act for refusal of a licence application. 

8.8.1 Fitness of the Applicant 
The grounds of refusal detailed under Paragraph 12 (3)(a) attached at Appendix 6 

include that the applicant is unsuitable by reason of having been convicted of an 

offence or for any other reason. 

An applicant must, therefore, be a fit and proper person to hold a licence.  In 

determining an applicant’s suitability for a new licence, or a transfer of an existing 

licence, the Sub-Committee will take into account: 

 The relevant knowledge and experience of the applicant 

Page 90



15 
 

 Information resulting from the operation of any existing or previous licence(s) 
held by the applicant in this or any other Council area 

 Any report about the applicant or the conduct of licensed premises received 
from statutory objectors. 

 

Whilst every application will be considered on its merits, the Council is unlikely to 

grant an application from any person, or for the benefit of any person, with criminal 

convictions, cautions, etc. 

 The Rehabilitation of Offenders Act 1974.  In considering applications convictions 

which are relevant to the licensing of the premises and which are serious in nature 

may be taken into account. 

8.8.2 Licence Holder 
If the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred whether the business would 

be managed or carried on for the benefit of a person other than the applicant.  If this 

is the case the Council will consider whether that person would themselves be 

refused the grant, renewal or transfer of the licence if they had made the application 

themselves. 

8.8.3 Number of sex establishments 
The Council may determine that for a particular locality that there is an “appropriate 

number” for the number of sex establishments and may refuse an application if this 

were to mean that the appropriate number was equalled or exceeded.  The Council 

has not set an appropriate number of sex establishments either for the whole 

Borough or for any part of the Borough. 

8.8.4 Locality and Premises Policy 

The Council will consider whether the grant or renewal of a licence would be 

inappropriate having regard to the following topics. 

 

 
8.8.4.1 Character of the locality 

The Council will consider the premises use and its impact on the character of the 

locality. 

The Council will, in particular, take the following matters into account: 

a) type of activity i.e. sex shop, sex cinema or sex encounter venue, 

b) duration of proposed licence, 

c) proposed hours of operation, 

d) layout and condition of the premises. 
 

 

Page 91



16 
 

8.8.4.2 Premises in the vicinity 
The Council will consider the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put.  

Where the licensed premises are within a larger complex e.g. shopping centre or 

multi-use building, this will include the nature of other activities carried on within the 

complex or building. 

Whilst every application is considered on its merits the Council will not normally grant 

an application where the premises, vehicle, vessel, or stall is located within: 

 areas that are exclusively, or predominantly, residential in character; or 

 the vicinity of residential properties or 

 premises, areas or access routes to such areas which are designed for or 
attract children or families, such as school, play areas, parks, children’s 

centres, youth clubs, nurseries or leisure facilities, or similar establishments or 

   200 meters of a school or any other premises used by children or vulnerable 

adults or 

 a publicly accessible open space that is regularly frequented by children or 
vulnerable adults or 

   200 meters of a place of worship or 

 Any facilities used for cultural or leisure activities (e.g. museums, art galleries, 

libraries) or 

 educational establishments or 

 community facilities and public buildings or 

 any area which is a focus for tourist activity or 

 areas with a history of and/or a current level of recorded crime or social 
difficulties that give the police cause for concern; or 

 areas that are likely to be adversely affected due to the cumulative impact of 

sex establishments or 

  200 meters of an existing sex establishment. 

 

8.8.4.3 Premises Layout 

 

The Council will consider the layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, 

vessel, or stall in respect of which the application is made.  This may include: 

 condition of the premises 

 proposed external appearance including signs, advertising, window layout and 

design 

 visibility of the internal areas from outside, including window and door blinds, 
and lobbied areas for access and egress to any public area or street 

 seating and stage layout 

 booths or cubicles within the premises 

 provision of sanitary accommodation 

 provision for facilities for performers including dressing rooms, sanitary 

accommodation, and separate staff entrances 

 access from or to other unlicensed parts of the building where the premises 

do not form a detached building 

 ease of access for the disabled. 

Page 92



17 
 

 

8.8.4.4 Relevant locality 
In this context locality does not mean the Borough as a whole. Locality will start with 

the proposed location in the context of its surrounding area.  The Council will not 

define the locality using strict boundaries on a map nor by placing the premises at 

the centre of an imaginary circle. 

 

8.9 Standard Conditions 

 

If a licence application is granted then the licence will be subject to standard terms 

and conditions as set out in Appendix 5 unless either: 

 the applicant has applied for these to be varied or omitted and such an 
application has been granted by the Sub-Committee determining the 

application or 

 the Sub-Committee have themselves decided to vary or omit any of the 

standard conditions. 
 

8.10 Duration of licences 

 

All licences granted shall remain in force for a period of one year or such shorter 

period as the Sub Committee think fit. 

 

8.11 Grounds for Refusal 

 

Details of the grounds under which the Council may refuse a licence are set out in 

Appendix 6. 

 

8.12 Statements of Reasons for decisions 

 

Where an application for the grant, renewal, transfer or variation of a licence is 

refused or granted with conditions or varied conditions, the Council will provide a 

statement in writing of the reasons for their decision within 7 days of the completion 

of the Sub Committee hearing. 

 

9 Appeals 

 

Subject to the detailed provisions contained within the Act, the following persons 

may usually make an appeal against the decision of a Licensing Sub Committee 

Page 93



18 
 

 an applicant for the grant, renewal or transfer of a licence whose application is 
refused, 

 an applicant for the variation of a licence whose application is refused, 

 the holder of a licence who is aggrieved by any condition of the licence, 

 the holder of a licence whose licence is revoked. 
 

Appeals must be lodged within 21 days of the date on which the holder of the licence 

or the applicant is notified of the decision of the Licensing Sub Committee.  Appeals 

must be lodged with the Guildford Magistrates Court, Mary Road, Guildford, Surrey 

GU1 4AS, 01483 405300.  

 

10 Variation of Licences 

 

A licence holder may apply to the council for a variation of their licence at any time 

for any variation of the terms, conditions or restrictions on or subject to which the 

licence is held.  Such applications will be heard by a Licensing Sub Committee of the 

Council following the same hearing procedure as if it were a new application.  An 

application for a variation to a licence is not required to be advertised by the 

applicant but applicants should be aware that such applications will be placed upon 

the Council’s website.  Whilst the Sub Committee will receive a report from Council 

officers concerning the application it is not legally possible for the Police or members 

of the public to object to such applications. 

 

The process for applying for a variation is the same as that for applying for an initial 

grant except that a plan of the premises is not required unless the application 

involves structural alterations to the premises. 

 

Application forms are available from licensing@waverley.gov.uk  

 
 
11 Renewals and Transfers  

 

Where an application is made for the renewal of a licence which is received by the 

Council before the date of expiry of the existing licence then the existing licence will 

remain in effect until either the withdrawal of the application or its determination by 

the Council. 

 

The process of applying for the renewal of the licence is the same as applying for an 

initial grant except that a plan is not required. 

 

Page 94

mailto:licensing@waverley.gov.uk


19 
 

The authority will not accept applications for the renewal of the SEV licence more 

than 3 months in advance of the renewal date.  

 

The authority will determine renewal applications on individual merits taking into 

account the facts of the application and any objections received. Opposed 

applications will be referred to the authority’s licensing committee for determination 

 

Where a licence has been granted to any person then the Council may, if they think 

fit, transfer that licence to any other person on the application of that other person at 

any time. The  process of applying for a transfer is the same as that applying for an 

initial grant except that a plan of the premises is not required.  

 

Applications for the renewal or transfer of licences for premises must be advertised 

both in local newspapers and on or near the premises. 

 

12 Cancellation of Licences 

 

The Council must cancel a licence for a sexual entertainment venue if asked to do so 

by the holder of the licence. 

 

13 Revocation of Licences 

 

The Council may, after giving the holder of a licence an opportunity of appearing 

before, and being heard by, a Licensing Sub Committee revoke the licence.  The 

grounds for revocation are as set out in Paragraph 17 of Schedule 3 of the Act.  

Where a licence is revoked the Council will send, within seven days of their notifying 

the licence holder of the revocation, a statement of the reasons for the revocation. 

 

14 Offences 

 

Offences under Paragraphs 20, 21 and 23 of Schedule 3 of the Act are punishable 

on conviction by a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

 

These offences include: 

 Permitting premises to be used without a licence 

 Employment by a licensee of anyone disqualified from holding a licence 

 Contravening the conditions of a licence 

Page 95



20 
 

 Knowingly making a false statement in connection with an application for the 
grant renewal or transfer of a licence 

 Allowing someone under the age of 18 to enter a licensed premises 

 Employing someone under the age of 18 in the business of the establishment. 

 
 
15 Amendments to the Policy 

 

The Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services, in consultation with the 

Chairman of the Licensing Committee, shall have the power to make minor 

amendments to this policy.  

Page 96



21 
 

16 Appendix One - Application Form for New, renewal, transfer or variation of 
a Licence 

 

  

 

Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, 

Section 2 and Schedule 3 

 

Application for a new, or renewal of, or transfer of, or variation of a 

Sex Establishment Licence 
 

You are reminded that if you make a false statement in connection with this 

application which you know to be false in any material respect or which you do not 

believe to be true you will be guilty of an offence and liable on summary conviction to 

a fine not exceeding £20,000. 

 

(Please use BLOCK CAPITALS and black ink only) 

Applicant’s Full Name:  

Have you ever been 

known by any other 
names?  

If Yes, state previous 
names 

YES/NO 

Address: 

 

 

Postcode: 

 

Telephone:  

Date of Birth  

 

or if the application is by a corporate body or unincorporated body: 

Company’s Full Name:  

Page 97



22 
 

Address of Registered 

Office or Principal 
Office: 

 

 

Postcode: 

 

Telephone:  

 

Names and private addresses of the Directors or other persons responsible for its 
management: 

Name Address 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I Hereby make application for 1.the waiver of a requirement for a licence / 2.the grant / 

3.renewal / 4. transfer / 5. variation of conditions of a licence, for the use of the premises; 
(delete as appropriate) 

Known As; 

 

 

 

Page 98



23 
 

Vehicle / vessel / stall to be situated at (full address):  

 

 

 

As a sex establishment (being a sex shop / sex cinema / sexual entertainment venue) as 

defined in Schedule 3 to the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982.  If for 
variation, indicate proposals on a separate sheet 

 

Please state whether any of the following have been convicted of a criminal offence or 
received an official caution and if so please supply details on a separate sheet 

 

Yourself Yes  No  

The Company Yes  No  

Any of the Company’s Directors Yes  No  

Any other person responsible for the management of the 

business the subject of this application 

Yes  No  

 

Have you within a period of 12 months immediately preceding 

the date of this application, been refused the grant or renewal of 

a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall the subject of 
this application? 

Yes  No  

 

Have any goods owned by yourself or by the Company 

ever been the subject of a forfeiture order made pursuant 
to the Obscene Publications Act 1959? 

Yes  No  

 

Does the applicant intend to operate the sex establishment 
in conjunction with any other licence? 

If so, provide details below. 

Yes  No  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



24 
 

 

 

 

FOR NEW APPLICATIONS ONLY 

State proposals for preventing nuisance to residents and businesses in the vicinity; 

 

 

 

 

 

State proposals for promoting public safety; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

State proposals for preventing crime and disorder; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

State proposals for protecting children from harm; 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 100



25 
 

 

 

Proposed operating days Opening from  Closing times 

Monday   

Tuesday   

Wednesday   

Thursday   

Friday   

Saturday   

Sunday   

 

 

Sexual Entertainment Venues only 

Do you have a code of practise for performers? 

(If yes attach a copy to the application) 

 

Yes 

 

 No  

Do you have written rules (displayed) for customers 

(If yes attach a copy to the application) 

 

Yes  No  

Do you have a policy for the Welfare of Performers? 

(If yes attach a copy to the application) 

 

Yes  No  

 

 

Please state any further information you wish Waverley Borough Council to take into 
account. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



26 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

I / we hereby undertake: 

 

1. To publish an advertisement in the local newspaper (a local paper which has been 

agreed with the Licensing Department) circulating in the area of the premises in the 

form prescribed by the Council giving public notice of this application not later than 7 

days after the date hereof and to supply you with a copy within 14 days. 

 

2. To display a notice in the form prescribed by the Council on or near the premises the 

subject of this application and in a place where the notice can conveniently be read 

by the public, for 21 days beginning with the date of this application.  A copy of the 
notice is attached hereto. 

 

3. To send a copy of this application to the Chief Officer of Surrey Police, (P.O. Box 
101, GU1 9PE),  

 

I / we hereby certify that the fee of £ ……………….. required by the Council is enclosed.  We 

will accept payment by credit/debit card (by phone or in person) or cheque payable to 
“Waverley Borough Council”. 

 
I / we hereby agree to the Council making enquiries of the Police concerning this application.  

 

I / we have checked these replies and confirm that they are true and accurate. 

 

In respect of a new application I enclose a plan of the premises at a scale not less than 1:50, 

with the area to be licensed outlined in red, and a location plan drawn at a scale of not 
greater than 1:1250. 

 

Page 102



27 
 

The Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use the information you provide 

in this form for the prevention and detection of fraud. It may also share this information with 
other bodies responsible for auditing or administering public funds for these purposes. 

 

 

 

Signed: …………………………………………………..   Date: …………………………. 

 

Name (please print)…………………………………….. 

 

 

 

 

g:e
h

p
g\std

d
o

c\p
u

b
lic\Se

x Estab
lish

m
e

n
t Lice

n
ce

 

Page 103



28 
 

17 Appendix Two – Newspaper advertisement 
 

The following should be used as the form of advertisement of an application in a local 

newspaper (a local paper which has been agreed with the Licensing Department) circulating 

in the Waverley area. Please omit text in square brackets and the square brackets, as 
appropriate. 

 

 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR A SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE  
 

Take notice that on [insert date application was made to the Council] an application 
was made to Waverley Borough Council under the provisions of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 for a licence to use the premises 

whose address is: [insert address of premises] as a [sex shop][sex cinema][sexual 
entertainment venue]. 
 

Any person wishing to make objections against the application should write to 
Waverley Borough Council, stating in general terms the grounds of the objection.  

This must be received by the Council within 28 days from the date of the application, 
as given above.  Objections received after this date will not be considered. 
 

Objections should be addressed to:  Licensing Department, Waverley Borough 
Council, Council Offices, The Bury’s, Godalming, Surrey GU7 1HR 

 
Please see the Waverley Borough Council website at www.waverley.gov.uk for 
details of their policies on sex establishment licensing and objections to applications. 
 

Page 104

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


29 
 

18 Appendix Three – Public Notice of Application 
 

NOTICE OF APPLICATION FOR  
A SEX ESTABLISHMENT LICENCE  

 
Take notice that on 
(insert date application was made to the Council) 
_______________________________ 
an application was made to Waverley Borough Council under the 
provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 
1982 for the grant* / renewal* / transfer* of a licence to use the 
premises, whose address is: 
(insert address of premises) 

 
 

 
_________________________________________________________ 
  
as a sex shop*,  sex cinema*,  sexual entertainment venue.*  
 
Any person wishing to make objections against the application 
should write to Waverley Borough Council, stating in general terms 
the grounds of the objection.  This must be received by the Council 
within 28 days from the date of the application, as given above.  
Objections received after this will not be considered. 
 
Objections should be addressed to:  
 
Licensing Department,  
Waverley Borough Council, 
Council Offices,  
The Bury’s, Godalming,  
Surrey GU7 1HR  
 
Please see the Waverley Borough Council website at 
www.waverley.gov.uk for details of their policies on sex 
establishment licensing and objections to applications. 
 
Signed: _____________________________ 
 
Name of applicant (please print) 
__________________________________ 

Page 105

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


30 
 

 
* On behalf of 
__________________________________________________ 
  
* Delete where appropriate 

Page 106



31 
 

19 Appendix Four – Scheme of Delegation of Powers 
 

The adoption of powers to deal with the provisions of the Local Government (Miscellaneous) 

Provisions Act 1982 were the subject of a report to the Licensing Committee of the Council on 22 

March 1983 . The recommendations of that Committee were subsequently adopted by the Council 

at its meeting on 12 April 1983. Since then responsibilities for the Head of Democratic and Legal 
Services have been transferred to the Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services.  

 

As a consequence the Council have delegated powers to deal with the provisions of the Act as 
follows. 

 

To the Licensing Committee: 

1.  to undertake the functions relating to the licensing of sex establishments under the 

provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

2.  to make and amend regulations prescribing standard terms, conditions and 

 restrictions applicable to licences for sex establishments; and 

3.  to make and amend policies relating to the licensing of sex establishments.  

 

To the Licensing Sub-Committee: 

1.  to grant or refuse applications for the grant, renewal, or transfer of licences for  sex 

establishments; 

2.  to grant or refuse applications for variations of licences or to make such  variation as they 
think fit; 

3.  to attach such terms, conditions, and restrictions to licences as is seen  necessary and 
appropriate; 

4.  to grant adjournments of hearings; 

5.  to give to an applicant for, or holders of, licences, statements in writing of their  decisions; 

and 

6.  to revoke licences. 

 

Head of Democratic and Legal Services: 

1.  to enforce the provisions of Part II and Schedule 3 of the Local Government 

 (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982; 

2.  to appoint Officers of the Council to enforce the provisions of Part II and  Schedule 3 
of the Act; 

Page 107



32 
 

3.  to exercise the powers of entry, and to authorise Officers to exercise the  powers of 
entry, conferred by paragraph 25 of Schedule 3 of the Act; 

4.  to apply for and to authorise Officers to apply for warrants to enter premises  under 

paragraph 25 of Schedule 3 of the Act; 

5.  to determine whether any premises, vessel, vehicle or stall constitutes a sex 
 establishment under the provisions of the legislation; 

6.  in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to waive the requirement for 

a licence in any case where it is considered that to require a licence would be unreasonable 

or inappropriate, to determine what period such a waiver shall apply for, and to terminate 
such waivers in accordance with paragraph 7(7) of Schedule 3; 

7.  to determine what particulars may be required in connection with an  application; 

8.  to determine the form which notices given under paragraphs 10 (11) and 10  (12) of 
Schedule 3 of the Act shall take; 

9.  to determine whether objections given to the authority are valid or not; 

10.  to give notice to applicants of objections received; 

11.  to have regard to observations submitted to the authority by the Police; 

12.  to transfer licences; 

13.  to refer to a Licensing Sub-Committee any licence where Officers consider  that the 
licence should be revoked; 

14.  in consultation with the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, to refuse any  application 

for the grant or renewal of a licence where the requirements of  paragraph 12 (a) (b) (c) (d) (e) or 
3(c) of Schedule 3 of the Act have not been  met; 

15.  to cancel licences following the written request of the licence holder; 

16.  to determine the reasonable fee to be charged for supplying copies of  standard terms, 
conditions and restrictions applicable to licences for sex establishments adopted by the Council; 

17.  to send copies of licences granted to the chief officer of Police for the area;  

18.  to consider applications for and to extend or further extend the period for  which a 

licence shall remain in force after the death of a licence holder; 

19.  to determine fees for the grant, renewal, or transfer of licences in consultation  with the 
Chairman of the Licensing Committee; 

20.  to enforce and prosecute offences under the provisions of Schedule 3 of the  Act; and 

21.  to defend appeals taken against the Council under paragraph 27 of Schedule  3 of the Act. 

 

 
 

Page 108



33 
 

20 Appendix Five – Standard Conditions 

 

21 Sex shops - Standard Conditions to replace any already adopted 
 

 

Standard Conditions which shall apply to sex shops. 

 

GENERAL 

 
1. The premises hereby licensed shall be used only for the purposes of a sex 

shop as defined by Schedule 3 paragraph 4(1) of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and shall not be used either wholly or in 
part for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever during the period in 

respect of which this licence is granted. 

2. The premises shall be open to members of the public during the hours of 

Monday to Friday, 10.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m.; Saturday 9.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m.; 
Sunday, 11.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.  

3. Where the Licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any 

change of director, company secretary or other person responsible for the 
management of the body is to be notified in writing to the Council within 14 

days of such change and such written details as the Council may require in 
respect of any new director, secretary or manager, are to be furnished within 
14 days of a request in writing from the Council. 

4. The Licensee or some responsible person nominated by him in writing for the 
purpose of managing the licensed premises in his absence and whose details 

have been supplied to and approved in writing by the Council, shall be in 
charge of and upon the premises during the whole time they are open to the 
public. 

Registers shall be kept on the premises showing the name and address of 

any person who is responsible for managing the sex establishment in the 

temporary absence of the person nominated pursuant to Licence condition 5. 

The Licensee shall ensure that during the hours the sex shop is open to the 

public, every employee wears an identifying badge, of a type approved by the 

Council, indicating their name and that they are an employee. 

5. The following written matter shall be clearly visible from outside the sex 
establishment:- 

(i) The trading name of the premises as specified in the licence. 
(ii) The hours of opening to the public. 
(iii) The street number. 

Page 109



34 
 

(iv) In each entrance or doorway to the licensed premises in a prominent 
position so as to be readily visible to any person approaching the 

premises with a view to entering therein but without their having so to 
enter a notice headed: 

“WARNING” and stating “PERSONS PASSING BEYOND THIS POINT WILL 

FIND MATERIAL ON DISPLAY WHICH THEY MAY CONSIDER INDECENT. 

NO ADMITTANCE TO PERSONS UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE”. 

6. There shall be displayed above the entrance or main entrance to the premises 

hereby licensed a notice in permanent form in letters not less than 2 cm high 
(approximately ¾ ") stating 'LICENSED SEX SHOP - LICENSEE [insert name 
of licensee]. 

7. The Licensee shall ensure that the public are not admitted to any parts of the 
premises other than those which have been approved by the Council save in 

the case of an emergency. 

8. Neither the Licensee nor any employee (or any person) shall seek to obtain 
custom for the sex shop by means of a personal solicitation outside the 

premises or in the vicinity of the premises. 

PREMISES 

 

9. No part of the interior of the premises where sex articles are displayed shall 

be visible to passers-by at any time. The obscuration, screening or other 
arrangements shall be to the satisfaction of and approved by the Council. 

10. Alterations or additions either internal or external, whether permanent or 

temporary to the structure, lighting or layout of the premises, shall not be 
made except with the prior approval of the Council. 

11. All parts of the premises shall be kept in a clean and wholesome condition to 
the complete satisfaction of the Council. 

12. Lighting in all parts of the premises shall be to a level approved by the Council 

and shall be in operation continuously during the hours when the sex shop is 
open to the public. 

13. (i) The windows of the licensed premises fronting the pavement shall not 
be obscured other than with the consent of the Council, but shall have 
suspended behind them, in a position approved by the Council, such 

opaque blinds or screens or such other arrangements as approved by 
the Council. 

(ii) Any such precautions as may be necessary shall be taken to maintain 
the screening of the shop windows during any cleaning operations. 

(iii) Nothing shall be displayed in the windows of the shop other than items 

of lingerie and dresses. 

Page 110



35 
 

(iv) No display or advertisement visible from the outside of the premises 
shall include a depiction or description of a sex article. 

14. Displays, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, 
device, representation, drawing, writing, or any other matter or thing (whether 

illuminated or not) shall not be exhibited so as to be visible from the outside of 
the premises except:- 

(i) Any notice of a size and in the form approved by the Council which is 

required to be displayed so as to be visible from outside the premises 
by law, or by any condition of a Licence granted by the Council. 

(ii) Such display, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, 
notice, device, representation, drawing, writing or any matter or thing 
as shall have been approved by the Council. 

15. Doors and openings which lead to parts of the premises to which the public 
are not permitted to have access, shall have notices placed over them marked 

“Private – no access to the public”. 

FILMS AND VIDEOS 

 

20. (i)   No film or video shall be exhibited, sold or supplied unless it has been 
passed by the British Board of Film Classification or such other 

authority performing a similar scrutinising function as may be notified to 
the licensee by the Council and bears a certificate to that effect and is 

a reproduction authorised by the owner of the copyright of the film or 
video so certified. 

(ii) The screen of the television should be no more than 12 inches and 

placed in such a position so as not to be visible to the public outside 
the premises. 

(iii) The screen shall be placed in such a position to the satisfaction of the 
Council. 

(iv) Only videos of clips of other videos for advertising purposes shall be 

shown and no individual clip shall be shown for longer than three 
minutes. 

(v) No film or video will be shown in its entirety. 
(vi) All trailers shown are to be approved by the British Board of Film 

Classification. 

(vii) A warning notice will be placed adjacent to the screen stating “For staff 
use only” or “No customers allowed to operate”. 

 

 

21.1 Sex cinemas - Standard Conditions to replace any already adopted 

 

Standard Conditions which shall apply to sex cinemas. 

 

Page 111



36 
 

1. The premises hereby licensed shall be used only for the purposes of a sex 
cinema as defined by Schedule 3 paragraph 3 of the Local Government 

(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 and shall not be used either wholly or in 
part for any other purpose or purposes whatsoever during the period in 

respect of which this licence is granted. 

2. The premises shall be open to members of the public during the hours of 
Monday to Friday, 10.00 a.m. to 8.00 p.m.; Saturday 9.00 a.m. to 6.00 p.m.; 

Sunday, 11.00 a.m. to 5.00 p.m.  

3. Where the Licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body, any 

change of director, company secretary or other person responsible for the 
management of the body is to be notified in writing to the Council within 14 
days of such change and such written details as the Council may require in 

respect of any new director, secretary or manager, are to be furnished within 
14 days of a request in writing from the Council. 

4. The Licensee or some responsible person nominated by him in writing for the 
purpose of managing the licensed premises in his absence and whose details 
have been supplied to and approved in writing by the Council, shall be in 

charge of and upon the premises during the whole time they are open to the 
public. 

Registers shall be kept on the premises showing the name and address of 

any person who is responsible for managing the sex cinema in the temporary 

absence of the person nominated pursuant to Licence condition 5. 

The Licensee shall ensure that during the hours the sex cinema is open to the 

public, every employee wears an identifying badge, of a type approved by the 

Council, indicating their name and that they are an employee. 

5. The following written matter shall be clearly visible from outside the sex 
establishment:- 

(v) The trading name of the premises as specified in the licence. 

(vi) The hours of opening to the public. 
(vii) The street number. 

(viii) In each entrance or doorway to the licensed premises in a prominent 
position so as to be readily visible to any person approaching the 
premises with a view to entering therein but without their having so to 

enter a notice headed: 

“WARNING” and stating “PERSONS PASSING BEYOND THIS POINT WILL 

FIND MATERIAL ON DISPLAY WHICH THEY MAY CONSIDER INDECENT. 

NO ADMITTANCE TO PERSONS UNDER 18 YEARS OF AGE”. 

6. There shall be displayed above the entrance or main entrance to the premises 
hereby licensed a notice in permanent form in letters not less than 2 cm high 

(approximately ¾ ") stating 'LICENSED SEX CINEMA - LICENSEE [insert 
name of licensee]. 

Page 112



37 
 

7. The Licensee shall ensure that the public are not admitted to any parts of the 
premises other than those which have been approved by the Council save in 

the case of an emergency. 

8. Neither the Licensee nor any employee (or any person) shall seek to obtain 

custom for the sex cinema by means of a personal solicitation outside the 
premises or in the vicinity of the premises. 

PREMISES 

 

9. No part of the interior of the premises where advertisements or stills from films 

are displayed shall be visible to passers-by at any time. The obscuration, 
screening or other arrangements shall be to the satisfaction of and approved 

by the Council. 

10. Alterations or additions either internal or external, whether permanent or 
temporary to the structure, lighting or layout of the premises, shall not be 

made except with the prior approval of the Council. 

11. All parts of the premises shall be kept in a clean and wholesome condition to 

the complete satisfaction of the Council. 

12. Lighting in all parts of the premises shall be to a level approved by the Council 
and shall be in operation continuously during the hours when the sex cinema 

is open to the public. 

13. (i) The windows of the licensed premises fronting the pavement shall not 

be obscured other than with the consent of the Council, but shall have 
suspended behind them, in a position approved by the Council, such 
opaque blinds or screens or such other arrangements as approved by 

the Council. 

(v) Any such precautions as may be necessary shall be taken to maintain 

the screening of the shop windows during any cleaning operations. 

(vi) Nothing shall be displayed in the windows of the shop other than items 
of lingerie and dresses. 

(vii) No display or advertisement visible from the outside of the premises 
shall include a depiction or description of a film or any images derived 

from a film. 

14. Displays, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, notice, 
device, representation, drawing, writing, or any other matter or thing (whether 

illuminated or not) shall not be exhibited so as to be visible from the outside of 
the premises except:- 

(iii) Any notice of a size and in the form approved by the Council which is 
required to be displayed so as to be visible from outside the premises 
by law, or by any condition of a Licence granted by the Council. 

Page 113



38 
 

(iv) Such display, advertisement, words, letter, model, sign, placard, board, 
notice, device, representation, drawing, writing or any matter or thing 

as shall have been approved by the Council. 

15. Doors and openings which lead to parts of the premises to which the public 

are not permitted to have access, shall have notices placed over them marked 
“Private – no access to the public”. 

 

21.2 Sexual entertainment venues 

 

Conditions relating to sexual entertainment venues 
 

1. Total nudity (the exposing of genitals, anus, or pubic area) shall only be 
permitted on stage and at no other place in the premises. 

 

2. No sex act shall take place as part of the entertainment. 
 

3. The area proposed for striptease (involving complete nudity) shall:- 
a) be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the street. 

b) be in a designated area of the premises with segregation from the 
audience. 

 

4. The area proposed for lap dancing, table side dancing (involving partial 

nudity) shall be in a position where the performance cannot be seen from the 
street. 

 

5. There shall be no physical contact between persons appearing on stage and 
the audience. 

 

6. The entertainment shall be given only by performers/entertainers and the 

audience shall not be permitted to participate. 
 

7. Persons appearing on stage shall have direct access to the dressing room 

without passing through or in close proximity to the audience. 
 

8. Lap dancers/table side dancers shall immediately dress at the conclusion of 
each performance. 

 

9. The licensee, performer and any person concerned in the organisation or 
management of the entertainment shall not encourage, or permit 

encouragement of the audience to throw money at or otherwise give gratuities 
to the performers (except as permitted by condition 11 below). 

Page 114



39 
 

 

10. Entertainment provided by topless dancers to customers seated at tables may 
only take part in those parts of the premises approved by the Council. No 
audience participation shall be permitted. 

 

11. There shall be no physical contact between customers and the dancers 

except for the placing of money or tokens into the hands of the dancer at the 
beginning or conclusion of the performance. Whilst the dancers are 
performing there shall be a minimum distance of one metre between the 

dancer and the seated customers.  Notices to this effect shall clearly be 
displayed at each table and at the entrance to the premises. 

 

12. Should a customer attempt to touch a dancer, the dancer must withdraw and 

report the matter to her / his manager / supervisor. 
 

13. Topless dancers shall at all times wear a G-string or similar piece of clothing 

that covers the pubic area, genitals and anus. 
 

14. The Licensee shall immediately investigate any report of contact, misconduct 
or provocation by a customer or dancer. 

 

15. No telephone numbers, addresses or information leading to any further 

meeting may be passed from customer to dancer or vice versa. 
 

16. No dancer may perform if they are drunk. 

 

17. No member of the public shall be admitted or allowed to remain in the dance 

area if they appear to be drunk. 
 

18. All members of the public shall remain seated in the dance area other than 
when they arrive, depart, visit the lavatory or go to the bar. 

 

19. Members of the public shall not be permitted to congregate in the bar area for 
any purpose except to order or collect drinks from the bar. 

 

20. Signs must be displayed at the entrance to the dance area stating:-  “Any 

customer attempting to make physical contact with a dancer will be asked to 
leave”.  Signs must be sufficient in size, legible and positioned so as to be 
read by all customers entering the dance area. 

 

21. No dancer shall perform any sexually explicit or lewd act. 

 

Page 115



40 
 

22. Whilst dancing takes place not less than 2 Door Supervisors licensed by the 
Security Industry Agency shall be employed in the part of the premises used 

for dancing at a minimum of 1:50 customers on the premises unless 
alternative arrangements are approved by the Council. Door supervisors shall 

carry out regular monitoring of all areas of the premises to which the public 
have access and shall intervene promptly if necessary to ensure compliance 
with licence conditions by customers and performers. Door supervisors shall 

regularly monitor the area immediately outside the premises for a distance of 
30 metres in all directions and take steps to deal with (by alerting the Police if 

necessary) any unsavoury activity that may be attracted to the vicinity due to 
the nature of the business. When performers leave the premises, they are to 
be escorted to their cars or taxi by a door supervisor or member of staff. 

 

23. CCTV shall be installed to cover all areas where dancing will take place. All 

cameras shall continually record whilst the premises are open to the public 
and the video recordings shall be kept available for a minimum of 28 days and 
shall provide a record of the time and date stamping on the recording. 

Recordings shall be made available to an authorised officer of the Council or 
a Police Officer together with facilities for viewing.  The recordings for the 

preceding two days shall be made available immediately on request. 
Recordings outside this period shall be made available on 24 hours notice. 
CCTV shall be maintained in good working order and kept under suitable 

security to prevent unauthorised access. Access shall be restricted to the 
licence holder and no more than two designated persons authorised by the 

licence holder as deputy in writing. No cctv is to be copied, given away or sold 
(except as required by the Police/Authority for investigation/enforcement 
purposes. Notices shall be displayed informing customers of the presence of 

CCTV) 
 

 

POOL CONDITIONS FOR CONSIDERATION ON A CASE-BY-CASE BASIS  

 
Premises 

 
24. The premises shall only   permit adult entertainment between the hours of 20:00 

and 04:00 hours the following morning as determined by the licensing committee. 

25. Only activities which have previously been agreed in writing by the Authority shall 

take place.  

26. The agreed activities shall take place only in designated areas approved by the 

Authority. 

27. Rules shall be produced by the licensee for customers indicating conduct that its 

deemed acceptable. These rules shall be prominently displayed at all tables and at 

other appropriate locations within the club. 

Page 116



41 
 

28. A clear notice shall be displayed inside the entrance to the premises in the 

following terms : striptease style entertainment takes place on these   premises. No 

persons under 18 shall be permitted in the premises.  

29. The performance must not be visible from the street and any person who can be 

observed from the outside of the premises must be  properly and decently dressed. 

30. When the premises are open for relevant entertainment, no person under the 

age of 18 shall be permitted to be on the premises, Anyone appearing to be under 

the age of 25 years shall be asked to produce valid  photographic identification. If 

this is not produced the individual shall be refused access. 

 

Management and licensee 

 

31. Where the licensee is a body corporate or an unincorporated body any change of 

director company secretary or other person responsible for the management of the 

body is to be notified in writing to the Authority within 14 days of such change. 

32. The premises shall maintain a refusals log whereby any occasion a person is 

refused entry shall be recorded and available upon request by the Police or an 

authorised officer of the Authority.  

 

Conditions regarding performers 

 

33. The audience must at all times remain fully clothed.  

 

34. Performers shall be aged not less than 18 years and the licence holder or 

nominated deputy authorised in writing shall satisfy him/herself that this is the case, 

by requesting valid photographic ID, if necessary, prior to the performance. 

 

35. A signing in register shall be kept at the premises that records the time the 

performer starts and finishes at the premises. This shall be made available for 

immediate inspection by a Police Officer or authorised officers of the Authority. 

 

36. During any performance there must be no physical contact between the 

performer and any member of the viewing public.   

 

37. No performances shall include any sexual act with other performers. 

38. No performances shall include any sexual act with objects. 

Page 117



42 
 

 

39. There shall be no nudity by performers in public areas of the premises, unless 

the Authority has agreed in writing that the area may be used for performances of 

sexual entertainment. 

40. At the completion of the Relevant Entertainment the performers shall dress 

themselves immediately and leave the designated performance area. Performers not 

engaged in performing shall not remain in any area in a state of undress. 

41. Performers are not to solicit, exchange addresses, telephone numbers or social 

media contact details with customers, liaise with customers of the premises, or incite 

customers to purchase alcoholic drinks. 

42. An appropriate room shall be set aside to provide a changing and rest area for 

performers. Access to this room shall be restricted to performers only, whilst the 

performers are on the premises and shall be marked on the plan of the premises. 

43. Any bodily contact between entertainers or performers or any movement that 

indicates sexual activity or simulated sex between entertainers or performers is 

strictly forbidden. 

44. Entertainers or performers not performing must not be in a licensed area in a 

state of undress. 

45. There shall be prominently and legibly displayed a comprehensive tariff of all 

charges and prices in respect of relevant entertainment, including any charge for the 

company of any person working at the premises, which shall be placed in such a 

position that it can at all times be easily and conveniently read by persons inside the 

premises. 

46. Literature and contact details of organisations that provide advice and 

counselling on matters relating to: 

(a) Modern slavery, 

(b) Domestic abuse, 

(c) Coercive control, 

(d) Rape and sexual assault, 

shall be made available to performers free of charge in their changing area. 

  

 

 

 

 

Page 118



43 
 

22 Appendix Six - Grounds for Granting or Refusing an Application 
 

1. Case-law has determined that the Licensing Sub Committee may not refuse a sex 

establishment licence solely on the ground that the establishment may cause 
offence. (R v Coventry City Council ex parte Quitelynn Ltd (1985)).  

 
2. The local authority must refuse an application for a licence on any of the grounds 

listed in paragraph 12 of Schedule 3 to the Act.  A licence shall not be granted to:  

a) To a person under the age of 18;  
b) To a person who is for the time being disqualified because they are a 

licence holder whose licence has been revoked within the previous 12 
months;  

c) To a person, other than a body corporate, who is not resident in the United 

Kingdom or who was not so resident throughout the period of six months 
immediately preceding the date when the application was made; 

d) To a body corporate which is not incorporated in the United Kingdom; or  
e) To a person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately preceding 

the date when the application was made, been refused the grant or 

renewal of a licence for the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall in respect of 
which the application is made, unless the refusal has been reversed on 

appeal. 
 

3. The local authority may refuse to grant an application for a licence where any of 

the matters mentioned in paragraph 12 (2) and (3) of Schedule 3 of the Act apply.  
An application for the grant or renewal of a licence may be refused on any of the 

grounds listed below or on several of those grounds.  An application for the 
transfer of a licence may be refused on either or both of the grounds listed in a) or 
b) below.  An application for a variation may be refused but the Act does not 

specify on what grounds. 
a) The applicant is unsuitable to hold a licence by reason of having been 

convicted of any offence or for any other reason.  
b) That if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the business 

to which it relates would be managed by or carried on for the benefit of a 

person other than the applicant, who would be refused the grant, renewal 
or transfer of such a licence if he made the application himself.  

c) That the number of sex establishments in the relevant locality at the time 
the application is made is equal to or exceeds the number which the 
authority considers is appropriate for that locality.  

d) That the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, having 
regard to the:  

i. character of the relevant locality; or  
ii. use to which any premises in the vicinity are put; or  
iii. layout, character or condition of the premises, vehicle, vessel or stall 

in respect of which the application is made. 
 

Relevant locality means: 
a) in relation to the premises, the locality where they are situated; and 
b) in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is desired to use it 

as a sex establishment. 

Page 119



44 
 

 

Page 120



From: Clerk <clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk>  
Sent: 08 October 2021 08:16 
To: Licensing Policy <Licensing.Policy@waverley.gov.uk> 
Cc: Liz Townsend <Liz.Townsend@waverley.gov.uk>; Mary Foryszewski 
<Mary.Foryszewski@waverley.gov.uk>; Ruth Reed <Ruth.Reed@waverley.gov.uk>; Patricia Ellis 
<Patricia.Ellis@waverley.gov.uk> 
Subject: Policy Consultation Response - Sex Establishment Policy 
 
[** This email originates from an external source **] 

 
 
 

 

Good Morning 

 
Sex Establishment Policy. 
  
Thank you for asking Cranleigh Parish Council to comment on the above Policy.  The 
Council would like to make the following comments: 
  
  

 Although there is no legal requirement for the WBC to adopt this policy, the Parish 
Council is in agreement that it is very important to do so. 

 

 Page 11.  The Parish Council is quite surprised that a licence for a sexual 
entertainment venue is not required where relevant entertainment has not been 
provided on more than eleven occasions in any 12 months. In our opinion, any venue 
which offers sexual entertainment, no matter how often, should require a licence. 

 

 Clause 8.4, please include Town and Parish Councils as relevant bodies to be 
consulted. 

 

Kind Regards 

Beverley Bell FSLCC 

Parish Clerk 

 

Sign up for our newsletter: http://eepurl.com/hfYGcz 

Please think of the environment.  Don't print this email unless really necessary. 

This e-mail message neither creates nor is intended to create a contract between Cranleigh Parish Council and the addressee or the addressee's 

organisation. It is conf idential to the Council and the addressee.   If  y ou receiv e this e-mail message in error, please destroy  it and delete it f rom 
y our machine.  Please note that any  v iews or opinions expressed in this e-mail are solely  those of  the author, and do not necessarily  represent 

those of  Cranleigh Parish Council.  If  this e-mail message or any  attachments are incomplete or unreadable, please telephone 01483-272311 or 

e-mail clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov .uk  

 
 

Page 121

ANNEXE 3

mailto:clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.Policy@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Liz.Townsend@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Mary.Foryszewski@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Ruth.Reed@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Patricia.Ellis@waverley.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/ZT0eC9852TYX3Kio-hvK?domain=eepurl.com
mailto:clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Waverley Borough Council 

 
LICENSING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE  

 
08 NOVEMBER 2021 

 

___________________________________________________________________ 
Title: 

 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 - PUBLIC CONSULTATION ON REVIEW OF THE  
COUNCIL’S STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY 

 

[Wards Affected: All] 

 

 
Portfolio Holder: Cllr Nick Palmer, Portfolio Holder for Operational & 

Enforcement 
 

Head of Service: Richard Homewood 
Head of Environmental & Regulatory Services 

 

Key decision: No 
Access:  Public 
 

___________________________________________________________________ 
 

1.0 Purpose and Summary: 

 
1.1  The purpose of this report is to consider the outcome of the consultation on 

the draft revised Statement of Gambling for Waverley under the 2005 
Gambling Act (the Act) and recommend the revised Statement of Gambling 

Policy and Principles to the Council at its meeting on 14 December to 
approve.  

 

 

 
2.0 Introduction 

 
2.1. The Gambling Act 2005 requires the Council to have a Statement of Gambling 

Policy that it keeps under review, and that it must completely review and 

republish the Policy every three years.  The Policy must include information 
stipulated within the Gambling Commission’s statutory Guidance to Licensing 

Authorities in England and Wales   
 
2.2 The Council’s current Policy has been in place since 31 January 2019 and in 

accordance with legislation must this year undergo a full review and public 
consultation.  

2.3 The policy has been reviewed by officers after being published for a 12-week 
public consultation, which commenced 19 July 2021 and ended 11 October 
2021.  

Page 123

Agenda Item 10.



 
Statement of Gambling Policy - public consultation 

 
2.4 The Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy was first adopted by the Council 

in December 2006, published on 3 January 2007 and came into effect on 31 
January 2007.  It has been reviewed and updated several times with the last 
updated policy coming into effect on 31 January 2019.  The draft revised 

Statement of Gambling Policy must be published at least 28 days before it 
comes into effect (in January 2022).  

 
2.5 A draft revised Statement of Gambling Policy, incorporating the 

changes/amendments made by officers from the existing Statement of 
Gambling is attached at Annexe 1.  The tracked changes are shown in colour 

type. (Please note the differing colours do not reflect anything specific other 

than an amendment/change) 
 
2.6 The consultation has been conducted through a written process to all 

Responsible Authorities, Gambling Commission, Citizens Advice Centres, 
Chambers of Commerce, Town and Parish Councils and via the Council’s 

website and publication in the Surrey Advertiser (03 September 2021). 
 

2.7 The timetable for the review of the current policy and implementation of the 

new policy is as follows:  
 

 Commence review, write to consultees, and place consultation 
information on the website on 19 July 2021 

 Consultation period ends 11 October 2021 (12 weeks) - followed by:  

 Licensing and Regulatory Committee                        08 November 2021 

 Council     14 December 2021 

 Published on Council’s website  3 January 2022 

 Policy comes into effect            31 January 2022 

 
2.8 The Policy has worked well for Council (the Licensing Authority) and no 

adverse comments have been made by the Responsible Authorities 
designated under the legislation. 
 

2.9 There has been 1 response from the consultation from Cranleigh Parish 
Council, please see below with officer response in red. 

 
 Thank you for asking Cranleigh Parish Council to comment on the above 

policy.  The Council would like to make the following comments: 

  
• The Parish Council SUPPORTS clause 1.6 to consult Town and Parish 

Councils. 
 
• Clause 2.15 – Can Town and Parish Councils be included in the 

eligible bodies able to object to a Temporary Use Notice? No, the legislation 

Page 124



sets out that only the Licensing Authority and other statutory bodies required 
to be served, may object. 

 
• Clause 2.5 – much of our High Street has residential properties above 

shops, so noise nuisance should be considered and could possibly be 
controlled by specific conditions. The Environmental Health service are 
consulted as a Responsible Authority in relation to the prevention of pollution 

to the environment or harm to human health and can consider noise pollution. 
 

• Page 13, we think there is a typo ‘cares’ should be ‘cafes’? Amended 
(page 10) 

 
A copy of the emailed comment is attached at Annexe 2. 

 
3.0 The Statement of Gambling Policy 

 

3.1 The Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy must promote the three licensing         

objectives of the Gambling Act 2005, which are: 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime and disorder, 

being associated with crime or disorder or being used to support 
crime 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way 

 Protecting children and vulnerable persons from being harmed 
or exploited by gambling. 

 
3.2 Since the introduction of the Gambling Act 2005, Waverley Borough Council 

           has experienced no issues with any of its licensed gambling premises. 
 
 NOTE: Waverley currently has: 

 

 7 Betting shops 

 We normally receive (pre-Covid) 1 annual Temporary Use Notice for a ‘Point 
to Point’ horse race at Peper Harow,  

 We issue small society lottery licences 

 We do not have any Casinos, Tracks, Bingo or Family Entertainment 

Centres. 

 
4.0  Conclusion 

 
4.1 The Committee is asked to consider the responses to the consultation and 

identify whether any further amendments to the policy are required. The Policy 
is ultimately set by the Council as part of the Policy Framework and the 

activity under the Policy is the remit of this Committee and its Licensing Act 
Sub-Committees. The Committee is asked to consider officers amendments 
and the comments made to the review and of the Council’s Statement of 

Page 125



Gambling Policy and make its recommendations to Council for amending the 
Policy.  

 
5.0.  Recommendation 

 
5.1. The Committee is asked to RESOLVE that  
 

5.1.1 The draft revised Statement of Licensing Policy and Principles be 
approved subject to any amendments agreed at the meeting;  

 
5.1.2 To recommend the revised Statement of Gambling Policy and Principles 
to Council at its meeting on 14 December 2021 to approve.  

 
6.0 Reason for the recommendation(s) 

 
6.1 In accordance with The Gambling Act 2005, the Council must have a 

Statement of Gambling Policy that it keeps under review, and that it must 

completely review and republish the Policy every three years. In accordance 
with the Gambling Act 2005 a review of the policy must be undertaken an a 

new / revised policy published to take effect on 31 January 2022. Having 
considered the findings of the engagement process the Licensing Committee 
is invited to approve the draft revised Statement of Policy and Principles 

provided. This approval would be subject to any amendments approved at this 
meeting. The Committee is invited to recommend the revised licensing Policy 

to the Council at its meeting on 14 December 2021 to approve. If approved, 
the Policy will stay in force for 3 years. However, should the Licensing 
Authority consider it necessary the Policy can be reviewed at any point during 

this 3 year period.  
 
7.0. Relationship to the Corporate Strategy and Service Plan(s) 

 
7.1 The Statement of Licensing Policy and Principles under the Gambling Act 

2005 whilst being a statutory duty of the Council helps to deliver the Council’s 
strategic outcomes in promoting  

 a thriving local economy, supporting business and employment;  
 encouraging small businesses;  

and promoting the health and wellbeing of our communities, helping to ensure 

that gambling activity is safe and controlled. 
   
8.0 Implications of decision(s) 

 
8.1 Resource (Finance, procurement, staffing, IT) 

  
 There are no immediate resource implications in this report; resources 

required to fulfil the Council’s duties in respect of the licensing process are 
met from the existing budget. 

 
8.2 Risk management 

 

Page 126



The Statement of Gambling Policy is in place to ensure public safety when 
using these services and to ensure the appropriate balances and mitigations 

are in place to minimise risk to public safety whilst enabling businesses to 
trade effectively, efficiently and legally. 

  
8.3 Legal 

 

Section 349 of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Licensing Authority to 
prepare and publish a Statement of Licensing Policy and Principles every 3 

years. The next Statement must be published by 31 January 2022. Section 25 
of the Gambling Act 2005 requires the Authority to have regard to the 
Gambling Commission Guidance when preparing its statement of Licensing 

Policy. To delay the review process would leave the Council at risk of not 
having a valid policy framework in the event of a relevant application being 

made under the gambling legislation.  
 
   

 
 
8.4 Equality, diversity and inclusion 

 
The Licensing Policy sets out the framework within which decisions are made 

that effect crime and disorder and the protection of children and other 
vulnerable people from being harmed or exploited by gambling. There are no 

direct equality, diversity or inclusion implications in this report. Equality impact 
assessments are carried out when necessary across the Council to ensure 
service delivery meets the requirements of the Public Sector Equality Duty 

under the Equality Act 2010.  
 
8.5 Climate emergency declaration 

 
 There are no implications arising from the recommendations contained within 

this report in terms of meeting the Council’s climate change obligations. 
 
8.6 Consultation and engagement 

 
 The Statement of Gambling Policy, as set out above, has been subject to 

consultation with the public before being finalised.  
 
8.7 Other options considered 

 
 Other options considered are commented on throughout the report.  

 
8.8 Governance journey 

 
 Trade and public consultation with final recommendations to Licensing and 

Regulatory Committee. 

 
 
Annexes: 

Page 127



 
Annexe 1 – A draft revised Statement of Gambling Policy, incorporating the 

changes/amendments made by officers from the existing Statement of 
Gambling. 

Annexe 2 - A copy of the response from the consultation from Cranleigh Parish 
Council   

 

________________________________________ 
Background Papers 

 
Gambling Act 2005, Licensing Conditions & Codes of Practice (LCCP) and revised 
Gambling Guidance April 2021  

________________________________________ 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

Name  Paul Hughes:  
Position: Licensing & Environmental Enforcement Manager 
Telephone: 0148 3523189 

Email:  paul.hughes@waverley.gov.uk 
 

Agreed and signed off by: 
Legal Services: date 
Head of Finance: date 

Strategic Director: date 
Portfolio Holder: date 

 
 

Page 128



1 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

DRAFT  
REVIEW – AUGUST 2018June 2021 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
STATEMENT OF POLICY 

AUGUST 2018 June 2021 
 

Approved by the Waverley Borough Council on (draft consultation to be approved)   
 
 
   To be published on Website                                                      03 January 2022 
19 
   To come into effect                                            31January 202219 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

All references to the guidance of the Gambling Commission to licensing authorities 
refer to the guidance published in October 2015April 2021 (last updated in September 
2016).   

 
 
 

  

Page 129

ANNEXE 1



2 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 

STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY  
 

  IN FORCE FROM 31 JANUARY 2019 31 January 2022 
 
 

INDEX 
 
       Page No. 
 
1.  Introduction 
 
1.1  The Licensing Objectives  3 
1.2  The Waverley Borough Council area 3 
1.3  Consultation    4 
1.4  Declaration    54 
1.5  Responsible authorities  5 
1.6  Interested parties   5 
1.7  Exchange of information  6 
1.8  Enforcement    7 
 
2.  Premises Licences 
 
2.1  Decision making – general  97 
2.2  Appropriate Licence Environment 98 
2.3.  Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 98 
2.4  Risk Assessments: Betting Premises 108 
2.5  Location    119 
2.6  Multiple licences/layout of buildings 119 
2.7  Conditions    120 
2.8  Door supervisors   121 
2.9  Adult gaming centres   131 
2.10  Licensed family entertainment centres 142 
2.11  Tracks     152 
2.12  Casinos    164 
2.13  Betting premises   164 
2.14  Bingo     174 
2.15  Temporary Uuse Nnotices (TUN)  185 
2.16   Occasional Use Notices (OUN) 18 
 
3.  Permits 
 
3.1  Unlicensed family entertainment centres 195 
3.2  Alcohol licensed premises – gaming machine permits 196 
3.3  Prize gaming permits   2017 
3.4  Club gaming and club machine permits 218 
 
3.5   Small society lotteries   22 
 

Page 130



3 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Licensing Objectives 
 
 The Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”) gives licensing authorities various regulatory 

functions in relation to gambling. 
 
 The Gambling Commission will have responsibility for dealing with personal licences 

and operating licences. 
 
 Waverley Borough Council (“the Council”) is the Licensing Authority for the purposes 

of the Act.   
 
 The main functions of licensing authorities are:- 
 

• Licensing premises for gambling activities; 

• Considering notices given for the temporary use of premises for gambling; 

• Granting permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs; 

• Regulating gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises; 

• Granting permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines; 

• Granting permits for prize gaming; 

• Considering occasional use notices for betting at tracks; 

• Registering small societies’ society lotteries below prescribed thresholds. 
 
 In exercising most of their functions under the Act, licensing authorities must have 

regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act.  The licensing 
objectives are:- 

 

• Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated 
with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

• Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

• Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 
 Certain activities such as bingo, raffles, some types of lotteries may be exempt from 

licensing, depending on the scale and frequency of the activity.  In referring to 
“disorder” the Council will take account of activity and behaviour which is excessively 
aggressive and/or abusive to an extent beyond what might be regarded as nuisance. 

 
 
 
1.2 The Waverley Borough Area 
 
 Waverley is a large rural borough, characterised by beautiful countryside, distinctive 

towns and villages, and includes high streets with character, protected green areas 
and a diverse business community. Waverley Borough covers an area of 345 square 
kilometres in south-west Surrey and is the largest district by geographic area in Surrey.  
The Borough is predominantly rural; three-quarters of the area is agricultural land and 
woodland, 61 per cent is Green Belt and 80 per cent is covered by environmental 
protection policies including the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty.  
Waverley is 35 miles from central London and is served by good strategic road and rail 
links but has a predominantly rural road network and limited public transport.   

 

Page 131



4 
 

 Waverley has a population of 121,572 (2011 census), of whom three-quarters live in 
the Borough's four main settlements; Farnham, Godalming, Haslemere and Cranleigh.  
The proportion of young people (0-14 years) is 20 per cent and is close to the regional 
and national averages.  The district has 19. per cent of the population above pension 
age. The proportion of people from ethnic groups other than “white British” is  9.4 per 
cent; this compares with  14.8 per cent for the South East and  20 per cent for England.   

 
 The Council’s Vision is “ that Waverley borough “will continue to be environmentallybe 

environmentally, economically and financially sustainable with healthy inclusive 
communities  andcommunities and housing available for all those who need it. an 
attractive and prosperous place to live, work and visit. Strategic priorities include 
supporting a strong, resilient local economy and improving the health and wellbeing of 
our residents. A place where our residents can take pride in their communities and 
where there are opportunities for all to thrive and lead healthy lives. A place that is 
valued by its community and supported by quality public services”. 

 
 The Council recognises that the entertainment and leisure industry, and shopping, 

contribute to Waverley’s urban and rural economies.  These have a part to play in 
attracting tourists and visitors and are major employers ensuring that Waverley is an 
attractive and prosperous place to live, visit and work. 

 
 This policy statement will both guide the Council in exercising its licensing functions 

under the Gambling Act 2005 and provide clarity for applicants for licensing and for 
residents and others, including interested parties. 

 
 Applicants are required when submitting their licensing applications to show how their 

proposals will meet the Council’s Policy, as shown in this Statement, and the 
Government’s stated Licensing Objectives for gambling. 

 
 The Council is the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the Gambling Act 2005 (“the 

Act”) and is responsible for granting licences, permits and registration in the Borough 
of Waverley for the activities described by the Act. 

 
 A map of Waverley Borough is attached as Annexe 1. 
 
1.3 Consultation 
 
 This statement of policy has been prepared in consultation with the following 

persons/bodies:- 
 

• The Chief Officer of Police; 

• One or more persons who appear to the Council to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Council’s area; 

• One or more persons who appear to the Council to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Council’s functions 
under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
 A full list of consultees is attached as Annexe 3. 
 
 This Statement of Gambling Policy was published on, [03 January 2022 

 ] and comes into effect on [31 January 2022 
 ].  It will remain in force for no more than 3 years, butyears but may be reviewed 
at any time. 

 

Page 132



5 
 

1.4 Declaration 
 
 This statement of policy has been prepared with due regard to the licensing objectives, 

the guidance to licensing authorities issued in September 2015April 2021  (last 
updated September 2016) by the Gambling Commission, and with due weight attached 
to any responses received from those consulted. 

 
 This statement of policy will not override the right of any person to make an application, 

make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a licence, as each 
will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory requirements of the 
Act.   

 
 
 
1.5 Responsible Authorities 
 
 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities (public bodies that must be 

notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations) under the Act are 
available via the Council’s website at www.waverley.gov.uk , and also listed at Annexe 
2 to this document. 

 
 In exercising the Council’s powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the Council about the protection of 
children from harm, the following principles have been applied: 

 

• the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area; 

• the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group, etc. 

 
 Having regard to the above principles, the Council designates the Surrey Children’s 

Service for this purpose. 
 
1.6 Interested Parties 
 
 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 

review of an existing licence.  Section 158 of the Act defines interested parties as 
persons who, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority; 

 
a) live sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities; 
b) have business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; or 
c) represent persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) above. 

 
 Whether or not a person is an interested party is a decision that will be taken by the 

Council on a case-by-case basis.  However, the following factors will be taken into 
account:- 

 

• the size of the premises; 

• the nature of the premises; 

• the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 
representation; 

• the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be 
taken by those visiting the establishment);  

Page 133

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


6 
 

• the nature of the complainant.  This is not the personal characteristics of the 
complainant but the interests of the complainant which may be relevant to the 
distance from their premises.  For example, it could be reasonable for the 
Council to conclude that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could 
have a different meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for 
children with truanting problems and (c) a residential hostel for vulnerable 
adults; 

• the “catchment” area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); and 
whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 
catchment area, that might be affected.   

 
 This list is not exhaustive and other factors may be taken into consideration in an 

individual case. 
 
 The Council considers the following bodies/associations to fall within the category of 

those who represent persons living close to premises, or having business interests that 
might be affected by the authorised activities:- 

 

• town and parish councils; 

• trade associations; 

• trade unions; 

• residents’ and tenants’ associations; 

• ward/county/parish councillors; 

• Members of ParlimentParliament; 

• School Head or Governor; 

• Community Group. 
 
 This list is not exhaustive and the Council may consider other bodies/associations and 

persons to fall within the category in the circumstances of an individual case 
 
 The Council may require written evidence that the person/association/body represents 

an interested party. 
 
1.7 Exchange of Information 
 
 The Council regards the lawful and correct treatment of information as very important 

to the successful and efficient performance of the Council’s functions, and to 
maintaining confidence between the people/bodies we deal with and ourselves.  We 
ensure that our organisation treats information lawfully and correctly. 

 
 The Council may share information in accordance with the following provisions of the 

Act and other Government legislation which may require the sharing of information: - 
 

• Sections 29 and 30 (with respect to information shared between the Council 
and the Gambling Commission); 

• Section 350 (with respect to information shared between the Council and the 
other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act). Namely, 

o a constable or police force 
o an enforcement officer 
o a licensing authority 
o HMRC 
o the first tier tribunal 

•o the Secretary of State   
 

Formatted: Font: Arial, 11 pt

Formatted: List Paragraph, Tab stops: Not at  1.27 cm

Page 134



7 
 

 In the exercise of the above functions, consideration shall also be given to the common 
law duty of confidence, the law relating to defamation, the guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission and to the Council’s policies in relation to data protection and 
access to information (freedom of information). 

 
 The Council adopts the principles of better regulation and the Regulators’ Code in the 

exercise of regulatory function, that is:- 
 
  Proportionality:  The Council will seek policy solutions appropriate for the 

perceived problem or risk. 
 
  Accountability:  The Council will ensure that its decisions may be justified and 

are open to public scrutiny. 
 
  Consistency:  The Council will refer to policies, rules and standards that are 

consistent with its other functional responsibilities and are fairly implemented. 
 
  Transparency:  The Council’s policy objectives will be clearly defined and 

effectively communicated to all stakeholders. 
 
  Targeting:  The Council will focus its policies on relevant problems, seeking to 

minimise side effects and avoid unintended consequences. 
 
 Any information shared between the Council and Surrey Police must also be carried 

out in accordance with the Surrey Multi-Agency Information Sharing Protocol produced 
by the Surrey Community Safety Unit where appropriate for the purpose of prevention 
and detection of crime and for public protection.. 

 
 Any person wishing to obtain further information about their rights under data 

protection (General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679  and the Data Protection Act 
2018) or access to information legislation may view the Council’s policies at 
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-
FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection 
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/info/200031/data_protection_and_freedom_of_informatio
n or alternatively contact the Data Protection Officer or Information Rights Officer on 
(01483) 523333 or Email; dpo@waverley.gov.uk or foi@waverley.gov.uk  

 
1.8 Enforcement  
 
 The Council adopts a risk-based approach to the inspection of gambling premises.  

This will allow for the targeting of high-risk premises, or those where a breach would 
have serious consequences so that resources are effectively concentrated.  Premises 
that are low risk and/or well run will be subject to a less frequent inspection regime. 

 
 Where necessary, appropriate enforcement (including prosecution under section 346 

of the Act) will be carried out in a fair and consistent manner in accordance with:- 
 

• The Enforcement Concordat; 

• The Better Regulation and Hampton Principles; 

• Waverley Borough Council enforcement policies. 
 

The Council has set up multi-disciplinary working groups to ensure the proper 
integration of local crime prevention, (e.g. Joint Action Group).    

Page 135

https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection
mailto:dpo@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:foi@waverley.gov.uk


8 
 

The Council has also set up a Joint Enforcement Initiative to protect the borough’s 
environment by combating environmental crime, and to work more cohesively and 
effectively to enforce against anti-social behaviour.Waverley is committed to support 
Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable People. Waverley’s Safeguarding PolicyFurther 
information can be found at; 
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Benefits-and-community-support/Crime-and-
safety/Safeguarding 

 http://www.waverley.gov.uk/info/870/community_safety/920/safeguarding/1 
 

Information on the Safer Waverley Partnership can be found at 
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Benefits-and-community-support/Crime-and-
safety/Safeguarding 

 And Safer Waverley Partnership Draft Partnership Strategy and Plan 2017-20 at; 
http://www.waverley.gov.uk/downloads/file/5767/safer_waverley_partnership_SWP_p
artnership_and_strategy_plan_2017-2020 
 

 
 ‘Providing the Licensing Authority with details of where a child or young person 

repeatedly attempts to gamble on their premises may provide the Licensing Authority 
with an opportunity to consider safeguarding concerns. The Licensing Authority 
continues to raise awareness in cooperation with Surrey Police  Police of warning signs 
of child sexual exploitation, via Operation Makesafe, (a national initiative) amongst the 
business community. To date, efforts have been focused on providing awareness to 
hotels, taxi companies and licensed premises.’ 

 
 ‘Larger operators are responsible for conducting/taking part in underage testing, 

results of which are shared with the Gambling Commission. Operators are encouraged 
to also make the results available to licensing authorities, as far as is practicable.’ 

 
 The Council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far as 

possible.   
 
 Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt 

with by the Council but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 
 
 The Council recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises in its 

area.  In order to ensure compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the earliest 
stage, operators are requested to give the Council a single named point of contact, 
who should be a senior individual, and whom the Council will contact first should any 
compliance queries or issues arise. 
 

 The Council will notify the Gambling Commission of any concerns about misleading 
advertising or absence of required game rules or other matters as set out in the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice to ensure that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  

 
2. Premises Licences 
 

The Council will issue premises licences to allow those premises to be used for 
certain types of gambling. These are: 
a) casino premises, 
b) bingo premises 
c) betting premises including tracks and premises used by betting 
intermediaries, 
d) adult gaming centre premises, or 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.25 cm

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm

Page 136



9 
 

e) family entertainment centre premises. 
 

2.1 Decision Making - General 
 

 The Gambling Commission will take the lead role in keeping gambling free from 
crime by vetting applicants for operator and personal licences.  

 
 In accordance with Section 153 of the Act, the Council shall aim to permit the use of 

premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:- 
 

• in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

• in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling Commission; 

• reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

• in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy. 

•  

•  
 
 The Council will not have regard to the expected demand for the facilities which it is 

proposed to provide, nor the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission 
or building regulations approval for the proposal. 

 
 Moral objections to gambling will not be considered by the Council, as they are not a 

valid reason for rejecting an application for a premises licence. 
 
 Each case will be considered on its individual merits.  However, in order to assist 

applicants and objectors alike, this section sets out the general factors that will be 
taken into account by the Council when considering applications for premises licences. 

 
 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation sets out which of the Council’s decision-making 

functions under the Act are delegated to officers.  
 
2.2 Appropriate Licence Environment 
 
 The Guidance to Local Authorities and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 

(in effect from April 20182021), set out additional matters that the Council should take 
into account when considering licence applications for premises licences. 

 
 Guidance section 19, Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  condition 16 and code 

9 prescribe restrictions on gambling activities on premises, previously known as 
primary gambling activity. The Ccouncil will consider any application based on the 
provisions in these codes and guidance. 

 
2.3 Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 

 
 Part Section 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out 

considerations that an operator must make in order to protect children and young 
people from accessing gambling premises. 

 
 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  issued in 2015 prescribe how operators 

must prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, 
particularly where gaming machines are licensed. 

 In particular operators must ensure that; 
 

Formatted: Indent: Left:  1.27 cm,  No bullets or numbering,
Tab stops: Not at  1.27 cm

Page 137



10 
 

▪ All staff are trained 
▪ That all customers are supervised when on gambling premises 
▪ Must have procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of 

gambling related harm 
 
 

The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as 
required by the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice   on social responsibility to 
cover all aspects of the code, in particular staff training records and self-exclusion 
records. 
 
Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the social 
responsibility code. The Council will take all conditions and codes into account when 
considering applications or preforming enforcement activities. 

 
2.4 Risk Assessments: Betting Premises 
 

Such risk assessments are required from new applicants, and from existing premises 
licensees seeking to vary a licence.  The code requires all operators of Casinos, Adult 
Gaming Centres ,Centres, Bingo Premises, Family Entertainment Centres ,Centres, 
Betting shops and remote betting intermediaries to assess local risks to the licensing 
objectives, and to have policies, procedures and control measures in place to mitigate 
those risks. 
 
Operators are required by the Social Responsibility code  tocode to make the risk 
assessment available to licensing authorities when an application is submitted either 
for new premises licence or variation of a premises licence, or otherwise on request, 
and this will form part of the Council’s inspection regime and may be requested when 
officers are investigating complaints. 
 
This Council expects the following matters to be considered by operators when making 
their risk assessment:- 

 • Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 
underage gambling 

 • Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions 
and gaming trends 

 • Urban setting such as proximity to schools, commercial environment, factors 
affecting footfall 

 • Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other gambling 
outlets, banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type facilities 

 • Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, 
youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities etc. 

 • Matters realign to children and young persons, including: 
 • Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons 

should be expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and 
entertainment venues such as bowling alleys, cinemas etc. 

 • Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, cafres, shops, 
and any other place where children are attracted 

 • Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in an anti socialanti-social 
behaviour, including such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking etc. 

 • Recorded incidents of attemt6pted underage gambling 
  Matters relating to vulnerable adult including:- 
 • Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling 

Page 138



11 
 

 • Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days 
or benefit payments 

 • Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self exclusions 
and gaming trends 

 • Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 
hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctors’ surgeries, council 
housing offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol or drug 
dependant people may congregate 

 
 
2.5 Location 
 
 The location of premises may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives.  

In particular, premises located in close proximity to the following may give rise to 
concern:- 

 

• schools and colleges; 

• vulnerable adult centres; 

• residential areas with a high concentration of children. 
 
 Much will depend upon the type of gambling that it is proposed will be offered on the 

premises.  The Council will, where appropriate, consider the location on a case-by-
case basis.  If the proposed location does pose a risk to the promotion of the licensing 
objectives, applicants will be invited to show how they propose to overcome such 
concerns. 

 
2.6 Multiple Licences/Layout of Buildings 
 
 Premises are defined in the Act as including “any place”, but no more than one 

premises licence can apply in relation to any one place.  A single building can be 
subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of the 
building and those parts can reasonably be regarded as being “different premises” for 
the purposes of the Act. 

 
 Operators must ensure that their policies and procedures take account of their 

structure and layout of the premises.  
 
 Where multiple licences are sought for a building (or a discrete part of a building used 

for other non-gambling purposes), specific issues will need to be considered by the 
Council before such application(s) can be granted.  These include:- 

 

• the ability of children to gain access to or observe gambling facilities (even 
accidentally) – entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by more 
than one premises licence should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and so that people (and, 
in particular, children) do not drift into a gambling area; 

• whether entrances are supervised; 

• the compatibility of the two or more establishments; and 

• the ability of the establishments to comply with the requirements of the Act.   
 
 In accordance with the Gambling Commission guidance, an overriding consideration 

will be whether, taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other 
facilities has the effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, be 
prohibited under the Act. 

Page 139



12 
 

 
2.7 Conditions 
 
 Conditions may be imposed by the Licensing Authority upon a premises licence in a 

number of ways.  These are:- 
 

(a) Mandatory – set by the Secretary of State (some set out on the face of the Act) 
and some to be prescribed in regulations, for all, or classes, of licences; 

(b) Default – to be prescribed in regulations made by the Secretary of State, to be 
attached to all or classes of licences unless excluded by the Licensing 
Authority; 

(c) Specific – conditions that can be attached to an individual premises licence by 
the Licensing Authority. 

 
 Conditions imposed by the Council will be proportionate to the circumstances that they 

are seeking to address.  In particular, this Council will ensure that premises licence 
conditions: 

 

• Are relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a gambling 
facility; 

• Are directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

• Are fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 

• Are reasonable in all other respects. 
 
 Certain matters may not be the subject of conditions.  These are:- 
 

• any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply with 
an operating licence condition; 

• conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation; 

• conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

• conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes. 
 
 
 
 
2.8 Door Supervisors 
 
 It is not a mandatory requirement of the Act to impose a condition relating to door 

supervision.  However, if in any particular case the Council does consider it necessary 
to impose a condition on a premises licence requiring the presence of door 
supervisors, such persons would normally need to hold a licence from the Security 
Industry Authority  underAuthority under the Private Security Industry Act 2001. 

 
 This requirement is relaxed when applied to door supervisors at licensed casino or 

bingo premises.  Where ‘contract’ staff (those employed under a contract for services) 
are employed as door supervisors at casino or bingo premises, such staff will need to 
be licensed by the SIA.  ‘In-house’ staff (those staff employed under a contract of 
service) operating as door supervisors at casino and bingo premises are exempt from 
the licensing requirements of the Private Security Industry Act   2001.  The Council 
may, however, impose specific requirements on door supervisors at such premises, if 
considered appropriate in an individual case. 

Page 140



13 
 

 
2.9 Adult Gaming Centres  
 
 An Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) is one of three types of amusement arcade. 
 This type of arcade can provide higher payoutpay-out gaming machines (Category B3 
 and B4) and access is restricted to persons who are aged 18 years or over. 
 
 Persons operating an adult gaming centre must hold a ‘gaming machines general 

operating licence (adult gaming centre)  fromcentre) from the Commission and a 
premises licence from the Council.  This will allow the operator to make available any 
number of category C and D machines and; to make available a number of category B 
gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total number of gaming machines which 
are available for use on the premises.  

 
 Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 are entitled to make available four category 

B3/B4 gaming machines, or 20% of the total number of gaming machines, whichever 
is the greater.  

 
Adult gaming centre  premises licences granted on or after 13 July 2011 but before 1 April 

2014 are entitled to a maximum of four category B3/B4 gaming machines or 20% of 
the total.  
 

 No one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an  adultan adult gaming centre. 
 
 In considering licence applications for adult gaming centres, weight will be given to the 

need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling.  The Council will therefore expect applicants to demonstrate that there will 
be sufficient measures in place to promote this objective.   

  
 Applicants are encouraged to consider the following steps:- 
 

• Proof of age schemes; 

• Closed Circuit Television ; 

• Supervision of entrances/machine areas; 

• Reviewing the location of, and entry to, premises (so as to minimise the 
opportunities for children to gain access); 

• Notices/signage; 

• Training for staff on challenging persons suspected of being under-age; 

• Specific opening hours; 

• Self-barring schemes; 

• Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures and good practice. 
 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to premises 

licences authorising adult gaming centres. 
 
2.10 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres  
 
 A Licensed family entertainment centre (LFEC) is the second type of 
 amusement arcade. This type of arcade can provide the lowest two categories 
 of gaming machine (category C and D). Children can enter an LFEC but they 

Page 141



14 
 

 can only gamble on category D machines. All category C machines must be 
 located in a separate area, which can only be accessed by persons who are 
 aged 18 years or over. 
 
 Operators of licensed family entertainment centres  mustcentres must hold a gaming 

machine general (Family Entertainment Centre) operating licence (Family 
Entertainment Centre)  fromCentre) from the Gambling Commission, and a premises 
licence from the Council.  This will allow the operator to make category C and D 
machines available to their customers. 

 
 Children and young persons will be able to enter licensed family entertainment centres 

and play on the category D machines.  They will not be permitted to play on category 
C (adult only) machines.   

 
 As family entertainment centres  willcentres will particularly appeal to children and 

young persons, weight shall be given to child protection issues.  Where category C 
machines are available in licensed family entertainment centres the Council will 
normally require that:- 

 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by staff of the operator or the licence holder; 

• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18; and 

• provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 Applicants are therefore encouraged to consider the steps set out at paragraph 2.6 of 

this statement in order to prevent children and young persons from gaining access to 
category C machines.  In addition, applicants are encouraged to consider the 
following:- 

 

• Physical separation of areas; 

• Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children 
on the premises. 

 
 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to premises 

licences authorising licensed family entertainment centres. 
 
2.11 Tracks 
 
 Tracks are sites (including racecourses and dog tracks) where a race or other sporting 

event is intended to take place or takes place.  Operators of tracks will require a 
premises licence from the Council, but they do not need to obtain an operating licence 
from the Gambling Commission (although they may have one). 

 

Page 142



15 
 

 Tracks may be subject to one or more than one premises licence, provided each 
licence relates to a specified area of the track.   

 
 It will be a mandatory condition of all track licences that children and young persons 

are excluded from any areas where facilities for betting are provided, and any area 
where a gaming machine, other than a category D machine, is situated.  Special 
dispensation from this rule is provided for dog tracks and horse racecourses, on days 
when racing takes place, in relation to the areas used for betting.  On these days 
families will be entitled to attend the track or racecourse, and children enter the areas 
where facilities for betting are provided.  This “race day dispensation” does not apply 
to the areas where gaming machines of category B and C are provided, and the 
Council will therefore wish to ensure that suitable measures are in place to prevent 
children from entering such areas.   

 
 Applicants are encouraged to consider the steps set out at paragraph 2.6 in order to 

prevent the access of children and young people to machines of category B and C.  In 
addition, applicants are encouraged to consider the following:- 

 

• Physical separation of areas; 

• Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school children 
on the premises. 

 
 Gaming machines – holders of betting premises licences in respect of tracks who also 

hold a pool betting operating licence may make available up to four gaming machines 
(categories B2 to D) on the track.  The Council will therefore expect the applicant to 
demonstrate that suitable measures are in place to ensure that children are prevented 
from entering areas where machines (other than category D machines) are made 
available. 

 
 Betting machines at tracks - the Council will apply similar considerations to those set 

out in paragraph 2.10 (in relation to betting machines made available at off-course 
betting premises) to betting machines made available at tracks.   

 
 Condition on rules being displayed - the Council will attach a condition to track 

premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are prominently 
displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken to ensure that 
they are made available to the public.  For example, the rules could be printed in the 
race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office. 

 
 Applications and plans - the Council will require the following information from 

applicants for premises licences in respect of tracks: - 
 

• detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be used for 
temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting ring”); 

• in the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses, details of the fixed and mobile 
pool betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as any 
other proposed gambling facilities. 

 
 Plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the track betting 

premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate 
application for a different type of premises licence. 

 
 
 

Page 143



16 
 

 
 
2.12 Casinos 
 
 The Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the 
 opportunity to participate in one or more casino games. Casino games are 
 defined as a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming. This means 
 that casino games offer the chance for multiple participants to take part in a 
 game competing against the house or bank at different odds to their fellow 
 players. Casinos can also provide equal chance gaming and gaming machines. 
 Large and small casinos can also provide betting machines. 
 
 “No Casinos resolution” - The Council has not passed a “no casino” resolution under 

Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005,  
 
 The Gambling (Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises 
 Licences) Order 2008 specifies which authorities may issue large and small 
 casino premises licences. As Waverley Borough Council is not one of the local 
 authorities permitted to issue these casino licences, it is therefore not 
 necessary to consider making a further ‘no casino’ resolution. 
 
 Should legislation change and/or the council decide in the future to pass such a 
 resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any 
 such decision will be made by the Full Council. 
but is aware that it has the power to do so.  Should the Council decide in the future to pass 

such a resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that resolution.    
 
2.13 Betting Premises 
 
 The Act contains a single class of licence for betting premises however within 
 this single class there are different types of premises which require licensing 
 such as high street bookmakers, bookmakers located in self- contained facilities 
 at racecourses as well as the general betting premises licences that track 
 operators will require. 
 
 This paragraph deals with off-course betting, that is betting that takes place other than 

at a track (commonly known as a licensed betting office).  Operators of betting 
premises will require an operating licence from the Gambling Commission and a 
premises licence from the Council. 

 
 The holder of a betting premises licence may make available for use up to four gaming 

machines of category B, C or D. machines at betting premises are restricted to sub-
category B2, B3 and B4 machines. 

 
 The Council may, in accordance with section 181 of the Act, restrict the number of 

betting machines, their nature, and the circumstances in which those machines are 
made available for use.  When considering whether to impose such a condition, the 
Council will take into account the following: - 

 

• the size of the premises; 

• the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions; 
and 

• the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people. 

Page 144



17 
 

 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to betting 

premises licences. 
 
 With respect to the protection of vulnerable persons, the Council will expect applicants 

to provide information on how to gamble responsibly and access help including 
leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
2.14 Bingo 
 
 A Bingo Hall is a place in which Bingo is played. There is no legal definition of 
 Bingo but it is a game in which players mark off numbers on cards as the 
 numbers are drawn randomly by the caller, the winner being the first person to 
 mark off all the numbers on their card. 
 
 Operators of premises offering bingo (cash or prize) will require a bingo operating 

licence from the Gambling Commission, and a premises licence from the Council. 
 

The holder of a bingo premises licence may, in addition to bingo in all its forms, make 
available a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total 
number of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises and any 
number of category C and D machines.Premises in existence before 13 July 2011 
are entitled to make available eight category B3/B4 gaming machines, or 20% of the 
total number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater.  
 
Bingo premises licences granted on or after 13 July 2011 but before 1 April 2014 are 
entitled to a maximum of eight category B3/B4 gaming machines or 20% of the total 
number of gaming machines, whichever is the greater; from 1 April 2014 these 
premises will be entitled to 20% of the total number of gaming machines only. 

 
 
 It is important that if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo that they 

do not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines.  Where category C 
or above machines are available in premises to which children are admitted the Council 
will normally require that:- 

 

• all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

• only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

• access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

• the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be observed 
by staff of the operator or the licence holder; 

• at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18; and 

• provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to bingo 

premises licences. 
 
 
 
 

Page 145



18 
 

 
2.15 Temporary Use Notices 
 
 Temporary Use Notices  allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 

premises licence but where a person or company holding a relevant operators licence 
wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. 

 
 The Secretary of State has the power to determine the form of gambling that 
 can be authorised by Temporary Use Notices. At this time the relevant 
 regulations (SI no 3157 of 2007: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) 
 Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit 
 the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended 
 to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker 

tournaments.Theretournaments. There are a number of statutory limits in regards to 
temporary use notices.   

 
 If objections are received to a temporary use notice (from the Police, Gambling 

Commission, HM Revenues and Customs or if applicable, any other licensing authority 
in whose area the premises are situated), the Council must hold a hearing to consider 
the representation (unless all the participants agree that a hearing is unnecessary). 

 
 If the Council, after a hearing has taken place or been dispensed with, considers that 

the temporary use notice should not have effect, it must issue a counter-notice which 
may:- 

 

• prevent the temporary use notice from taking effect; 

• limit the activities that are permitted; 

• limit the time period of the gambling; or 

• allow the activities to take place subject to a specified condition. 
 
 The Council will apply the principles set out in paragraph 2.1 of this statement to any 

consideration as to whether to issue a counter-notice. 
 
2.16 Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) 
 
 Occasional Use Notices allow licensed bookmakers to provide betting facilities at 

genuine sporting events for a short period of time, without needing a full betting 
premises licence. 

 
 For example, at point-to point racecourses or major golf tournaments.  
 
 The event must be temporary or infrequent. 
 
 Serving an Occasional Use Notice 
 
 An occasional use notice (OUN) must: 
 •be made in writing 
 •sent in advance to the local authority 
 •copied to the local chief of police (or chief constable in Scotland). 
 
 
 An OUN cannot be used for more than eight days in a calendar year for any one venue.  
 

Page 146



19 
 

 The person administering the gambling under an OUN must hold a Gambling 
Commission operating licence. 

 
3. Permits 
 
3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre  gaming machine permits  
 
 An unlicensed family entertainment centre (UFEC) is the third type of 

amusement arcade. The category of machine in this type of arcade is restricted 
to the lowest category D and children can enter and gamble. 

 
 Where a person does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
 machines, he/she may apply to us for this permit. The applicant must show that 
 the premises will be wholly or mainly, used for making gaming machines 
 available for use (Section 238 of the Gambling Act 2005). 
 
 Unlicensed family entertainment centres will be able to offer category D machines if 

granted a permit by the Council.  If an operator of a family entertainment centre wishes 
to make category C machines available in addition to category D machines, they will 
need to apply for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission and a premises 
licence from the Council. 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a permit, but cannot attach 

conditions. 
 
 The Council will require the applicant to provide appropriate insurance certificates and 

adequate plans of the premises. 
 
 As  unlicensed family entertainment centres will particularly appeal to children and 

young persons, weight shall be given to child protection issues.   
 
 The Council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures in 

place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm from 
gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The efficiency of such 
policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they may 
include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant school 
children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff should deal with 
unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on/around the premises. 

 
 The Council will also expect applicants to demonstrate a full understanding of the 

maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed family 
entertainment centres; that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are 
set out in Schedule 7 to the Act); and that staff are trained to have a full understanding 
of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

 
3.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits  
 
 Two machines or less 
 
 Premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises can automatically 

have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The holder of the premises 
licence authorising the sale of alcohol will simply need to notify the Council in writing, 
and pay the prescribed fee.   

 

Page 147



20 
 

 The Council can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 
premises if:- 

 

• provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

• gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 
282 of the Act (for example the gaming machines have been made available in 
a way that does not comply with the requirements on the location/operation of 
gaming machines); 

• the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

• an offence under the Act has been committed on the premises. 
 
 More than two machines 
 
 If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then the holder of the premises 

licence will need to apply for a permit.  The Council shall consider that application 
having regard to the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission issued under Section 25 of the Act, and any other matters that are 
considered relevant. 

 
 The Council shall determine what constitutes a relevant consideration on a case-by-

case basis, but weight shall be given to the third licensing objective, i.e. protecting 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling.  
To this end, the Council will expect applicants to demonstrate that there will be 
sufficient measures in place to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to 
the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the Council that there 
will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the 
sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 18.  
Notices and signage may also be of help.   

 
 With respect to the protection of vulnerable persons, the Council will expect applicants 

to provide information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 
 
 It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a premises licence 

for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely need to 
be submitted, and dealt with, as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
 The Council can decide to grant the application with a smaller number of machines 

and/or a different category of machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than 
these) cannot be attached. 

 
 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the Gambling 

Commission about the location and operation of the machine. 
 
3.3 Prize gaming permits  
 
 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 
 statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
 under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing 
 authority proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a 
 permit”. 
 
 Applicants for prize gaming permits should set out the types of gaming that they are 

intending to offer.  The applicant should be able to demonstrate that:- 

Page 148



21 
 

 

• they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations; 
and 

• the gaming offered is within the law. 
 
 In making its decision on an application for this type of permit the Council does not 

need to have regard to the licensing objectives but may wish to do so and must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  Weight will be given to child protection 
issues, and relevant considerations are likely to include the suitability of the applicant 
(i.e. if the applicant has any convictions which would make them unsuitable to operate 
prize gaming) and the suitability of the premises.  Applicants for prize gaming permits 
must disclose any previous relevant convictions to the Council. 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a permit, but cannot attach any 

conditions.  However, there are four conditions in the Act that permit holders must 
comply with.  These are:- 

 

• the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied with; 

• all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the game 
must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

• the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 
and 

• participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling. 

 
 
 
 
3.4 Club gaming and club machine permits 
 
 Members' clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club gaming permit, unless 

they already hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.  The club 
gaming permits allow the provision of no more than three gaming machines in total. 
Each of the three machines must be from categories B3A, B4, C or D but only one B3A 
machine can be sited, as part of this entitlement. Club gaming permits also allow equal-
chance gaming (for example, poker) and games of chance (for example, pontoon, 
chemin-de-fer) under certain restrictions 

 
If a club does not wish to have the full range of facilities permitted by a club 
gaming permit or if they are a commercial club not permitted to provide non-
machine gaming (other than exempt gaming under section 269 of the Act), they 
may apply for a club machine permit. A club machine permit allows the holder to 
have no more than three gaming machines in total. Members' clubs and miners' 
welfare institutes may site up to three machines from categories B3A, B4, C or D 
but only one B3A machine can be sited, by agreement, as part of this 
entitlement. Commercial clubs may site up to three machines from categories 
B4, C or D (not B3A machines).  

   
 
 Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted 

“wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 

Page 149



22 
 

separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, which 
will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must be 
permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and controlled by its 
members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal British 
Legion and clubs with political affiliations. 

  
 An application may only be refused on one or more of the following grounds:- 
 

• the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 
club and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied; 

• the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons; 

• an offence under the Act or a breach of a condition of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

• a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; or; 

• an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the Police 
 
 The Council shall have regard to the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

and (subject to that guidance), the licensing objectives. 
 
 There is a “fast-track” procedure available for clubs or institutes which hold a club 

premises certificate under section 72 of the Licensing Act 2003.  Under the fast-track 
procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling 
Commission or the Police, and the grounds upon which the Council can refuse a permit 
are reduced.   

 
 The grounds on which an application under the fast track procedure may be refused 

are:- 
 

• that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming 
prescribedbyprescribed by regulations under section 266 of the Actt; 

• that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or 

• that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in the 
last ten years has been cancelled. 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a club gaming or club machine 

permit, but cannot attach any conditions.  However, there are a number of conditions 
in the Act that the holder must comply with.  

 
3.5  Small society lotteries 
 
 The Council will adopt a risk-based approach towards our compliance 
 responsibilities for small society lotteries. We consider the following list, 
 although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator: 
 • Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three 
 months after the date on which the lottery draw was held) 
 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 
 • Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries 
 

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event 
as either an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are noncommercialnon-

commercial 

Page 150



23 
 

if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds 
of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is organised: 
• By, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 
• To enable participation in. or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 
activities. 

 
 Charities and community groups should contact us on (01483) 523219 or email 
 licensing@waverley.gov.uk to seek further advice. 
  
  

Page 151



24 
 

ANNEXE 1 – MAP OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH 
 

 

Page 152



25 
 

 

Page 153



26 
 

ANNEXE 2 - LIST OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES  
 
(a) The Licensing Authority  
 The Chief Executive, Council Offices, Waverley Borough Council, The Burys, 

Godalming, GU7 1HR;  Tel: 01483 523333 tom.horwood@waverley.gov.uk 
generalenquiries@waverley.gov.uk 

(b) The Gambling Commission 
 Victoria Square House, Victoria Square, Birmingham B2 4BP;  Tel: 0121 230 6666 
 info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 
 
(c) The Police Authority 

Chief Officer of Police c/o Police Licensing Officer, Surrey Police, P.O. Box 101, GU1 
9PE;  Tel: 01483 639512 licensingwestern@surrey.pnn.police.uk 
 

(d) The Fire Authority 
Surrey Fire & Rescue Service,.Service, Headquarters, SFRS Business Support, 70 
Wray Park Road, Croydon Road, Reigate, Surrey, RH2 0EJ Surrey County Council, 
Woodhatch Place, 11 Cockshot Hill, Reigate, Surrey, RH2 8EF 
Tel:  Tel: 01737 73373301483  517600 sfrsbusiness.support@surreycc.gov.uk 

 
(e) The Local Planning Authority 

Head of Planning Services (Chief Planning Officer), Waverley Borough Council, The 
Burys, Godalming, Surrey, GU7 1HR. 

 Tel: 014873 523333 planningenquiries@waverley.gov.uk  
 

(f) Local Authority – functions in relation to the prevention of pollution to 
environment or harm to human health  
Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services, Waverley Borough Council, The 
Burys, Godalming, Surrey, GU7 1HR. 

 Tel:  01483 523333 environmentalhealth@waverley.gov.uk  
 
(g) Representative body (in relation to protection of children from harm) 

County Child Employment and Strategy Manager, Quadrant Court, 35 Guildford 
Road, Woking, Surrey. GU22 7QQ 

 Tel:  01483 517839 0300 123 1630  nwcpproc.duty@surreycc.gov.uk-   
 
(h) Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Customs and Excise (Revenue and Customs) 
 HM Revenue and Customs,. National Registration Unit, Portcullis House, 21 India 

StretStreet, Glasgow, G2 4PZ  Excise Processing Teams, BX9 1GL, United Kingdom 
Tel.  0141 555 3466/3384 0300 322 7072 Option 7nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gov.uk 

  

 
(i) Any other person prescribed by regulations (to be advised) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 154

mailto:planningenquiries@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:environmentalhealth@waverley.gov.uk


27 
 

ANNEXE 3 – LIST OF CONSULTEES 

 
The Gambling Commission  
Surrey Police 
The Fire Authority 
The Planning Service, Waverley Borough Council 
The Environmental Health Service Waverley Borough Council  
Surrey Children’s Service (or others if appropriate) 
Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Customs and Excise  
Citizens’ Advice Bureau 
Gamble Aware - an independent charity which supports GamCare 
Town and Parish Councils 
The Security Industry Authority 
Waverley Business Forum 
The Public via Waverley Website & Public Notice Surrey Advertiser 03.09.2021 
 
 

 

Page 155



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

DRAFT  
REVIEW – June 2021 

 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 

STATEMENT OF POLICY 

 
June 2021 

 
Approved by the Waverley Borough Council on (draft consultation to be approved)   

 

 
   To be published on Website                                                      03 January 2022  
   To come into effect                                            31January 2022 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

All references to the guidance of the Gambling Commission to licensing authorities 

refer to the guidance published in April 2021   
 

 
 

  

Page 157

ANNEXE 2



2 
 

WAVERLEY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 

STATEMENT OF GAMBLING POLICY  
 

  IN FORCE FROM  31 January 2022 
 
 

1. Introduction ...................................................................................................................... 4 

1.1 The Licensing Objectives ................................................................................................ 4 

1.2 The Waverley Borough Area ........................................................................................... 4 

1.3 Consultation .................................................................................................................. 5 

1.4 Declaration.................................................................................................................... 5 

1.5 Responsible Authorities.................................................................................................. 6 

1.6 Interested Parties .......................................................................................................... 6 

1.7 Exchange of Information ................................................................................................ 7 

1.8 Enforcement.................................................................................................................. 8 

2. Premises Licences .............................................................................................................. 9 

2.1 Decision Making - General .............................................................................................. 9 

2.2 Appropriate Licence Environment ................................................................................. 10 

2.3 Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice ...................................................................... 10 

2.4 Risk Assessments: Betting Premises .............................................................................. 11 

2.5 Location ...................................................................................................................... 12 

2.6 Multiple Licences/Layout of Buildings ........................................................................... 12 

2.7 Conditions ................................................................................................................... 12 

2.8 Door Supervisors ......................................................................................................... 13 

2.9 Adult Gaming Centres .................................................................................................. 13 

2.10 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres......................................................................... 14 

2.11 Tracks ......................................................................................................................... 15 

2.12 Casinos........................................................................................................................ 16 

2.13 Betting Premises .......................................................................................................... 17 

2.14 Bingo .......................................................................................................................... 17 

2.15 Temporary Use Notices ................................................................................................ 18 

2.16 Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) ..................................................................................... 19 

3. Permits ........................................................................................................................... 19 

3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre  gaming machine permits ................................ 19 

Page 158



3 
 

3.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits .................................................... 20 

3.3 Prize gaming permits.................................................................................................... 21 

3.4 Club gaming and club machine permits ......................................................................... 22 

3.5  Small society lotteries .................................................................................................. 23 

ANNEXE 1 – MAP OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH ................................................................................. 24 

ANNEXE 2 - LIST OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES ........................................................................... 25 

ANNEXE 3 – LIST OF CONSULTEES ................................................................................................ 26 

 
 
 

Page 159



4 
 

1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Licensing Objectives 

 
 The Gambling Act 2005 (“the Act”) gives licensing authorities various regulatory 

functions in relation to gambling. 
 
 The Gambling Commission will have responsibility for dealing with personal licences 

and operating licences. 
 
 Waverley Borough Council (“the Council”) is the Licensing Authority for the purposes 

of the Act.   
 
 The main functions of licensing authorities are:- 
 

 Licensing premises for gambling activities; 
 Considering notices given for the temporary use of premises for gambling; 

 Granting permits for gaming and gaming machines in clubs; 

 Regulating gaming and gaming machines in alcohol licensed premises; 

 Granting permits to family entertainment centres for the use of certain lower 
stake gaming machines; 

 Granting permits for prize gaming; 
 Considering occasional use notices for betting at tracks; 

 Registering small society lotteries below prescribed thresholds . 
 
 In exercising most of their functions under the Act, licensing authorities must have 

regard to the licensing objectives as set out in section 1 of the Act.  The licensing 
objectives are:- 

 

 Preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being 
associated with crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 

 Ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way; 

 Protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or 
exploited by gambling. 

 
 Certain activities such as bingo, raffles, some types of lotteries may be exempt from 

licensing, depending on the scale and frequency of the activity.  In referring to 
“disorder” the Council will take account of activity and behaviour which is excessively 
aggressive and/or abusive to an extent beyond what might be regarded as nuisance. 

 
 
 
1.2 The Waverley Borough Area 

 
 Waverley is a large rural borough, characterised by beautiful countryside, distinctive 

towns and villages, and includes high streets with character, protected green areas 
and a diverse business community. Waverley Borough covers an area of 345 square 
kilometres in south-west Surrey and is the largest district by geographic area in 
Surrey.  The Borough is predominantly rural; three-quarters of the area is agricultural 
land and woodland, 61 per cent is Green Belt and 80 per cent is covered by 
environmental protection policies including the Surrey Hills Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty.  Waverley is 35 miles from central London and is served by good 
strategic road and rail links but has a predominantly rural road network and limited 
public transport.   

Page 160



5 
 

 
 Waverley has a population of 121,572 (2011 census), of whom three-quarters live in 

the Borough's four main settlements; Farnham, Godalming, Haslemere and 
Cranleigh.  The proportion of young people (0-14 years) is 20 per cent and is close to 
the regional and national averages.  The district has 19. per cent of the population 
above pension age.  

 
 The Council’s Vision is that Waverley borough “will be environmentally, economically 

and financially sustainable with healthy inclusive communities and housing available 
for all those who need it. . Strategic priorities include supporting a strong, resilient 
local economy and improving the health and wellbeing of our residents.  

 
 The Council recognises that the entertainment and leisure industry, and shopping, 

contribute to Waverley’s urban and rural economies.  These have a part to play in 
attracting tourists and visitors and are major employers ensuring that Waverley is an 
attractive and prosperous place to live, visit and work. 

 
 This policy statement will both guide the Council in exercising its licensing functions 

under the Gambling Act 2005 and provide clarity for applicants for licensing and for 
residents and others, including interested parties. 

 
 Applicants are required when submitting their licensing applications to show how 

their proposals will meet the Council’s Policy, as shown in this Statement, and the 
Government’s stated Licensing Objectives for gambling. 

 
 The Council is the Licensing Authority for the purposes of the Gambling Act 2005 

(“the Act”) and is responsible for granting licences, permits and registration in the 
Borough of Waverley for the activities described by the Act. 

 
 A map of Waverley Borough is attached as Annexe 1. 
 
1.3 Consultation 

 
 This statement of policy has been prepared in consultation with the following 

persons/bodies:- 
 

 The Chief Officer of Police; 

 One or more persons who appear to the Council to represent the interests of 
persons carrying on gambling businesses in the Council’s area; 

 One or more persons who appear to the Council to represent the interests of 
persons who are likely to be affected by the exercise of the Council’s 
functions under the Gambling Act 2005. 

 
 A full list of consultees is attached as Annexe 3. 
 
 This Statement of Gambling Policy was published on, [03 January 2022 

 ] and comes into effect on [31 January 2022 
 ].  It will remain in force for no more than 3 years but may be reviewed at any 
time. 

 
1.4 Declaration 

 
 This statement of policy has been prepared with due regard to the licensing 

objectives, the guidance to licensing authorities issued in April 2021  by the Gambling 

Page 161



6 
 

Commission, and with due weight attached to any responses received from those 
consulted. 

 
 This statement of policy will not override the right of any person to make an 

application, make representations about an application, or apply for a review of a 
licence, as each will be considered on its own merits and according to the statutory 
requirements of the Act.   

 
 
 
1.5 Responsible Authorities 

 
 The contact details of all the Responsible Authorities (public bodies that must be 

notified of applications and that are entitled to make representations) under the Act 
are available via the Council’s website at www.waverley.gov.uk , and also listed at 
Annexe 2 to this document. 

 
 In exercising the Council’s powers under Section 157(h) of the Act to designate, in 

writing, a body which is competent to advise the Council about the protection of 
children from harm, the following principles have been applied: 

 

 the need for the body to be responsible for an area covering the whole of the 
Licensing Authority’s area; 

 the need for the body to be answerable to democratically elected persons, 
rather than any particular vested interest group, etc. 

 
 Having regard to the above principles, the Council designates the Surrey Children’s 

Service for this purpose. 
 
1.6 Interested Parties 

 
 Interested parties can make representations about licence applications, or apply for a 

review of an existing licence.  Section 158 of the Act defines interested parties as 
persons who, in the opinion of the Licensing Authority; 

 
a) live sufficiently close to the premises to be likely to be affected by the 

authorised activities; 
b) have business interests that might be affected by the authorised activities; or 
c) represent persons who satisfy paragraph (a) or (b) above. 

 
 Whether or not a person is an interested party is a decision that will be taken by the 

Council on a case-by-case basis.  However, the following factors will be taken into 
account:- 

 

 the size of the premises; 

 the nature of the premises; 

 the distance of the premises from the location of the person making the 
representation; 

 the potential impact of the premises (number of customers, routes likely to be 
taken by those visiting the establishment);  

 the nature of the complainant.  This is not the personal characteristics of the 
complainant but the interests of the complainant which may be relevant to the 
distance from their premises.  For example, it could be reasonable for the 
Council to conclude that “sufficiently close to be likely to be affected” could 

Page 162

http://www.waverley.gov.uk/


7 
 

have a different meaning for (a) a private resident (b) a residential school for 
children with truanting problems and (c) a residential hostel for vulnerable 
adults; 

 the “catchment” area of the premises (i.e. how far people travel to visit); and 
whether the person making the representation has business interests in that 
catchment area, that might be affected.   

 
 This list is not exhaustive and other factors may be taken into consideration in an 

individual case. 
 
 The Council considers the following bodies/associations to fall within the category of 

those who represent persons living close to premises, or having business interests 
that might be affected by the authorised activities:- 

 

 town and parish councils; 

 trade associations; 

 trade unions; 

 residents’ and tenants’ associations; 

 ward/county/parish councillors; 
 Members of Parliament; 

 School Head or Governor; 

 Community Group. 
 
 This list is not exhaustive and the Council may consider other bodies/associations 

and persons to fall within the category in the circumstances of an individual case 
 
 The Council may require written evidence that the person/association/body 

represents an interested party. 
 
1.7 Exchange of Information 

 
 The Council regards the lawful and correct treatment of information as very important 

to the successful and efficient performance of the Council’s functions, and to 
maintaining confidence between the people/bodies we deal with and ourselves.  We 
ensure that our organisation treats information lawfully and correctly. 

 
 The Council may share information in accordance with the following provisions of the 

Act and other Government legislation which may require the sharing of information: - 
 

 Sections 29 and 30 (with respect to information shared between the Council 
and the Gambling Commission); 

 Section 350 (with respect to information shared between the Council and the 
other persons listed in Schedule 6 to the Act). Namely, 

o a constable or police force 
o an enforcement officer 
o a licensing authority 
o HMRC 
o the first tier tribunal 
o the Secretary of State   

 
 In the exercise of the above functions, consideration shall also be given to the 

common law duty of confidence, the law relating to defamation, the guidance issued 
by the Gambling Commission and to the Council’s policies in relation to data 
protection and access to information (freedom of information). 

Page 163



8 
 

 
 The Council adopts the principles of better regulation and the Regulators’ Code in the 

exercise of regulatory function, that is:- 
 
  Proportionality:  The Council will seek policy solutions appropriate for the 

perceived problem or risk. 
 
  Accountability:  The Council will ensure that its decisions may be justified and 

are open to public scrutiny. 
 
  Consistency:  The Council will refer to policies, rules and standards that are 

consistent with its other functional responsibilities and are fairly implemented. 
 
  Transparency:  The Council’s policy objectives will be clearly defined and 

effectively communicated to all stakeholders. 
 
  Targeting:  The Council will focus its policies on relevant problems, seeking to 

minimise side effects and avoid unintended consequences. 
 
 Any information shared between the Council and Surrey Police must also be carried 

out in accordance with the Surrey Multi-Agency Information Sharing Protocol 
produced by the Surrey Community Safety Unit where appropriate for the purpose of 
prevention and detection of crime and for public protection.. 

 
 Any person wishing to obtain further information about their rights under data 

protection (General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679  and the Data Protection 
Act 2018) or access to information legislation may view the Council’s policies at 
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-
FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection or alternatively contact 
the Data Protection Officer or Information Rights Officer on (01483) 523333 or Email; 
dpo@waverley.gov.uk or foi@waverley.gov.uk  

 
1.8 Enforcement  

 
 The Council adopts a risk-based approach to the inspection of gambling premises.  

This will allow for the targeting of high-risk premises, or those where a breach would 
have serious consequences so that resources are effectively concentrated.  
Premises that are low risk and/or well run will be subject to a less frequent inspection 
regime. 

 
 Where necessary, appropriate enforcement (including prosecution under section 346 

of the Act) will be carried out in a fair and consistent manner in accordance with:- 
 

 The Enforcement Concordat; 

 The Better Regulation and Hampton Principles; 

 Waverley Borough Council enforcement policies. 
 

The Council has set up multi-disciplinary working groups to ensure the proper 
integration of local crime prevention, (e.g. Joint Action Group).    
The Council has also set up a Joint Enforcement Initiative to protect the borough’s 
environment by combating environmental crime, and to work more cohesively and 
effectively to enforce against anti-social behaviour.Waverley is committed to support 
Safeguarding Children and Vulnerable People. Further information can be found at; 

Page 164

https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Council-information/Freedom-of-information-FOI-and-data-protection/Privacy-notice-and-data-protection
mailto:dpo@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:foi@waverley.gov.uk


9 
 

https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Benefits-and-community-support/Crime-and-
safety/Safeguarding 

  
Information on the Safer Waverley Partnership can be found at 
https://www.waverley.gov.uk/Services/Benefits-and-community-support/Crime-and-
safety/Safeguarding 

  
 

 
 ‘Providing the Licensing Authority with details of where a child or young person 

repeatedly attempts to gamble on their premises may provide the Licensing Authority 
with an opportunity to consider safeguarding concerns. The Licensing Authority 
continues to raise awareness in cooperation with Surrey Police of warning signs of 
child sexual exploitation, via Operation Makesafe (a national initiative) amongst the 
business community. To date, efforts have been focused on providing awareness to 
hotels, taxi companies and licensed premises.’ 

 
 ‘Larger operators are responsible for conducting/taking part in underage testing, 

results of which are shared with the Gambling Commission. Operators are 
encouraged to also make the results available to licensing authorities, as far as is 
practicable.’ 

 
 The Council will endeavour to avoid duplication with other regulatory regimes so far 

as possible.   
 
 Concerns about manufacture, supply or repair of gaming machines will not be dealt 

with by the Council but will be notified to the Gambling Commission. 
 
 The Council recognises that certain bookmakers have a number of premises in its 

area.  In order to ensure compliance issues are recognised and resolved at the 
earliest stage, operators are requested to give the Council a single named point of 
contact, who should be a senior individual, and whom the Council will contact first 
should any compliance queries or issues arise. 
 

 The Council will notify the Gambling Commission of any concerns about misleading 
advertising or absence of required game rules or other matters as set out in the 
Gambling Commission’s Licence Conditions and Code of Practice to ensure that 
gambling is conducted in a fair and open way.  

 

2. Premises Licences 
 

The Council will issue premises licences to allow those premises to be used for 
certain types of gambling. These are: 
a) casino premises, 
b) bingo premises 
c) betting premises including tracks and premises used by betting 
intermediaries, 
d) adult gaming centre premises, or 
e) family entertainment centre premises. 
 

2.1 Decision Making - General 

 
The Gambling Commission will take the lead role in keeping gambling free from 
crime by vetting applicants for operator and personal licences.  

 

Page 165



10 
 

 In accordance with Section 153 of the Act, the Council shall aim to permit the use of 
premises for gambling in so far as it thinks it:- 

 

 in accordance with any relevant code of practice issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 in accordance with any relevant guidance issued by the Gambling 
Commission; 

 reasonably consistent with the licensing objectives; and 

 in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Gambling Policy. 

  
 
 The Council will not have regard to the expected demand for the facilities which it is 

proposed to provide, nor the likelihood of the applicant obtaining planning permission 
or building regulations approval for the proposal. 

 
 Moral objections to gambling will not be considered by the Council, as they are not a 

valid reason for rejecting an application for a premises licence. 
 
 Each case will be considered on its individual merits.  However, in order to assist 

applicants and objectors alike, this section sets out the general factors that will be 
taken into account by the Council when considering applications for premises 
licences. 

 
 The Council’s Scheme of Delegation sets out which of the Council’s decision-making 

functions under the Act are delegated to officers.  
 
2.2 Appropriate Licence Environment 

 
 The Guidance to Local Authorities and the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 

(in effect from April 2021), set out additional matters that the Council should take into 
account when considering licence applications for premises licences. 

 
 Guidance section 19, Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice condition 16 and 

code 9 prescribe restrictions on gambling activities on premises, previously known as 
primary gambling activity. The Council will consider any application based on the 
provisions in these codes and guidance. 

 
2.3 Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice 

 
 Part 7 of the Gambling Commission Guidance to Local Authorities sets out 

considerations that an operator must make in order to protect children and young 
people from accessing gambling premises. 

 
 The Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice  prescribe how operators must 

prevent children from using age restricted gaming or gambling activities, particularly 
where gaming machines are licensed. 

 In particular operators must ensure that; 
 

 All staff are trained 
 That all customers are supervised when on gambling premises 
 Must have procedures for identifying customers who are at risk of 

gambling related harm 
 
 

Page 166



11 
 

The Council will expect all operators to have policies and procedures in place as 
required by the Licence Conditions and Codes of Practice   on social responsibility to 
cover all aspects of the code, in particular staff training records and self-exclusion 
records. 
 
Further provisions with regard to self-exclusion and marketing are included in the 
social responsibility code. The Council will take all conditions and codes into account 
when considering applications or preforming enforcement activities. 

 
2.4 Risk Assessments: Betting Premises 

 
Such risk assessments are required from new applicants, and from existing premises 
licensees seeking to vary a licence.  The code requires all operators of Casinos, 
Adult Gaming Centres, Bingo Premises, Family Entertainment Centres, Betting 
shops and remote betting intermediaries to assess local risks to the licensing 
objectives, and to have policies, procedures and control measures in place to 
mitigate those risks. 
 
Operators are required by the Social Responsibility code to make the risk 
assessment available to licensing authorities when an application is submitted either 
for new premises licence or variation of a premises licence, or otherwise on request, 
and this will form part of the Council’s inspection regime and may be requested when 
officers are investigating complaints. 
 
This Council expects the following matters to be considered by operators when 
making their risk assessment:- 

 • Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 
underage gambling 

 • Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self-exclusions 
and gaming trends 

 • Urban setting such as proximity to schools, commercial environment, factors 
affecting footfall 

 • Range of facilities in proximity to the licensed premises such as other 
gambling outlets, banks, post offices, refreshment and entertainment type 
facilities 

 • Known problems in the area such as problems arising from street drinkers, 
youths participating in anti-social behaviour, drug dealing activities etc. 

 • Matters realign to children and young persons, including: 
 • Institutions, places or areas where presence of children and young persons 

should be expected such as schools, youth clubs, parks, playgrounds and 
entertainment venues such as bowling alleys, cinemas etc. 

 • Any premises where children congregate including bus stops, cafes, shops, 
and any other place where children are attracted 

 • Areas that are prone to issues of youths participating in an anti-social 
behaviour, including such activities as graffiti/tagging, underage drinking etc. 

 • Recorded incidents of attempted underage gambling 
  Matters relating to vulnerable adult including:- 
 • Information held by the licensee regarding self-exclusions and incidences of 

underage gambling 
 • Gaming trends that may mirror days for financial payments such as pay days 

or benefit payments 
 • Arrangement for localised exchange of information regarding self exclusions 

and gaming trends 
 • Proximity of premises which may be frequented by vulnerable people such as 

hospitals, residential care homes, medical facilities, doctors’ surgeries, 

Page 167



12 
 

council housing offices, addiction clinics or help centres, places where alcohol 
or drug dependant people may congregate 

 
 
 
 
2.5 Location 

 
 The location of premises may be relevant to the promotion of the licensing objectives.  

In particular, premises located in close proximity to the following may give rise to 
concern:- 

 
 schools and colleges; 

 vulnerable adult centres; 

 residential areas with a high concentration of children. 
 

Much will depend upon the type of gambling that it is proposed will be offered on the 

premises.  The Council will, where appropriate, consider the location on a case-by-

case basis.  If the proposed location does pose a risk to the promotion of the 

licensing objectives, applicants will be invited to show how they propose to overcome 

such concerns. 

 
2.6 Multiple Licences/Layout of Buildings 

 
 Premises are defined in the Act as including “any place”, but no more than one 

premises licence can apply in relation to any one place.  A single building can be 
subject to more than one premises licence, provided they are for different parts of the 
building and those parts can reasonably be regarded as being “different premises” for 
the purposes of the Act. 

 
 Operators must ensure that their policies and procedures take account of their 

structure and layout of the premises.  
 
 Where multiple licences are sought for a building (or a discrete part of a building 

used for other non-gambling purposes), specific issues will need to be considered by 
the Council before such application(s) can be granted.  These include:- 

 

 the ability of children to gain access to or observe gambling facilities (even 
accidentally) – entrances and exits from parts of a building covered by more 
than one premises licence should be separate and identifiable so that the 
separation of different premises is not compromised and so that people (and, 
in particular, children) do not drift into a gambling area; 

 whether entrances are supervised; 
 the compatibility of the two or more establishments; and 

 the ability of the establishments to comply with the requirements of the Act.   
 
 In accordance with the Gambling Commission guidance, an overriding consideration 

will be whether, taken as a whole, the co-location of the licensed premises with other 
facilities has the effect of creating an arrangement that otherwise would, or should, 
be prohibited under the Act. 

 
2.7 Conditions 

 

Page 168



13 
 

 Conditions may be imposed by the Licensing Authority upon a premises licence in a 
number of ways.  These are:- 

 
(a) Mandatory – set by the Secretary of State (some set out on the face of the 

Act) and some to be prescribed in regulations, for all, or classes, of licences; 
(b) Default – to be prescribed in regulations made by the Secretary of State, to 

be attached to all or classes of licences unless excluded by the Licensing 
Authority; 

(c) Specific – conditions that can be attached to an individual premises licence 

by the Licensing Authority. 
 
 Conditions imposed by the Council will be proportionate to the circumstances that 

they are seeking to address.  In particular, this Council will ensure that premises 
licence conditions: 

 

 Are relevant to the need to make the proposed building suitable as a 
gambling facility; 

 Are directly related to the premises and the type of licence applied for; 

 Are fairly and reasonably related to the scale and type of premises; and 
 Are reasonable in all other respects. 

 
 Certain matters may not be the subject of conditions.  These are:- 
 

 any condition on the premises licence which makes it impossible to comply 
with an operating licence condition; 

 conditions relating to gaming machine categories, numbers, or method of 
operation; 

 conditions which provide that membership of a club or body be required (the 
Gambling Act 2005 specifically removes the membership requirement for 
casino and bingo clubs and this provision prevents it being reinstated); and 

 conditions in relation to stakes, fees, winnings or prizes. 
 
 
 
 
2.8 Door Supervisors 

 
 It is not a mandatory requirement of the Act to impose a condition relating to door 

supervision.  However, if in any particular case the Council does consider it 
necessary to impose a condition on a premises licence requiring the presence of 
door supervisors, such persons would normally need to hold a licence from the 
Security Industry Authority under the Private Security Industry Act 2001. 

 
 This requirement is relaxed when applied to door supervisors at licensed casino or 

bingo premises.  Where ‘contract’ staff (those employed under a contract for 
services) are employed as door supervisors at casino or bingo premises, such staff 
will need to be licensed by the SIA.  ‘In-house’ staff (those staff employed under a 
contract of service) operating as door supervisors at casino and bingo premises are 
exempt from the licensing requirements of the Private Security Industry Act   2001.  
The Council may, however, impose specific requirements on door supervisors at 
such premises, if considered appropriate in an individual case. 

 
2.9 Adult Gaming Centres  

 

Page 169



14 
 

 An Adult Gaming Centre (AGC) is one of three types of amusement arcade. 
 This type of arcade can provide higher pay-out gaming machines (Category B3 
 and B4) and access is restricted to persons who are aged 18 years or over. 
 
 Persons operating an adult gaming centre must hold a ‘gaming machines general 

operating licence (adult gaming centre) from the Commission and a premises licence 
from the Council.   
 

 No one under the age of 18 is permitted to enter an adult gaming centre. 
 
 In considering licence applications for adult gaming centres, weight will be given to 

the need to protect children and vulnerable persons from harm or being exploited by 
gambling.  The Council will therefore expect applicants to demonstrate that there will 
be sufficient measures in place to promote this objective.   

  
 Applicants are encouraged to consider the following steps:- 
 

 Proof of age schemes; 

 Closed Circuit Television; 
 Supervision of entrances/machine areas; 

 Reviewing the location of, and entry to, premises (so as to minimise the 
opportunities for children to gain access); 

 Notices/signage; 

 Training for staff on challenging persons suspected of being under-age; 

 Specific opening hours; 

 Self-barring schemes; 
 Provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 

GamCare. 
 
 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures and good practice. 
 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to premises 

licences authorising adult gaming centres. 
 
2.10 Licensed Family Entertainment Centres  

 
 A Licensed family entertainment centre (LFEC) is the second type of 
 amusement arcade. This type of arcade can provide the lowest two categories 
 of gaming machine (category C and D). Children can enter an LFEC but they 
 can only gamble on category D machines. All category C machines must be 
 located in a separate area, which can only be accessed by persons who are 
 aged 18 years or over. 
 
 Operators of licensed family entertainment centres must hold a gaming machine 

general (Family Entertainment Centre) operating licence (Family Entertainment 
Centre) from the Gambling Commission, and a premises licence from the Council.  
This will allow the operator to make category C and D machines available to their 
customers. 

 
 Children and young persons will be able to enter licensed family entertainment 

centres and play on the category D machines.  They will not be permitted to play on 
category C (adult only) machines.   

 

Page 170



15 
 

 As family entertainment centres will particularly appeal to children and young 
persons, weight shall be given to child protection issues.  Where category C 
machines are available in licensed family entertainment centres the Council will 
normally require that:- 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 

 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 
observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18; 
and 

 provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 Applicants are therefore encouraged to consider the steps set out at paragraph 2.6 of 

this statement in order to prevent children and young persons from gaining access to 
category C machines.  In addition, applicants are encouraged to consider the 
following:- 

 

 Physical separation of areas; 

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises. 

 
 This list is not mandatory, nor exhaustive, and is merely indicative of example 

measures. 
 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to premises 

licences authorising licensed family entertainment centres. 
 
2.11 Tracks 
 

 Tracks are sites (including racecourses and dog tracks) where a race or other 
sporting event is intended to take place or takes place.  Operators of tracks will 
require a premises licence from the Council, but they do not need to obtain an 
operating licence from the Gambling Commission (although they may have one). 

 
 Tracks may be subject to one or more than one premises licence, provided each 

licence relates to a specified area of the track.   
 
 It will be a mandatory condition of all track licences that children and young persons 

are excluded from any areas where facilities for betting are provided, and any area 
where a gaming machine, other than a category D machine, is situated.  Special 
dispensation from this rule is provided for dog tracks and horse racecourses, on days 
when racing takes place, in relation to the areas used for betting.  On these days 
families will be entitled to attend the track or racecourse, and children enter the areas 
where facilities for betting are provided.  This “race day dispensation” does not apply 
to the areas where gaming machines of category B and C are provided, and the 
Council will therefore wish to ensure that suitable measures are in place to prevent 
children from entering such areas.   

 

Page 171



16 
 

 Applicants are encouraged to consider the steps set out at paragraph 2.6 in order to 
prevent the access of children and young people to machines of category B and C.  
In addition, applicants are encouraged to consider the following:- 

 
 Physical separation of areas; 

 Measures/training for staff on how to deal with suspected truant school 
children on the premises. 

 
 Gaming machines – holders of betting premises licences in respect of tracks who 

also hold a pool betting operating licence may make available up to four gaming 
machines (categories B2 to D) on the track.  The Council will therefore expect the 
applicant to demonstrate that suitable measures are in place to ensure that children 
are prevented from entering areas where machines (other than category D 
machines) are made available. 

 
 Betting machines at tracks - the Council will apply similar considerations to those set 

out in paragraph 2.10 (in relation to betting machines made available at off-course 
betting premises) to betting machines made available at tracks.   

 
 Condition on rules being displayed - the Council will attach a condition to track 

premises licences requiring the track operator to ensure that the rules are 
prominently displayed in or near the betting areas, or that other measures are taken 
to ensure that they are made available to the public.  For example, the rules could be 
printed in the race-card or made available in leaflet form from the track office. 

 
 Applications and plans - the Council will require the following information from 

applicants for premises licences in respect of tracks: - 
 

 detailed plans for the racetrack itself and the area that will be used for 
temporary “on-course” betting facilities (often known as the “betting ring”); 

 in the case of dog tracks and horse racecourses, details of the fixed and 
mobile pool betting facilities operated by the Tote or track operator, as well as 
any other proposed gambling facilities. 

 
 Plans should make clear what is being sought for authorisation under the track 

betting premises licence and what, if any, other areas are to be subject to a separate 
application for a different type of premises licence. 

 
 
 
 
 
2.12 Casinos 

 
 The Act states that a casino is an arrangement whereby people are given the 
 opportunity to participate in one or more casino games. Casino games are 
 defined as a game of chance which is not equal chance gaming. This means 
 that casino games offer the chance for multiple participants to take part in a 
 game competing against the house or bank at different odds to their fellow 
 players. Casinos can also provide equal chance gaming and gaming machines. 
 Large and small casinos can also provide betting machines. 
 
 “No Casinos resolution” - The Council has not passed a “no casino” resolution under 

Section 166 of the Gambling Act 2005,  

Page 172



17 
 

 
 The Gambling (Geographical Distribution of Large and Small Casino Premises 
 Licences) Order 2008 specifies which authorities may issue large and small 
 casino premises licences. As Waverley Borough Council is not one of the local 
 authorities permitted to issue these casino licences, it is therefore not 
 necessary to consider making a further ‘no casino’ resolution. 
 
 Should legislation change and/or the council decide in the future to pass such a 
 resolution, it will update this policy statement with details of that resolution. Any 
 such decision will be made by the Full Council. 
 
2.13 Betting Premises 
 
 The Act contains a single class of licence for betting premises however within 
 this single class there are different types of premises which require licensing 
 such as high street bookmakers, bookmakers located in self-contained facilities 
 at racecourses as well as the general betting premises licences that track 
 operators will require. 
 
 This paragraph deals with off-course betting, that is betting that takes place other 

than at a track (commonly known as a licensed betting office).  Operators of betting 
premises will require an operating licence from the Gambling Commission and a 
premises licence from the Council. 

 
 The holder of a betting premises licence may make available for use up to four 

gaming machines of category B, C or D. machines at betting premises are restricted 
to sub-category B2, B3 and B4 machines. 

 
 The Council may, in accordance with section 181 of the Act, restrict the number of 

betting machines, their nature, and the circumstances in which those machines are 
made available for use.  When considering whether to impose such a condition, the 
Council will take into account the following: - 

 

 the size of the premises; 
 the number of counter positions available for person-to-person transactions; 

and 

 the ability of staff to monitor the use of the machines by children and young 
persons (it is an offence for those under 18 to bet) or by vulnerable people. 

 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to betting 

premises licences. 
 
 With respect to the protection of vulnerable persons, the Council will expect 

applicants to provide information on how to gamble responsibly and access help 
including leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as GamCare. 

 
2.14 Bingo 

 
 A Bingo Hall is a place in which Bingo is played. There is no legal definition of 
 Bingo but it is a game in which players mark off numbers on cards as the 
 numbers are drawn randomly by the caller, the winner being the first person to 
 mark off all the numbers on their card. 
 

Page 173



18 
 

 Operators of premises offering bingo (cash or prize) will require a bingo operating 
licence from the Gambling Commission, and a premises licence from the Council. 

 
The holder of a bingo premises licence may, in addition to bingo in all its forms, make 
available a number of category B gaming machines not exceeding 20% of the total 
number of gaming machines which are available for use on the premises and any 
number of category C and D machines. 

 
 
 It is important that if children are allowed to enter premises licensed for bingo that 

they do not participate in gambling, other than on category D machines.  Where 
category C or above machines are available in premises to which children are 
admitted the Council will normally require that:- 

 

 all such machines are located in an area of the premises separated from the 
remainder of the premises by a physical barrier which is effective to prevent 
access other than through a designated entrance; 

 only adults are admitted to the area where the machines are located; 

 access to the area where the machines are located is supervised; 
 the area where the machines are located is arranged so that it can be 

observed by staff of the operator or the licence holder; 

 at the entrance to, and inside any such area there are prominently displayed 
notices indicating that access to the area is prohibited to persons under 18; 
and 

 provision of information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 Please see paragraph 2.4 for details of conditions that may be attached to bingo 

premises licences. 
 
 
 
 
 
2.15 Temporary Use Notices 
 

 Temporary Use Notices  allow the use of premises for gambling where there is no 
premises licence but where a person or company holding a relevant operators 
licence wishes to use the premises temporarily for providing facilities for gambling. 

 

 The Secretary of State has the power to determine the form of gambling that 
 can be authorised by Temporary Use Notices. At this time the relevant 
 regulations (SI no 3157 of 2007: The Gambling Act 2005 (Temporary Use Notices) 
 Regulations 2007) state that Temporary Use Notices can only be used to permit 
 the provision of facilities or equal chance gaming, where the gaming is intended 
 to produce a single winner, which in practice means poker tournaments. There are a 

number of statutory limits in regards to temporary use notices.   
 
 If objections are received to a temporary use notice (from the Police, Gambling 

Commission, HM Revenues and Customs or if applicable, any other licensing 
authority in whose area the premises are situated), the Council must hold a hearing 
to consider the representation (unless all the participants agree that a hearing is 
unnecessary). 

 

Page 174



19 
 

 If the Council, after a hearing has taken place or been dispensed with, considers that 
the temporary use notice should not have effect, it must issue a counter-notice which 
may:- 

 
 prevent the temporary use notice from taking effect; 

 limit the activities that are permitted; 

 limit the time period of the gambling; or 

 allow the activities to take place subject to a specified condition. 
 
 The Council will apply the principles set out in paragraph 2.1 of this statement to any 

consideration as to whether to issue a counter-notice. 
 
2.16 Occasional Use Notices (OUNs) 

 
 Occasional Use Notices allow licensed bookmakers to provide betting facilities at 

genuine sporting events for a short period of time, without needing a full betting 
premises licence. 

 
 For example, at point-to point racecourses or major golf tournaments.  
 
 The event must be temporary or infrequent. 
 
 Serving an Occasional Use Notice 
 
 An occasional use notice (OUN) must: 
 •be made in writing 
 •sent in advance to the local authority 
 •copied to the local chief of police (or chief constable in Scotland). 
 
 
 An OUN cannot be used for more than eight days in a calendar year for any one 

venue.  
 
 The person administering the gambling under an OUN must hold a Gambling 

Commission operating licence. 
 

3. Permits 
 
3.1 Unlicensed Family Entertainment Centre  gaming machine permits  

 
 An unlicensed family entertainment centre (UFEC) is the third type of 

amusement arcade. The category of machine in this type of arcade is restricted 
to the lowest category D and children can enter and gamble. 

 
 Where a person does not hold a premises licence but wishes to provide gaming 
 machines, he/she may apply to us for this permit. The applicant must show that 
 the premises will be wholly or mainly, used for making gaming machines 
 available for use (Section 238 of the Gambling Act 2005). 
 
 Unlicensed family entertainment centres will be able to offer category D machines if 

granted a permit by the Council.  If an operator of a family entertainment centre 
wishes to make category C machines available in addition to category D machines, 
they will need to apply for an operating licence from the Gambling Commission and a 
premises licence from the Council. 

Page 175



20 
 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a permit, but cannot attach 

conditions. 
 
 The Council will require the applicant to provide appropriate insurance certificates 

and adequate plans of the premises. 
 
 As  unlicensed family entertainment centres will particularly appeal to children and 

young persons, weight shall be given to child protection issues.   
 
 The Council will expect the applicant to show that there are policies and procedures 

in place to protect children from harm.  Harm in this context is not limited to harm 
from gambling but includes wider child protection considerations.  The efficiency of 
such policies and procedures will each be considered on their merits, however, they 
may include appropriate measures/training for staff as regards suspected truant 
school children on the premises, measures/training covering how staff should deal 
with unsupervised very young children being on the premises, or children causing 
perceived problems on/around the premises. 

 
 The Council will also expect applicants to demonstrate a full understanding of the 

maximum stakes and prizes of the gambling that is permissible in unlicensed family 
entertainment centres; that the applicant has no relevant convictions (those that are 
set out in Schedule 7 to the Act); and that staff are trained to have a full 
understanding of the maximum stakes and prizes. 

 
3.2 (Alcohol) Licensed premises gaming machine permits  
 
 Two machines or less 
 
 Premises licensed to sell alcohol for consumption on the premises can automatically 

have two gaming machines, of categories C and/or D.  The holder of the premises 
licence authorising the sale of alcohol will simply need to notify the Council in writing, 
and pay the prescribed fee.   

 
 The Council can remove the automatic authorisation in respect of any particular 

premises if:- 
 

 provision of the machines is not reasonably consistent with the pursuit of the 
licensing objectives; 

 gaming has taken place on the premises that breaches a condition of section 
282 of the Act (for example the gaming machines have been made available 
in a way that does not comply with the requirements on the location/operation 
of gaming machines); 

 the premises are mainly used for gaming; or 

 an offence under the Act has been committed on the premises. 
 
 More than two machines 
 
 If a premises wishes to have more than two machines, then the holder of the 

premises licence will need to apply for a permit.  The Council shall consider that 
application having regard to the licensing objectives, any guidance issued by the 
Gambling Commission issued under Section 25 of the Act, and any other matters 
that are considered relevant. 

 

Page 176



21 
 

 The Council shall determine what constitutes a relevant consideration on a case-by-
case basis, but weight shall be given to the third licensing objective, i.e. protecting 
children and vulnerable persons from being harmed or being exploited by gambling.  
To this end, the Council will expect applicants to demonstrate that there will be 
sufficient measures in place to ensure that under 18 year olds do not have access to 
the adult only gaming machines.  Measures which will satisfy the Council that there 
will be no access may include the adult machines being in sight of the bar, or in the 
sight of staff who will monitor that the machines are not being used by those under 
18.  Notices and signage may also be of help.   

 
 With respect to the protection of vulnerable persons, the Council will expect 

applicants to provide information leaflets/helpline numbers for organisations such as 
GamCare. 

 
 It is recognised that some alcohol-licensed premises may apply for a premises 

licence for their non-alcohol licensed areas.  Any such application would most likely 
need to be submitted, and dealt with, as an Adult Gaming Centre premises licence. 

 
 The Council can decide to grant the application with a smaller number of machines 

and/or a different category of machines than that applied for.  Conditions (other than 
these) cannot be attached. 

 
 The holder of a permit must comply with any Code of Practice issued by the 

Gambling Commission about the location and operation of the machine. 
 
3.3 Prize gaming permits  
 
 The Gambling Act 2005 states that a licensing authority may “prepare a 
 statement of principles that they propose to apply in exercising their functions 
 under this Schedule” which “may, in particular, specify matters that the licensing 
 authority proposes to consider in determining the suitability of the applicant for a 
 permit”. 
 
 Applicants for prize gaming permits should set out the types of gaming that they are 

intending to offer.  The applicant should be able to demonstrate that:- 
 

 they understand the limits to stakes and prizes that are set out in Regulations; 
and 

 the gaming offered is within the law. 
 
 In making its decision on an application for this type of permit the Council does not 

need to have regard to the licensing objectives but may wish to do so and must have 
regard to any Gambling Commission guidance.  Weight will be given to child 
protection issues, and relevant considerations are likely to include the suitability of 
the applicant (i.e. if the applicant has any convictions which would make them 
unsuitable to operate prize gaming) and the suitability of the premises.  Applicants for 
prize gaming permits must disclose any previous relevant convictions to the Council. 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a permit, but cannot attach any 

conditions.  However, there are four conditions in the Act that permit holders must 
comply with.  These are:- 

 

 the limits on participation fees, as set out in regulations, must be complied 
with; 

Page 177



22 
 

 all chances to participate in the gaming must be allocated on the premises on 
which the gaming is taking place and on one day; the game must be played 
and completed on the day the chances are allocated; and the result of the 
game must be made public in the premises on the day that it is played;  

 the prize for which the game is played must not exceed the amount set out in 
regulations (if a money prize), or the prescribed value (if non-monetary prize); 
and 

 participation in the gaming must not entitle the player to take part in any other 
gambling. 

 
 
 
 
3.4 Club gaming and club machine permits 

 
 Members' clubs (but not commercial clubs) may apply for a club gaming permit, 

unless they already hold a Club Premises Certificate under the Licensing Act 2003.  
The club gaming permits allow the provision of no more than three gaming machines 
in total. Each of the three machines must be from categories B3A, B4, C or D but 
only one B3A machine can be sited, as part of this entitlement. Club gaming permits 
also allow equal-chance gaming (for example, poker) and games of chance (for 
example, pontoon, chemin-de-fer) under certain restrictions 

 
If a club does not wish to have the full range of facilities permitted by a club 
gaming permit or if they are a commercial club not permitted to provide non-
machine gaming (other than exempt gaming under section 269 of the Act), they 
may apply for a club machine permit. A club machine permit allows the holder to 
have no more than three gaming machines in total. Members' clubs and miners' 
welfare institutes may site up to three machines from categories B3A, B4, C or D 
but only one B3A machine can be sited, by agreement, as part of this 
entitlement. Commercial clubs may site up to three machines from categories 
B4, C or D (not B3A machines).  

   
 
 Members clubs must have at least 25 members and be established and conducted 

“wholly or mainly” for purposes other than gaming, unless the gaming is permitted by 
separate regulations.  It is anticipated that this will cover bridge and whist clubs, 
which will replicate the position under the Gaming Act 1968.  A members’ club must 
be permanent in nature, not established to make commercial profit, and controlled by 
its members equally.  Examples include working men’s clubs, branches of Royal 
British Legion and clubs with political affiliations. 

  
 An application may only be refused on one or more of the following grounds:- 
 

 the applicant does not fulfil the requirements for a members’ or commercial 
club and therefore is not entitled to receive the type of permit for which it has 
applied; 

 the applicant’s premises are used wholly or mainly by children and/or young 
persons; 

 an offence under the Act or a breach of a condition of a permit has been 
committed by the applicant while providing gaming facilities; 

 a permit held by the applicant has been cancelled in the previous ten years; 
or; 

 an objection has been lodged by the Gambling Commission or the Police 

Page 178



23 
 

 
 The Council shall have regard to the guidance issued by the Gambling Commission 

and (subject to that guidance), the licensing objectives. 
 
 There is a “fast-track” procedure available for clubs or institutes which hold a club 

premises certificate under section 72 of the Licensing Act 2003.  Under the fast-track 
procedure there is no opportunity for objections to be made by the Gambling 
Commission or the Police, and the grounds upon which the Council can refuse a 
permit are reduced.   

 
 The grounds on which an application under the fast track procedure may be refused 

are:- 
 

 that the club is established primarily for gaming, other than gaming prescribed 
by regulations under section 266 of the Act; 

 that in addition to the prescribed gaming, the applicant provides facilities for 
other gaming; or 

 that a club gaming permit or club machine permit issued to the applicant in 
the last ten years has been cancelled. 

 
 The Council can grant or refuse an application for a club gaming or club machine 

permit, but cannot attach any conditions.  However, there are a number of conditions 
in the Act that the holder must comply with.  

 
3.5  Small society lotteries 

 
 The Council will adopt a risk-based approach towards our compliance 
 responsibilities for small society lotteries. We consider the following list, 
 although not exclusive, could affect the risk status of the operator: 
 • Submission of late returns (returns must be submitted no later than three 
 months after the date on which the lottery draw was held) 
 Submission of incomplete or incorrect returns 
 • Breaches of the limits for small society lotteries 
 

Non-commercial gaming is permitted if it takes place at a non-commercial event 
as either an incidental or principal activity at the event. Events are non-commercial 
if no part of the proceeds is for private profit or gain. The proceeds 
of such events may benefit one or more individuals if the activity is organised: 
• By, or on behalf of, a charity or for charitable purposes 
• To enable participation in. or support of, sporting, athletic or cultural 
activities. 

 
 Charities and community groups should contact us on (01483) 523219 or email 
 licensing@waverley.gov.uk to seek further advice. 
  
  

Page 179



24 
 

ANNEXE 1 – MAP OF WAVERLEY BOROUGH 
 
 
 

Page 180



25 
 

ANNEXE 2 - LIST OF RESPONSIBLE AUTHORITIES  
 
(a) The Licensing Authority  

 The Chief Executive, Council Offices, Waverley Borough Council, The Burys, 
Godalming, GU7 1HR;  Tel: 01483 523333  
generalenquiries@waverley.gov.uk 

(b) The Gambling Commission 

 Victoria Square House, Victoria Square, Birmingham B2 4BP;  Tel: 0121 230 6666 
 info@gamblingcommission.gov.uk 
 
(c) The Police Authority 

Chief Officer of Police c/o Police Licensing Officer, Surrey Police, P.O. Box 101, GU1 
9PE;  Tel: 01483 639512 licensingwestern@surrey.pnn.police.uk 
 

(d) The Fire Authority 

Surrey Fire & Rescue Service, Headquarters,  Surrey County Council, Woodhatch 
Place, 11 Cockshot Hill, Reigate, Surrey, RH2 8EF 
Tel: 01483  517600 sfrsbusiness.support@surreycc.gov.uk 

 
(e) The Local Planning Authority 

Head of Planning Services (Chief Planning Officer), Waverley Borough Council, The 
Burys, Godalming, Surrey, GU7 1HR. 

 Tel: 01483 523333 planningenquiries@waverley.gov.uk  
 

(f) Local Authority – functions in relation to the prevention of pollution to 
environment or harm to human health  

Head of Environmental and Regulatory Services, Waverley Borough Council, The 
Burys, Godalming, Surrey, GU7 1HR. 

 Tel:  01483 523333 environmentalhealth@waverley.gov.uk  
 
(g) Representative body (in relation to protection of children from harm) 

County Child Employment and Strategy Manager, Quadrant Court, 35 Guildford 
Road, Woking, Surrey. GU22 7QQ 

 Tel:   0300 123 1630  nwcpproc.duty@surreycc.gov.uk-   
 
(h) Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Customs and Excise (Revenue and Customs) 

 HM Revenue and Customs, National Registration Unit, Portcullis House, 21 India 
Street, Glasgow, G2 4PZ , United Kingdom 
Tel.  0141 555 3466/3384 nrubetting&gaming@hmrc.gov.uk 

  

 
(i) Any other person prescribed by regulations (to be advised) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 181

mailto:planningenquiries@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:environmentalhealth@waverley.gov.uk


26 
 

ANNEXE 3 – LIST OF CONSULTEES 
 
The Gambling Commission  
Surrey Police 
The Fire Authority 
The Planning Service, Waverley Borough Council 
The Environmental Health Service Waverley Borough Council  
Surrey Children’s Service (or others if appropriate) 
Her Majesty’s Commissioners for Customs and Excise  
Citizens’ Advice Bureau 
Gamble Aware - an independent charity which supports GamCare 
Town and Parish Councils 
The Security Industry Authority 
Waverley Business Forum 
The Public via Waverley Website & Public Notice Surrey Advertiser 03.09.2021 
 

Page 182



From: Clerk <clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk>  
Sent: 08 October 2021 08:15 
To: Licensing Policy <Licensing.Policy@waverley.gov.uk> 
Cc: Liz Townsend <Liz.Townsend@waverley.gov.uk>; Mary Foryszewski 
<Mary.Foryszewski@waverley.gov.uk>; Ruth Reed <Ruth.Reed@waverley.gov.uk>; Patricia Ellis 
<Patricia.Ellis@waverley.gov.uk> 
Subject: Policy Consultation Response - Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Policy 
 
[** This email originates from an external source **] 

 
 

 

Good Morning 

 

1. Gambling Act 2005 Statement of Policy. 
  
Thank you for asking Cranleigh Parish Council to comment on the above policy.  The 
Council would like to make the following comments: 
  

 The Parish Council SUPPORTS clause 1.6 to consult Town and Parish 
Councils. 

 Clause 2.15 – Can Town and Parish Councils be included in the eligible 
bodies able to object to a Temporary Use Notice? 

 Clause 2.5 – much of our High Street has residential properties above shops, 
so noise nuisance should be considered and could possibly be controlled by 
specific conditions. 

 Page 13, we think there is a typo ‘cares’ should be ‘cafes’? 
  

Kind Regards 

Beverley Bell FSLCC 

Parish Clerk 

 

Sign up for our newsletter: http://eepurl.com/hfYGcz 

Please think of the environment.  Don't print this email unless really necessary. 

This e-mail message neither creates nor is intended to create a contract between Cranleigh Parish Council and the addressee or the addressee's 

organisation. It is conf idential to the Council and the addressee.   If  y ou receiv e this e-mail message in error, please destroy  it and delete it f rom 

y our machine.  Please note that any  v iews or opinions expressed in this e-mail are solely  those of  the author, and do not necessarily  represent 
those of  Cranleigh Parish Council.  If  this e-mail message or any  attachments are incomplete or unreadable, please telephone 01483-272311 or 

e-mail clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov .uk  

 
 

Page 183

ANNEXE 3

mailto:clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk
mailto:Licensing.Policy@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Liz.Townsend@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Mary.Foryszewski@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Ruth.Reed@waverley.gov.uk
mailto:Patricia.Ellis@waverley.gov.uk
https://protect-eu.mimecast.com/s/DBk2CZ4JWcoL4Yhz-Fbw?domain=eepurl.com
mailto:clerk@cranleigh-pc.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1. Minutes
	7. Licensing General Purpose
	Minutes , 09/09/2021 Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee
	Minutes , 06/10/2021 Licensing (General Purposes) Sub-Committee

	8. Licencing Sub Groups A, B, C
	Minutes , 01/06/2021 Licensing Sub-Committee B
	Minutes , 30/09/2021 Licensing Sub-Committee B
	Minutes , 13/09/2021 Licensing Sub-Committee C
	Minutes , 13/10/2021 Licensing Sub-Committee C

	9. Review of Waverley Borough Council's Policy for the Licensing of Sex Establishments- feedback from Consultation
	Sex Establishments Policy 2022 for LR Nov 2021 (002) with Track changes
	Sex Establishments Policy 2022 for LR Nov 2021 - Without Track Changes
	Annexe 2 SEV

	10. Review of Waverley Borough Council's Statement of Gambling Policy - Feedback from Consultation
	Gambling Policy review with track changes for LR 08 Nov 2021
	Gambling policy without track changes for LR 09 Nov 2021
	Annexe 2


